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THE PRESIDENT (Hon Clive Griffiths) took the Chair at 3.30 pm, and read prayers.

PETITION - WESTERN WOMEN FINANCIAL SERVICES PTY LTD
State Responsibility Inquiry

Hon Peter Foss presented a petition bearing the signatures of 209 citizens of Western
Australia requesting that the Legislative Council appoint a committee to inquire into the
failed Western Women group to determine whether the State bore a responsibility for their
losses, and for the Parliament to consider legislation that might be necessary to prevent the
recurrence of those events.
[See paper No 662,]

PETITION - BULLSDROOK POLICE STATION ESTABLISHMENT
The following petition bearing the signatures of 786 persons was presented by
Hon Derrick Tomlinson -

To the Honourable the President and Members of the Legislative Council in the
Parliament assembled, we the undersigned request Government action for the
establishment of a police station in Bullsbrook.
1. Residents of Bullsbrook, Muchea, Chittering and Bindoon are disadvantaged

by the lack of a fully manned police station in the district.
2. There has been a serious increase in the crime rate in the area, particularly in

the Bullsbrook township.
3. The police response time to call-outs in the area is dangerously slow because

of the size of the area to be covered and the limited police resources at the
Midland Police Station.

4. Your petitioners request immediate intervention by the State Government to
open a Police Station at Bullsbrook to service the people of the
abovementioned local areas.

Your petitioners most humbly pray that the Government immediately commence
proceedings to establish this facility in the Bullsbrook area.
As in duty bound your petitioners will ever pray.

[See paper No 663.]

MINISTERIAL STATEMENT - BY THE MINISTER FOR EDUCATION
Schools - Years I11 and 12 Program

HON KAY FIALLAHAN (East Metropolitan - Minister for Education) [3.41 pm] - by
leave: Following the recent announcements made by the Premier it is appropriate for me to
provide members with further details of the Government's new program for schooling in
years I11 and 12. The initiative by the Government is part of its comitment to the young
people of the State in acknowledgment that they represent the key to our future. The changes
will -

(a) raise the levels of skills of the future work force, which is important for improved
productivity and economic development; and

(b) provide opportunities for young people to gain access to a coordinated program of
education and training.

The Government has established the target of 95 per cent of 17 year olds completing
education to the end of year 12 or equivalent training by 2001. This target is in line with the
recommendations of the Finn report to strengthen ties between secondary schooling, the
workplace and further education options. To achieve the target will require a well planned



program of reforms to be phased in, initially aver the next five years. The major elements to
commence the program are -

(a) A new certificate of secondary graduation is to be the major goal for students in years
I I and 12. The certificate will be based on high standards of literacy and numieracy
and will be awarded only to successful candidates.

(b) Vocational pathways of study will link school courses to broad career areas. Each
pathway will meet the requirements for the secondary graduation certificate and gain
students advanced standing in technical and further education courses.

(c) Career education programs will provide -

(i) specific career education courses;
(ii) counselling about career information; and
(iii) well planned work experiences.

(d) Changes to school organisation, including -

(i) senior school campuses which take students only in years I11 and 12;
(ii) multi-campus schools, so that groups of schools share resources to provide

more opportunities;
(iii) telecommunications and new technology which enable students, particularly

those in rural and remote areas, to studya wider range of courses; and
(iv) opportunities for learning which take place in the classroom, the workplace

and other relevant locations.
In the process of reform TAFE will move progressively to become a post-year 12 provider of
courses so that it focuses on specific vocational training in response to labour market needs.
Next year. 1992, marks the start of the Government's new program. In 1992 -

(a) Programs of study based on vocational pathways will be introduced at the following
schools: Halga. North Lake, Cyril Jackson and Albany Senior High Schools,
Coodanup High School and St Norbert College in Queens Park.

(b) Four schools will work with local businesses to develop education strategies
involving a mix of school, work and training. The schools are Belmont, Cannington
and South Fremantle Senior High Schools and Kununurra District High School.

(c) Six schools will develop coordinated career education programs: Balga, Carine,
Forrestfield, Lo~ckridge and Ocean Reef Senior High Schools.

From 1992 -
(a) Rural students will gain improved access to a wider range of courses. The

advantages of modern telecommunications technology in education will be
demonstrated in the Esperance district.

(b) Cyril Jackson Senior High School will become a senior campus offering a wide range
of vocational pathways for full time and part time students.

(c) Additional opportunities for students to repeat their TEE will be provided at
Scarborough, Kewdale, Cyril Jackson, Balga and North Lake Senior High Schools.

(d) Additional funding will be allocated to enable education support centres to offer
senior secondary programs.

(e) Bridging and catch up programs in mathematics and English will be developed.

(f) An operational plan will be developed to phase in the certificate of secondary
graduation and progressively introduce pathways throughout the school system.

(g) Professional development for teachers will link their teaching with the world of work.
The Government is confident that these measures will place the State's schools at the
forefront of education reform for students in years 11 and 12. 1 am happy to report to
members that the proposed reforms have been welcomed by all sections of the community,
and that signifies they have long been needed.
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MINISTERIAL STATEMENT - BY THE MINISTER FOR POLICE
Tactical Response Group - Collard, Mrs Rhonda, Nann up. Mr Frank

HON GRAHAM EDWARDS (North Metropolitan - Minister for Police) (3.47 pm] - by
leave: Following a meeting with Police Commissioner Bull with regard to the incident
which occurred in East Perth on Friday last concerning the alleged possession of a handgun
and involving members of the police tactical response group and Mrs Rhonda Collard and
Mr Frank Nannup, I am in a position to advise the House that a formal complaint has now
been received from Mrs Collard. The Commissioner of Police has also advised that he has
spoken on the matter to representatives from the Aboriginal Legal Service and that a formal
complaint from Mr Nannup is expected in the near future. T'he incident is now the subject of
an inquiry under the terms of the Parliamentary Commissioner Act. In addition, Police
Commissioner Bull has received an interim report on the incident from internal investigation
officers and, on the basis of that interim report, has today conveyed a formal apology in
writing to Mrs Collard and Mr Nannup for the trauma they experienced during the incident.
I understand also that the commissioner will make an offer of compensation because of that
trauma.
As required by law the police, having received a complaint, conduct an inquiry and complete
it within 42 days unless that time is extended by the Ombudsman who, as a matter of routine,
is notified as soon as practicable of the receipt by police of the complaint. The Ombudsman
is empowered to review the inquiry and its result if requested by the complanant.
On a more general level the Deputy, Commissioner of Police has almost completed a review
of the practices and procedures of the TRO and, while it is impossible to make details of the
report public, I accept that the safety of members of the community is of paramount
importance and I know that the commissioner also accepts that proposition. There is a need
to proceed quickly in dealing with this issue, but progress must be cautious and there must be
a proper understanding of the facts and reasons for action taken, or lack of it. I am confident
that he has acted as promptly as circumstances have allowed and will continue to do so. The
police have made tremendous progress in recent times with their community policing and in
particular with initiatives directed at improving police-Aboriginal relations. This incident
was most unfortunate and is regretted. However, we must all regard it as a challenge to
continue the good work which has been done to improve police-community relations.

MOTION - JUVENILE REMAND CENTRE, MURDOCH PROPOSAL
Moratorium

Debate resumed from 29 August.
HON DERRICK TOMLINSON (East Metropolitan) [3.51 pm]: Before my presentation
on this motion on 29 August was interrupted I was making the point that at a public meeting
held in Forrestfield on 5 January 1990 the then Minister for Community Services indicated
that there would be consultation with the community. Prior to the meeting contracts had
been let to architects David Kelsall, Bradley, Kelsall and Wu for detailed drawings to be
prepared for the site. A contract had also been let to a firm of engineers, Connell, Campbell
and Drew, to design the electronic security for the remand centre. Therefore, the planning
for the remand centre at Forrestfield was well advanced.
The architectural plans drawn by the consultant architects before 5 January 1990 related
specifically to the Forrestfield site. I asked the architects whether those plans could be
transferred to another site, because the Minister had indicated that three sites were under
consideration. The answer was no, that because of the swampy nature of the Forrestfield site
a particular sewerage scheme had to be incorporated in the building therefore malking the
plans specific to the Forrestfield site and not transferable to another site.
At the meeting on 5 January 1990 the then Minister for Community Services, Mr David
Smith, is reported in a transcript of the meeting prepared by the Government Medlia Office as
saying -

Now I want to emphasize, I want to emphasize, that Forrestfield is a possibility and
the preferred site by the Department of Community Services. I also want to
emphasize that no decision has been made by government.
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Despite that, the contract had been let. The Minister continued -

I also want to emphasize that had it not been for that information getting out in late
December, if it had not got out in late December, if, if, if, if I was -

And here the transcript shows the words "betrayed or portrayed" in brackets, but I believe (he
word to be "advised" -

- as Minister that we should proceed with the site, we would have informed the local
community in mid-January and we would then have called, and we would then have
called a meeting of this kind to Tnm through your questions and your concerns ...

This was well and truly after the contracts had been let for the site. The Minister for
Community Services also advised the assembled residents of Forrestfield and High
Wycombe that three sites were under consideration, as I have already explained. The
Minister is recorded as saying -

In the process of trying to decide where this new remand centre will go there have
been three sites which have been considered. One at Murdoch, Barry Macinnon
will be interested in your thoughts because that's in his electorate, -

That furphy continued until the Government discovered a few months ago that it was not in
Mr Macinnon's electorate but in the electorate of Cockburn -

- South Lakes and thirdly Forrestfield.
We know that. What did the Minister say in answer to a question from a member of the
audience asking why the centre should be in Forrestfield rather than Murdoch or Bentley?
IHe said -

The reason why Murdoch was ruled out of the issue was because there was
inadequate land left available. The reason why South Lakes was ruled out by the
Department was because the South Lakes site is to be used for a new hospital.
The reason why the Department did not look at Bentley is the Bentley site is already
fully occupied by the two -

The record says "trading" but the word is obviously "training" -

- centres which is where the sentence prisoners are held not the remand ones..-
The Government rejected the other two sites and accepted the preferred Forrestield site
going on to contact architects and consulting engineers to prepare detailed plans for that site.
When that was found out because somebody blew the whistle the Government said, "We
were going to advise you." Nothing more than contempt was shown for the people of
Forrestfield and Hligh Wycombe. When the local member, Hon Gordon Hill, a ministerial
colleague of the then Minister for Community Services, Mr David Smith, had an opportunity
to speak he was recorded in the transcript as follows -

Can I say at the same time it's also my concern that the process that the Minister's
referred to in the terms of the decision making process has failed miserably. The
process that the Minister referred to one of community consultation and consultation
with the local members of Parliament has clearly failed.. .

That came from the member for Helena condemning his ministerial colleague for the failure
of the procedure. This showed nothing more than contempt for the residents who expressed
genuine concern after somebody blew the whistle on the Government. What happened then?
A Press statement appeared in The West Australian on 16 January 1990, which I draw to the
attention of Hon Cheryl Davenport because she made great play about an article which
appeared in The West Australian on 9 April 1991 under the heading "Longmore not a worry
for aged", which states -

Administrators of aged persons' homes next door to the Longmore juvenile corrective
complex in Bentley are baffled by vocal opposition to a planned remand Centre in
Murdoch.

The other article reads -
Neighbours deny centre crime link
Residents living near the Longmore Detention Centre in Bentley can't understand
what the fuss in Forrestfield is all about.
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They say they have never had any problems living near the juvenile remand centre or
any trouble from the inmates' visitors.

Hon Peter Foss: Plagiarism!
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: It is not plagiarism; it is a recycling of the Government's
propaganda. Not only has the Government failed in its procedures, but it is recycling its
propaganda to try to cover the way in which it has held the local communities, first in
Forrestfield and later in Murdoch, in nothing but utter contempt. The motion condemns the
Government for its utter contempt.
Hon Peter Foss: The "Ministry of Truth"!
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: What happened in the case of Forrestfield?
Hon Fred McKenzie: I will tell you what happened 10 years earlier.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Within a few days of the Minister's attending that meeting -

Several members interjected.
The PRESIDENT: Order! I ask honourable members to stop inteijecting, because the
Hansard reporter is having trouble bearing the honourable member.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: In that case I shall use more diaphragm. Within two
weeks -

Hon T.). Huller: You have cleared the bench in front of you.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Within two weeks the Minister wrote to all the residents of
High Wycombe and Forrestfield and said -

Dear Resident,
In November last year the Department for Community Services made a
recommendation to me on the preferred site for a new Juvenile Remand Centre.
The recommended site was located in Dundas Road, Forrestfield.
I am now writing to inform you of my decision to reject this recommendation as I am
aware of the concerns many of you had with the proposal
The juvenile remand centre WILL NOT BE BURLT in your area.

Having listened to the complaints of the people of Forrestfteld and High Wycombe, and
having told them that the Murdoch site was inadequate because there was insufficient land -

Hon T.G. Butler: Do you want to put it int Forrestfield and H-igh Wycombe, or what?
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: - the Minister acceded to the complaints of the residents of
Forrestfield and High Wycombe and decided the remand centre would not be built there.
Having made that decision, he immediately proceeded with the investigation of the Murdoch
site. He went through the whole contemptible and contemptuous procedure of concealing
from the residents of Murdoch what the Government was up to. The Government has shown
nothing but contempt for the interests of the people affected by this decision. Rather than
show concern for the interests of those people, it has concealed its actions from them and
deceived the people affected. It has told nothing but fabrications about the decision-making
process.
To repeat the words of the "honourable" Gordon Hill, who was indeed honourable in this
instance -

Hon B.L. Jones: And still is.
Lion DERRICK TOMLINSON: - the Government's system failed. I support the motion,
which condemns the Government for its action on the Murdoch remand cenre
HON FRED McKENZIUE (East Metropolitan) [4.05 pmn]: It is no wonder that people are
cynical about the actions of politicians.
Hon P.G. Pendal: Certainly about your Government!
Hon FRED McKENZIE: I have just heard -

Hon P.G. Pendal: A very good speech.
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Hon FRED McKENZIE: - a member representing an area, as I do, ranting and raving about
the lack of consultation with the people over this issue. I am about to relate, for the benefit
of Hon Derrick Tomlinson, the events which took place some 10 years earlier when the
Liberal Party, not the Labor Party, was in Government.
Hon P.O. Pendal: Correct.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: What happened on that occasion? This present incident is an exact
replica of what happened in Fonrestfield in 198 1, except far one thing.
Hon P.O. Pendal: We were beaten, and that is what will happen to you.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: Members opposite were shrewd enough to put the ball back into
the court of the Kalamunda Shire Council. At that time I represented the East Metropolitan
Province, and I happened to be at the public meeting. It was not addressedby Bill Hassell,
the then Minister for Community Services; he was not there. The meeting was addressed by
none other than Keith Maine, who was the head of the department at that time. Let me read
to members some of the events to fill them in, because time dims memories. I was a little
rusty on the facts, but I remembered fronting up at that time. There were the same emotions:
Anger at lack of consultation; people had bought land not knowing that a detention centre
would be put in the area. They called a residents' meeting to decide how to handle the
matter through the Kalamunda Council.
Hon Derrick Tomldinson: Justifiably.
Hion FRED McKENZIE: It may have been justifiable, but I have heard Hon Derrick
Tomlinson talk about the reservation and System 6. 1 understand all that, and I know that at
present M53 is being examined, because unfortunately someone in the Department of
Planning made a mistake and pants were rezoned for industrial use. The recommendations
went to Bill Hassell from the head of the Department for Community Services, Keith Maine.
Many members will remember him. He was in the firing line at that very unpleasant
meeting. The meeting was not attended by 800 people, but it was still a very packed hall in
Forrestfield. This is a summary of the action taken -

A reply received from Hon. Minister for Water Resources advising that a portion of
Reserve 31709 Maida Vale Road can be made available to this Department.

That is the Department for Community Services. This is the very reserve the member is
talking about. It is mentioned in M53 and is still listed as a treatment works and effluent
disposal site.
Several members inteijected.
The PRESIDENT: Order!

Point of Order
Hon PETER FOSS: I would like the member to identify the paper he is reading from.
The PRESIDENT: Would the honourable member identify this document?
Hon FRED McKENZIE: This document is from the Director of Community Welfare to the

inister of the day. Bill Hassell.
The PRESIDENT: The honourable member needs to identify the paper, because at the
conclusion of his speech some member may wish him to table it and we must know to which
document he is referring. He wants to be sure that he has the right piece of paper when it is
tabled.

Debate Resumed
Hon FRED McKENZIE: I shall be happy to table it. I had to put a lot of work into
searching for this document. I wanted to be absolutely certain of the facts, because this
happened 10 years ago. I remember being at the meeting.
Hon P.G. Pendal: It came off the back of a truck.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: No, it did not come off the back of a truck; the member knows me
better than that.
Several members interjected.
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Hon FRED McKENZIE: I had some difficulty getting it, but it was very important to this
debate because on the last occasion when Hon Derrick Tomlinson was speaking and he ran
out of time some reference was made to this matter. It is time to deliver a lesson in history.
The document reads -

2. A letter received from the Secretary of the Metropolitan Region Planning
Authority advising that the Authority has no objection to location of a
Detention Centre on Reserve 31709, subject to the design details being
satisfactory...

3. A further letter from the Hon. Minister for Conservation and the
Environment -

That is, a Liberal Minister. The document continues -

- advising that he cannot see that the Department's use of Reserve 31709 will
present much difficulty, provided it is prepared to accept the responsibility for
protection of the vegetation buffer...

That was the System 6 argument; that is what was said at the time. The document
connues -

4. Attendance by the Chief of Institutional Services and me at the Special
Elector's Meeting called by the Shire of Kalamunda on July 9, 199 1....

5. A letter received from the Shire of Kalamunda following that meeting and
advising that at the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on July 13, 1981 -

That is, four days after the public meeting. The document continues -

- it was resolved that you be advised "Council would support the land
exchange to allow construction of the North Forrestfield Primary School on
Reserve 29061 (corner DawsonlBouganvillea Avenues) and a Children's
Institution on part of Reserve 31709 (Maida Vale Road)....

The school to which I referred is Dawson Park, and I thought it was part of the site. I had
become hazy about this because I thought it was a high school but it is not. The Dawson
Park Primary School was part of the original site and that was included in the town planning
scheme of Kalamunda as such an institution.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: The site referred to is adjacent to the Forrestfield High School.

Hon FRED McKENZIE: I was right in the first place.

Hon Derrick Tomnlinson: It is a considerable distance from the M53 site.

Hon FRED McKENZIE: It is at the corner of Dawson and Bouganvillea Avenues. It is a
considerable distance away.

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: It is right next door to the Forrestfield High School and in 1981 as
a result of a public outcry a decision was made to shift the proposed community services site
elsewhere.

Hon FRED McKENZIE: That is where I thought it was. As I have said, the document
reads -

... it was resolved that you be advised "Council would support the land exchange to
allow construction of the North Forrestfield Primary School on Reserve 29061
(corner Dawson/Bouganvillea Avenues) -

And let the Johnny-come-lately correct me here! To continue -

- and a Children's Institution on part of Reserve 31709 ...
I need go no further. Ten years ago a Liberal Government was in charge, and when people
telephoned to protest about the site I tried to explain to them. I said that we had held a
meeting which was well attended at that time. The situation has not changed. However,
people change. Ten years ago objections were raised in the community about the proposed
detention centre because the site was adjacent to the high school. Following a meeting a land
swap took place and the detention centre was to be located at the site of the effluent disposal
centre. I accepted that in good faith.
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However, Mr President, how can we tell people that? I am sure that those people thought
that I was telling lies. Over 10 years, however, people change.
Hon P.G. Pendal: You certainly have.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: About 25 per cent of people move around from place to place in
one year. Therefore, over 10 years, we must accept that people may not remember past
events. Some people do not want to be told. We have been through this exercise before, and
in good faith -
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: In good faith - after the local residents protested.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: There was a great sigh of relief, after that.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: That is what government should be.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: All the matters mentioned by Hon Derrick Tomlinson, all the
issues he ranted and raved about, were the exact things I faced in 1981; that is, lack of
consultation -

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: And 10 years later the Government has learned nothing!
Hon FRED McKENZfE: If in 10 years a Labor Government remains in office - or even a
new Government is elected - members will be saying what 1 am saying now. They will say
that such institutions should be placed somewhere else.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: I hope that a Johnny-comne-lately will correct my speech.
Hon FRED McKENZ[E: No doubt one will attempt to. However, there is nothing like
facing the facts. That is the reason people are cynical about politicians. At least I was
prepared to tell the people in Forrestfield - although they did not like it - when they
telephoned or came to my office, in good faith, that 10 years previously the site was accepted
but the first site was not accepted because the argument was that it was close to a school.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: It was not acceptable to the Government after consideration.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: A land swap was organised.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: What was the population in those days?
Hon FRED McKENZIE: It was not as high as it is now.
The PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon Derrick Tomlin son: Forrestfield was a rural area.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: It was a substantial community.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: It was a rural community.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: No, not at all.
The PRESIDENT: The honourable member should stop interjecting.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: We could go on and on about issues such as a lack of consultation.
However, nothing changes - except the Government. The same debates take place. We face
that situation wherever we go. People do not want to know. They did not want to know in
the past when they telephoned me. A predominant number of people did not know about the
situation, but even when they were told they did not want to know. Those people who were
aware, did not want such an institution at Forrestfield. However, development takes place
and the situation changes over the years. I am not convinced that the effluent disposal site
was ever a good site. It was selected and everybody breathed a sigh of relief because at least
the proposed institution was removed from the vicinity of homes and schools.
I do not support the motion. We have been faced with this situation in the past, although this
matter refers to a new location. If the juvenile remand centre is to be placed in some other
member's electorate, so be it. We must face up to the situation. We must have these
institutions - or even prisons - wherever they are located. There will always be an outcry
because they are not the sorts of institutions that people would lie to live near. I am not
familiar with the Murdoch area. Forrestfield was never a suitable site but the community
accepted the situation finally. They did not accept the first site so the Government was
forced to change the site. No doubt. if the Liberals are returned to Government the Murdoch
situation will be considered again. The Liberals might shift that institution to another area,
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but that is not the reason for the location of the juvenile detention centre. The department
decided to place the centre in that area because it was thought to be the best location. I do
not support the motion.
[See paper No 664.]
HON B.L. JONES (South West) [4.20 pm): I have always been a great believer in the
goodness of people, particularly those in our Western Australian society.
Hon T.G. Butler: Not Liberal people.
Hon B.L. JONES: I generally believe that people want only to get on with their own lives
and they do not really care too much what is going on outside. They have enough of a job
looking after their own lives; that is, apart from those groups in society that are hell bent on
causing aggravation to other people. However, my faith in people has been sorely tested
over the issue of this remand centre. It seems that whenever there is a suggestion of a
women's refuge, a drop-in centre or a remand centre everybody starts jumping up and down
and although agreeing that we must have such things, not near them. Let us look at some of
the hysteria that has been put about in this case. I too attended the rally in Kardinya and I
heard the speakers and noted the concern that people felt. Probably the reason people feel
concern is because many of them do not have the facts. They were deliberately fed
misinformation and that is continuing. People who should know better have sought to gain
political mileage out of the situation.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: There is Hon Phillip Pendal over On the Opposition fronchench.
Hon B.L. JONES: I am aware that my colleague is pointing to Hon Phillip Pendal, and some
of my remarks are addressed to that quarter, because I did listen to the remarks he made last
week.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: He is a terrible person.
Hon B.L. JONES: Fear has been engendered in the public in the areas adjacent to where the
remand centre is to be sited - Murdoch, Melville and Leeming. What is the basis for the
residents' fear? Do we have precedents? What has been the experience of the Longmore
remand centre? We have heard ad nauseam that there is no precedent. Hon Derrick
Tomlinson was talking about Government members repeating propaganda. The fact is we
were stating the truth when we said there have not been any problems in the past. The senior
citizens' centre, which is next door to Longmnore, has not had any cause for complaint.
Surely if little thugs were being let out of the centre and were looking for an easy target, a
senior citizens' centre would be an easy mark. The residents were not even aware of the
existence of Longmore. Only one escape has occurred and that was under rather extenuating
circumstances. It is improper to instil fear into the beants of people in the area and suggest
that they might come under attack. These children - I stress "children" because children of
10 to 17 years of age will be held in the remand centre for approximately two days - will not
pose a threat to life and limb. The Lakes Action Group put out a leaflet, and if ever I have
read damaging propaganda it is that leaflet. It states that the location of the remand centre is
in close proximity to hospitals and education facilities both present and proposed and the
centre may expose patients, nurses, teachers and students to unwarranted risk. Really, what
hysterical garbage to think that these children will pose a threat to such people; it is absolute
rubbish.
Hon P.G. Pendal: If they are so safe why are they building such huge towers?
Hon B.L. JONES: In speaking about fear that is deliberately engendered, this leaflet really
takes the cake. It claims that the community is fearful because it is proposed to build
facilities for psychiatric patients on the site. Never has it been suggested that a psychiatric
hospital will be sited there. Yet this pamphlet suggests there is some justification for people
in the area to fear that. If fear exists it is because people have been fed misinformation and
they actually believe that they could be subjected to little drug crazed thugs rushing out of a
remand centre and attacking them. If there is no basis for fear, what other issue would cause
members opposite to create such a furore over this business?
Hon P.O. Pendal: Three thousand people complaining.
Hon B.L. JONES: Two issues come to mind, the first of which is political mileage. Where
else has Hon Phillip Pendal been able to get such a high profile with such a crowd for him to
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jump up and down on his bandwagon? It must have been a wonderful opportunity for
Mr Pendal to say to all these people that he is behind them, that he is supporting them.
Hon P.C. Pendal: Absolutely.
Hon H.L. JONES: Members opposite do not believe a word of the unfounded claims made.
Members opposite know that we must have a remand centre, and that the Murdoch site is
ideally situated.
Hon P.O. Pendal: Mrs Davenport is for the chopper. She might become Mr Kelly's
assistant.
Hon B.L. JONES: I am endeavouring to demonstrate that the only reason for people's fear is
that they have been fed misinformation, because it is a non-event. The political mileage to
be gained by the Opposition is obvious to all concerned. In reality what members opposite
should be doing is flying to look after their constituents and to reassure them inscead of
whipping up hysteria and making people afraid to live in an area and agreeing with
outlandish claims.
Hon P.G. Pendal: Why doesn't the Government do that instead of deceiving them?
Hon B.L. JONES: Members opposite should be a little more mature in their outlook and
should start saying to their constituents things like, "We need a remand centre; it does not
pose a threat. It might not be where you want it, but you are safe." The Opposition members
are not reassuring those residents; they are encouraging fear. It does them no credit at all.
Fear and political mileage axe the first two issues that come to mind.
Hon P.G. Pendal: We are listening to the people.
Hon B.L. JONES: We have heard it said that property values are of concern. Is
Mr Macinnon concerned about his property because he lives in Leeming? Is he worried
that the value of his house will decrease? I will reassure Mr Macinnon that property values
will not go down as a result of siting the remand centre at Murdoch. People in the area will
be more likely to have increased property values because the area has a freeway system
which gives ready access to Perth, and that will be extended to Forrest Road for easy access
to Mandurah, Rockingham and the south west. A university is close by and the area will
have another hospital. Residents will have all those facilities in the area, which will make it
a very desirable area in which to live. I assure members that all of those facilities will far
outweigh the existence of a remand centre that will be well Screened.
Hon P.C. Pendal: Hon Beryl Jones will be promising a remand centre for every electorate.
Hon B.L. JONES: If need calls, but I hope with the improvements in the juvenile justice
system we are looking at we will not require that many.
People do not have any cause for fear in respect Of property values. They will markedly
increase because the area is an attractive one. Members may wonder why I am concerned
with, this area when it is not in my electorate. My house is just around the corner from
Mr Macinnon's; I too live in Leeming. In fact I thought it was such a good investment that
I recently bought another house in Leeming.
Hon W.N. Stretch: You are a capitalist too.
Hon P.C. Pendal: That doesn't sound like a lady of the workers.
Hon B.-L. JONES: My husband and I are in a position where we are looking after our future
and we decided to invest in that area because we believe it has potential for the future. I
assure members I have no concern whatever about property values. I have attempted to look
at the reasons that people object to the siting of the remand centre and I believe I have
destroyed their arguments. There is no basis to the fear of physical danger or to the fear that
property values will decline. Perhaps we may be able to construct a remand centre to
provide for our youth an opportunity to have surroundings that will encourage them, instead
of putting them close to existing gaols, as the Opposition prefers and which a visiting
professor recently advised us against.
I hope members opposite will reconsider their position on this matter and realise that the
construction of a remand centre on this site is not only reasonable but ideally located.
[Resolved, that the motion be continued.]
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HON CARRY KELLY (South Metropolitan) [4.32 pm]: My main concern is with
paragraph (d) of the motion moved by Hon Phillip Pendal, which states -

the Government originally misleading the local authority into believing that a facility
of a different kind was proposed;

The Minister has conceded that the agency that handled the consultations on the remand
centre did not handle the process at all well. Nonetheless, the relationship between the City
of Melville and the Government on a number of land issues has been particularly good since
the Labor Government came to office. 'I instance the quarantine site at Bicton and the fact
that the council and the Government were involved in the subdivision of that site.
Hon P.G. Pendal: The Midland saleyard!
Hon GARRY KELLY: In case the member's geography has gone astray, they are not in the
City of Melville. The subdivision of the quarantine site was done in consultation with the
city and resulted in the creation of quite a bit of public open space and a riverside reserve.
The original decision to close the Heathcote Hospital was reversed. Prior to the reversal
consultations took place between the council and the Government, and a joint approach was
adopted in the way that land should be developed. The Wool Stores land at Palmyra, which
was part of a cemetery reserve, has been rezoned urban. The subdivision of that land was the
subject of a successful Department of Planning and Urban Development workshop last
Saturday. That was achieved through cooperation between the City of Melville, the
department and the Government. By and- large, the relationship between the Government
and the City of Melville in dealing with land matters in the city's boundaries has been pretty
good. However, as I said; the Minister has conceded that the consultation process over the
Murdoch site for a juvenile rem~and centre was not crash hot.
The city's main concern is that it has freehold land in Leeming, to the south of the Murdoch
site, designated for this purpose by the Government. The pity's main complaint is that it was
not given an opportunity to have that land assessed when the various options for the siting of
the remand cent were considered following the Forrestfield site being ruled out of
contention. With the Minister's agreement I had the land that the City of Melville wished to
have considered assessed by the same officer who assessed the other sites for the remand
centre. He concluded that the City of Melville's preferred site would have been number two
on his list. Even though the City of Melville was prepared to offer the alternative site, I am
not sure that that would have addressed the concerns of the residents to which Hon Beryl
Jones referred because it is not very far distant from the Murdoch site and I am sure the same
fears about the remand centre being in a residential area, reductions in property values and so
on would have been expressed.
During Hon Beryl Jones' comments, Hon.Murray Montgomery referred to the "nimby"
principle - not in my back yard. However, there is an even More insidious attitude abroad -
the "banana" docrine - build absolutely nothing anywhere near anything. I am concerned that
various community groups see their little bit of Australia as somehow sacrosanct and are not
prepared in any way to consider public facilities such as psychiatric centres or remand
centres being built on or near their patch. The action group involved in this matter sent
letters to most members of Parliament, particularly those members in the south metropolitan
area. I replied by saying that we are all part of the Australian community and that we cannot
conti.nue to say that we are not prepared to have community facilities near our quarter acre
blocks. Much hype has been generated on this issue. With the Minister's concurrence, I
used my best endeavours to have the council's site assessed. However, the transfer of this
facility to the alternative site would not have made any difference because the people there
would not want it near them either. It is unreasonable to say that these facilities should be
put* somewhere but not near me or my house.
If one says that something will reduce the value of property, nothing is surer than that the
prophecy will be fulfilled. In fact, people may want to create a situation where property
values will reduce. In reality, when the remand centre is constructed, no-one will know the

dane t hing is there and it will serve a very necessary community purpose. I am sure it
wilntaffect property values or the security and ambience of the Murdoch area. I have

friends who live in the general vicinity of the proposed site. They have received all of the
junk mail referring to the horrendous and dire consequences that would result from having
the centre built near them. However, they are not concerned about having the remand centre
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built near them. As the member for South Metropolitan Region, I have written to various
commnunity groups that have been agitating on this issue and have stated my case. People
cannot expect to live on an island. We have to do our bit to accommnodate community
facilities. I do not support the motion.
HON P.C. PENDAL (South Metropolitan) [4.39 pml: I thank members who have taken
part in the debate, including Government members who defended the Government's
decision. I particularly thank members on ibis side of the House who have shown an interest
in a matter which is of vital and continuing concern to the people in whose location this
remand centre is to be built. Much has been said, certainly by the Opposition, about the lack
of consultation with the local authority. Equally, much has been said by Government
members in defence of the Government's consultative procedures.
In closing the debate I want to leave on the record the comments from the City of Melville
about whether the level of consultation was adequate. I quote from a letter dated 27 March
sent to me, and I imagine to other members of Parliament, under the signature of Mr Garry
Hunt which states -

On Sunday 24 March 1991 the Minister for Planning, Mr David Smith announced a
major development at the above mentioned site. As part of the proposed
development of the site the Government intends to establish a juvenile Remand
Centre.

I ask members to recall that this was the Sunday on which the Minister made his
announcement. The letter continues -

The first detailed knowledge the Council received of the proposal was on Friday
22 March 1991 at approximately 4.20 pmn.

I put to Government members of this House that if they seriously suggest 36 hours
constitutes proper consultation, that is the reason the Government's electoral stocks are now
as abysmal as they are. The letter from Mr Hunt also states with regard to a letter the local
authority received from the Asset Management Taskforce -

There is not indication in that letter that the Government was about to make a formal
announcement in relation to the site. It had been accepted that as part of a
consultative process the Council would have opportunity to comment on the concept
plan and have further input. As is now obvious that was not the Government's
intended course of action.

Mr Hunt further states - referring to the Monday prior to his witing this letter, which I
assume is 25 March -

At 11.30 am on Monday I received a letter by courier from the Minister for
Corrective Services, Mr Eric Ripper, outlining that there was proposal for a Juvenile
Remand Centre and offering information on that development-

I ask Hon Cheryl Davenport whether she regards that as adequate consultation. Would
H-on Garry Kelly like to tell us whether he regards that as adequate consultation? Hon Beryl
Jones contributed to the debate and I query whether she regards it as adequate consultation.
Hon B.L. Jones: I made my speech, you make your own.
Hon P.O. PENDAL: Yes, the member did and she clearly regards that timing as adequate in
the consultative process.
Hon B.L. Jones: That is not the issue; the issue is where the centre is sited.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: That is one of the issues of the motion, which the member would know
had she read it. The motion refers to the failure of the Government to consult with local
people and that is the point with which I am now dealing. I read further from the letter by
Mr Hunt, because in its own way it becomes a response to the Poorly researched speeches
made by Government members in this debate. The letter states -

Much has been made by various Government representatives -

The Government cracks another mention. It continues -

- in recent days about consultation on these proposals to the Council. For the record,
it is important that the following information is made available to you.
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That refers to me as the local member. The letter continues -

Officers of the City had three very preliminary discussions with representatives of the
Asset Management Taskforce, and the Building Management Authority on proposals
for the site. No documentation was provided during the course of those discussions
and informnation on intended use of the site was only available in a very preliminary
way. Towards the latter part of 1990 there were persistent rumours about a possible
Remand, Juvenile Remand or Juvenile Health Services on the site. We were anxious
at that stage to establish some detail on the matter to be able to brief the Council.
That was not able to be achieved at that time. Subsequently it was made clear that
any proposals for the site were at that stage only preliminary and would be subject to
further discussion with the Council and also subject to submission Of a report to
Cabinet.
The Council has worked with the Asset Management Taskforce on a number of
projects. Perhaps the most notable being the Heathcote Hospital Site. In those
instances the consultative process has involved:-

I ask members to listen to the following very carefully.
Hon Garry Kelly: I mentioned them in my comments.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: It is a pity that the Government did not take any notice of them. The
process is outlined as follows -

1. Initial preliminary meetings with Officers;
2. More detailed meetings with Officers on concept issues;
3. An informal meeting with Elected representatives to brief them on the project;
4. Submissions of formal documentation to the Council for comment; and
5. The opportunity for the Council to respond to the formal submission.
At no time did the Asset Management Taskforce. Or any other Agency'indicate that
this type of process would not be available for the Murdoch site.

I could read other parts of the letter but I think Mr Hunt has made his case, and on his letter
alone the Government should be condemned.
The second point I address in reply is that I found it passing strange that no Government
member referred to one of the urgent planning matters the Opposition raised when the
motion was moved some time ago. Members will recall that I said at the time that one of the
other public facilities intended for the site was the TAFE horticultural college. The original
intention was that no fewer than 1 270 parking bays would be provided for that development
because otherwise the current parking problem encountered at Murdoch University would be
made worse. At present the divers of vehicles for which no parking spaces are available on
the campus are being encouraged to park in nearby residential streets. In those
circumstances one would expect this proposed public facility would necessitate an increase
in the number of parking bays from the proposed 1 270. Will an increase occur? No, it will
not. I order to fit on all the facilities, including the remand centre, the Government will
decrease the number of parking bays on that site from 1 270 to 800. The problem will get
worse, yet not one member of the Government party when responding to the motion regarded
that as important enough to be addressed. Everyone knows that in many cases suburban
development is crippled for want of parking space. Everyone knows that one of the most
constant complaints one receives from local schools relates to the lack of parking and the
associated bottlenecks at 8.30 in the morning and 3.15 in the afternoon. Everyone knows
that on this site will be a new hospital, remand centre, 24 hour police station, TAFE college
and one or two other things, which will bring tens of thousands more vehicles to the area. It
will not bring fewer vehicles. The response of the Government is to reduce the number of
car parking bays. I regret to say that no-one in the Government parties has seen fit to address
that key issue.
Hon Fred McKenzie told us all about the past. He gave us an object lessen in what happens
when Governments stop listening. The central message behind what he told us about the last
coalition Government in 1981 was that when that Government stopped listening, the people
chucked it out. This Government is going the same way because it is refusing to listen to the
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people of the southern suburbs in this case. We have heard in recent days that Hon Tom
Butler and Hon Garry Kelly are in a bit of strife so far as the Labor Party is concerned.
However, it will go deeper than that: Hon Cheryl Davenport will find a response from the
southern suburbs that will cost her her seat in this Parliament. It is no good Hon Fred
McKenzie's giving us an object lesson about what happened 10 years ago to another
Government if he is not willing to listen to the same message being applied to his own
Government a decade later,
Hon George Cash: He has thrown up his hands. He has surrendered.
Hon P.C. PENDAL: Yes, I think he has. He has given the show away. In fact, we know he
is planning to retire.
Hon Beryl Jones raised a legitimate matter. She asserted, firstly, that the people did not
really know what was going on. However, that assertion is the last refuge of people who
have their backs against the wall and who have no better explanation to offer the electorate.
Hon Beryl Jones said something even worse than that. She said that people have engendered
fear in the local community. One is entitled to ask why should not people fear the building
of a juvenile remand centre in that location. I cannot understand - and no member of the
Government pantics has helped me to understand - how it can be said that such a facility is a
safe place when it will be encircled with all sorts of you-beaut, high tech security measures.
Hon B.L. Jones: That is precisely why it is safe; it will be surrounded by new technology.
Hon P.C. PENDAL: I remember being a member of a Select Committee when I first came
into this Parliament where we heard that Jika Jika Prison in Melbourne was a place from
which no-one could escape. However, about a month or two after that the prisoners proved
that statement wrong. Let me tell the people of Murdoch what will happen at this otherwise
nice little rest home for juveniles who are about to be growled at by the juvenile courts.
There are to be no fewer than 50 light towers around the centre, 10 metres high, which will,
amongst other things, carry security cameras. They will be low illumination lights, until
there is human or animal activity across the open space, at which point they will create for
the people of the southern suburbs another version of the lights at the Western Australian
Cricket Association round, because they will be sharpened from low illumination to high
level illumination by activity in that forbidden precinct. Therefore, those people who live
within a bull's roar of the place will have another factor with which to deal, a factor of not
just one light com-ing on, but 50. Do members know that the perimeter fence is to be topped
by a one metre wide cylinder of stainless steel pipe?
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Mr Kelly told us that people would not even know the centre was
there!
The PRESIDENT: Order! Far too many conversations and interjections are going on, and
there is far too little listening to what members are supposed to be listening to.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: Hon Derrick Tomlinson is correct when he says that Mr Kelly told us
that people would not even know the place was there.
Hon T.G. Butler: It sounds pretty safe to me.
Hon P.C. PENDAL: I am pleased that Mr Butler and his arrogant colleagues continue to say
that, because every time they do that Mrs Davenport will get a bit less blood in the face as
she contemplates her future.
The PRESIDENT: Order! I will not ask members again to stop interjecting. Just be warned.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: One is, therefore, entitled to ask on that basis alone: Why go to all that
trouble with that most sophisticated equipment if the remand centre will be no great shakes
from the local people's point of view? Hon Carry Kelly has alluded to paragraph (d) of the
motion, and I have dealt with that by reading at some length the letter from the City of
Melville. I believe we have made out a case that the Government has stopped listening. I
believe that the people made out a case on 6 April this year. when 2 000 or 3 000 people met,
not because - as has been suggested today - the fever was whipped up by local Liberal
members of Parliament but because the local people were fed up when they were confronted
with a Minister, Hon Eric Ripper, who addressed the meeting and said over the microphone.
with all the arrogance that members of this Government have developed, that the people had
told him nothing that would make him change his mind. That indicates how much he was
prepared to listen to the people of Murdoch.
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The PRESIDENT: Order! If Hon Torn Stephens wants to stay in the House this afternoon,
one of the very early things he ought to learn to do is stop having audible conversations.
That applies also to the person to whom he was talking.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: Right from the start of this whole sorry business, it has been a political
exercise on the part of the Government to shunt the proposed centre out of the electorate of a
Minister who occupies a marginal seat and into the electorate of someone else in the
metropolitan area, accompanied by all the ad hoc planning for which this Government has
become famous. Someone saw that there was a bit of spare land, and it was decided to bung
the proposed centre there. The Government has said that if there is not sufficient land in that
area, it will take land from the area that was to be allotted to the TAFE college for parking.
The Government has forgotten about consultation with the local people. It has kept them in
the dark and put them into the mushroom club; and all members here know about that. That
is the arrogance and the cynicism with which this Government is treating the people. I was
surprised to hear Hon Fred McKenzie talk about people being cynical about politicians.
People have every reason to be cynical about the way the Government has acted in this
matter. I ask that the House carry the motion and condemn the Government for its actions.
Question put and passed.

MOTION - WORKERS' COMPENSATION AND ASSISTANCE AMENDMENT
REGULATIONS 1991

Disallowance

Debate resumed from 11 June.

HON TOM STEPHENS (Mining and Pastoral - Parliamentary Secretary) [4.58 pm]: The
motion moved by Hon Murray Montgomery seeks to disallow the Workers' Compensation
and Assistance Amendment Regulations 1991, which lay down the procedures for
audiometric testing of workers as provided for under the Workers' Compensation and
Rehabilitation Act 1981. As I understand it, this motion of disallowance was moved by the
member on behalf of the National Party, in response to representations from the Western
Australian Farmers Federation. As many members will know, the Western Australian
Farmers Federation has approached the Government directly on this mailer and my
colleague, Hon Yvonne Henderson, the Minister for Productivity and Labour Relations, and
her officers have met with representatives of the federation on a number of occasions in
order to resolve their concerns. I have had the opportunity of perusing the file, which deals
with this communication between the Minister and the federation, which is now quite
extensive, with a large number of issues having been canvassed by the federation and
subsequently dealt with by both the Minister and her departmental officers. It would seem
that many of the issues were to some extent well progressed and well understood and
appreciated by the federation. In addition, the Government took specific action, which I will
describe shortly, to help the federation to identify which types of farms are liable to refer
Workers for audiometric testing.

[Questions without notice taken.]
Hon TOM STEPHENS: Members will have received a package of information from the
Minister for Productivity and Labour Relations which deals with the issues associated with
the setting of the regulations; that is, the principal concerns raised by the Western Australian
Farmers Federation which were related to the House by Hon Murray Montgomery. Those
issues were first canvassed - it would appear from the file notes - by the federation with the
Minister earlier this year and began with the Minister's correspondence to the federation
explaining the Government's view on the federation's concerns. One of the first issues dealt
with was whether there had been adequate consultation on this issue. It is interesting for
those of us who have been in this place for some time - and I am in my tenth year -
Hon N.E. Moore: It seems longer than that.

Hon TOM STEPHENS: I hope it seems like 30 years. However, I remember this issue
arising in my first days in the House, nearly 10 years ago, and it predates my arrival in the
House. It has been on the boil for over 10 years. Extensive consultation was conducted into
the legislation and the issues associated with the protection of workers. The Government has
argued that there are few pieces of legislation which have been developed over a such a long
time or which have involved such widespread consultation.
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The fanner coalition Government lead by Ray O'Connor undertook in 1981 to introduce
compensation far noise induced hearing lass. This Labor Government then progressed the
matter through the Western Australian Tripartite Labour Consultative Council, which, as
members will appreciate, consists of union, employer and Government representatives. In
those consultations the Government dealt with various bodies, including the Confederation of
Western Australian Industry, the Chamber of Mines and Energy of Western Australia, the
Western Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, the Mines and Metals Association,
the Trades and Labor Council, various Government representatives and the Workers'
Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission. Other bodies concerned with the
development of the regulations included the Tripartite Labour Consultative Council, the
Audiological Society of Australia, the Otolaryngological Society, the National Acoustic
Laboratory and the Department of Occupational Health, Safety and Welfare. Adequate
consultation with all of those groups took place.
Hon D.J. Wordsworth: That is dealing with the principles; the practice has caused the
trouble.
Hon TOM STEPHENS: I am simply responding to the concern expressed by Hon Murray
Montgomery about a lack of consultation in developing the regulations. It is clear from the
briefing notes supplied to me that the Government has undertaken an enormous range of
consultation; however, missing from that list was the Farmers Federation.
Hon Murray Montgomery: Farmers' groups.
Hon TOM STEPHENS: As soon as that issue was raised with the Government, detailed and
deliberate discussions were held between the Government and the Farmers Federation.
Hon Murray Montgomery: You are trying to concertina 10 years of negotiations into three
or four months.
Hon TOM STEPHENS: It is fair to say that the consultations with other sections of the
industry have spread over 10 years and that consultations with the farmers' groups have been
concertinaed to a short time. I appreciate that the Farmers Federation has expressed its
concerns and engaged its members in dialogue in an attempt to work through those concerns
so that they can be adequately solved. Many of the outstanding issues have been adequately
addressed and resolved. The disallowance of these regulations will not benefit the farming
community but will impact on the entire working community of Western Australia. All other
sections of industry are satisfied with the arrangements that have been struck in these
regulations and are busy working under the new regime. I hope that at the dispatch of this
motion that will be true of the farming community as well.
One of the issues raised by the mover of the motion was the definition of a prescribed
workplace. That issue has in turn been canvassed by the Farmers Federation in order to
clarify exactly what is meant by a prescribed workplace. For the purposes of compensation,
a definition of a prescribed workplace has been adopted which will require the testing of all
workers who are likely to suffer a 10 per cent or greater hearing loss through their working
lives as a result of carrying out work related duties. Hon Murray Montgomery in his address
to the House some months ago went to great lengths to describe the definition of a prescribed
workplace. Workers employed in prescribed noisy workplaces are required to undergo a
baseline audiometric test. The Farmers Federation has stated that its members would
experience particular difficulty in determrining whether their operations met the criteria for a
prescribed workplace, which is one where a worker is exposed to a one-off noise dose of
140 decibels or eight hours per day at 90 decibels continuously, or its equivalent, on a
representative working day. Hon Bill Stretch might be interested to know that the
Government accordingly arranged and paid for noise surveys on a range of representative
farms nominated by the Western Australian Farmers Federation.
Hon W.N. Stretch: I tried to get Dowding to do that in 1984.
Hon TOM STEPHENS: Nonetheless, it was done in 1991 and no doubt that will please the
member.
Hon D.J Wordsworth: Will you be able to table the results of the survey?
Hon TOM STEPHENS: I understand the results have been circulated to all members.
Hon Murray Montgomery: Are you able to table them?
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Hon TOM STEPHENS: I will be in a position to clarify that before the end of my
contribution.
Hon W.N. Stretch: If you look at your circulated papers you will probably find they are
there.
Hon TOM STEPHENS: I will ascertain that for the member and indicate whether I am able
to table that document either from the papers I have with me or from others I am able to
obtain quickly.
Hon D.J. Wordsworth: The letter you refer to is dated 6 September and it arrived on
members' desks today.
Hon TOM STEPHENS: I did not realise that was the date of the letter, but I will give
Hon David Wordsworth the due deference he deserves and hope that is the case. However, I
understand that the papers have been circulated.
The surveys indicated that piggery and horticulture farms would normally be prescribed
workplaces and I understand from a quick reading of one of the documents that it did not
apply to all piggeries, but only to those where the pigs were not automatically fed.
Hon W.N. Stretch: Who is in a piggery for eight hours a day apart from the pigs?
Hon TOM STEPHENS: On that basis perhaps all piggeries should be excluded, as non-
prescribed workplaces. Members opposite are adding to the case that we should not have
any concerns about this regulation. I know that it is not as simple as that. The noise level is
worked out by a formula. The period of time in respect of exposure to higher noise levels is
shorter, and that would trigger the definition of a prescribed workplace. The Government
estimates that the number of workers requiring tests would be in the low hundreds. I am
advised that the types of farms I mentioned are those not typically affiliated with the Farmers
federation.
Hon Murray Montgomery: Which ones are not affiliated?
Hon TOM STEPHENS: The piggery and horticulture farms. The Farmers Federation does
not have a huge presence in the northern part of the State with which I am familiar and,
therefore, I am not as familiar with its operations as are some members opposite.
Hon W.N. Stretch: I suggest the Minister -

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon J.M. Brown): Order! I suggest that the member on his
feet address his remarks to the Chair. This should be an intelligent debate so that Hansard
can record it accurately.
Hon TOM STEPHENS: Thank you. Mr Deputy President.
Hon Murray Montgomery was concerned that employers would be liable to pay for
audiometric testing. The Government has repeatedly emphasised that only employers whose
workers are employed in prescribed noisy workplaces are obliged to pay for audiometric
tests. This was part of the original tripartite compromise in return for which workers agreed
to accept a 10 per cent threshold loss of hearing before payment of compensation and no
compensation for respective loss. I remind all members that the employers' liability for this
cost was enacted in the Workers' Compensation and Assistance Amendment Act 1988 and
hence could not be altered by a change to the regulations. This is the crux of the matter. The
issue that we are now trying to resolve, by default, by disallowing the regulations was dealt
with by the House in 1988 during the passage of that legislation. I refer members to an
extract from Hansard dated 17 November 1988, which I understand has been circulated to
members. Hon Gordon Masters made an interesting contribution to the debate when he
said -

The situation has further been improved by the fact that one of the Government's
departmental officers discussed the matter with me today - that is, Mir Neesham - and
he has further enlightened me. As it happens, when I was dealing with this sort of
legislation he was also my departmental officer. When I asked a couple of questions
and was a bit incensed with one or two things he reminded me that in fact they were
in the legislation that I prepared five or six years ago.
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Hon Joe Berinson interjected and said -

I am sure you found that more persuasive than anything I could have said.
Hon Gordon Masters replied -

So the Leader of the House can understand my caution -

Later in that debate Hon Gordon Masters said -

In such a case I understand that in the prescribed workplace the workers would be
required to undertake audiometric testing and the employer would pay. What would
happen in the non prescribed workplace - for lack of a better description - if the
people there said, "Well, the fellows next door have audiometric testing at the boss's
expense; we would like to undergo an audiometric test"? Would that mean the
employer in that workplace would have to foot the bill or would that cost be borne by
the workers?

Hon Joe Berinson responded -

Because of the effect of clause 2(4) of the schedule a test in those circumstances
would be at the worker's expense.

It is not as though this issue crept through this House without due attention to the question of
liability and the cost of paying for the testing resting on the shoulders of the employer. In
that context Hon Gordon Masters acknowledged that employers would be liable to pay for
audiometric tests and the appropriate provision received the support of all parties in this
House.
The question of non-occupational noise was raised by Hon Murray Montgomery. Concern
was expressed that non-occupational noise exposure such as discotheques and background
noise could cause hearing loss which employers might become responsible for compensating.
Extensive research in both Australia and the United States of America has shown that few
people suffer hearing loss due to these causes. The reason for this is that exposure times are
typically shorter than a working day and a person does not reach the action level required to
sustain hearing damage. I add that the regulations require that before any worker can obtain
compensation he must be examined by a medical specialist who is required to certify the
percentage loss of hearing due to occupational noise exposure. Another concern expressed
by Hon Murray Montgomery when he moved this motion was the availability of facilities in
remote areas for audiomnetric testing. In order to facilitate testing in remote areas and to
minimise the cost to employers, the Government has arranged for a mobile testing van to
visit all areas of the 'State to provide testing at the metropolitan rate of charge. This
legislation has gained widespread acceptance among all industries and this is evidenced by
the fact that audiomnetric test reports on 10 000 workers have already been submitted to the
Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission. I understand that the Chamber of
Mines and Energy of Western Australia and the Confederation of Western Australian
Industry have some concerns about this regulation. As a member of Parliament who
represents a vast area of this State which has within it a number of mining developments, I
pay tribute to the mining industry for recognising the importance of this legislation and
moving rapidly to implement it.
Concerns have been expressed by Hon Murray Montgomery, the Western Australian Farmers
Federation and other members of the House. I think Hon Reg Davies, for one, raised his
concerns with the Minister. The Minister listened to the concerns raised and I am authorised
by her to give an undertaking in response that in her capacity as Minister for Productivity and
Labour Relations she will for 12 months from 1 Match 1992, the expiry date of the period
allowed for base line audiometric tests, exempt farmers from prosecutions for failing to
comply with section 3(l) of schedule 7 of the Act which requires employers to refer workers
for audiometric tests and pay for those tests. The farming operations to be exempted are
those identified by the WA Farmers Federation. They are beef, sheep, dairy, and grain
farming, horticulture and piggeries, the areas that the federation requested have their
workplaces tested.
If these regulations are left intact that undertaking given on behalf of the Minister will come
into effect. The Government holds a view that I share that disallowance of these regulations
will place Western Australia behind most other States regarding compensation for noise
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induced hearing loss. I hope I have been able to encourage members opposite not to go
down the path of supporting this motion because to proceed down that path would be to
cause industry in all areas of Western Australia to experience a shake-up related to the
disallowance of regulations which are already viewed by many sections of industry as
catering adequately for their needs. The opportunity the Minister is offering the farming
community will mean that over the next 12 months there will be a chance to encourage and
educate the fanning community on the precise meaning of "duty of care" regarding their
employees rather than moving through the process of assessing liability and towards
prosecution. I urge all members to support the regulations and to defeat the motion.
HON GEORGE CASH (North Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) [5.54 pm]: I
support the motion. I listened with interested to the Parliamentary Secretary's explanation on
behalf of the Government. The information he provided certainly has not convinced me,
firstly, that the Government was genuine in its desire to consult with the various panies or,
secondly, that the undertaking - as he called it, or the side deal, as I will refer to it - he has
been authorised to give on behalf of the Minister -

Hon Reg Davies: Or compromise.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Yes, or compromise, if Hon Reg Davies wishes to call it that. I
suggest that that sort of undertaking is not the way in which we should deal with regulations
in this place. If there is to be an amendment to a regulation tabled in this House it should be
handled in the proper manner; that is, the regulation should be redrafted and then resubmitted
to the House. I say this because members will recall that recently when we were required to
consider regulations relating to towed agricultural implements the Minister for Police, who
had carriage of those regulations, said in the House on a number of occasions that he would
see that prosecutions were not launched for breaches of the new regulations. The Minister
was questioned on a number of occasions during which it became clear to me that he had no
authority to prevent such prosecutions if there were a breach of the regulations and that there
was a need for those regulations to be redrafted and resubmitted. As it happened, the
Minister decided to table another regulation which overrode certain of the provisions of the
regulations I have just mentioned.
The regulations the subject of this motion appeared in the Government Gazette on
26 February 1991 and were tabled by the Minister on 20 March. The disallowance motion
was moved by me on 6 June this year. That was, in my view, a sufficient period for the
Government to work closely and consult with members of the community and in particular
with the WA Farmers Federation, which had expressed concern about the regulations.
Hon Tom Stephens: The Government has worked closely with it since March. The file
notes are quite clear about the exchanges and meeting which took place along with the many
conversations between then Minister, officers of the department and the WA Farmers
Federation.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Had Hon Murray Montgomery not moved to disallow the regulation
there would have been no consultation with the WA Farmers Federation and no reason for
the Government to go back and talk to anyone about these regulations. No reason would
have arisen for the Government to have the Building Management Authority test noise levels
at various farms across Western Australia. The Government would have been quite happy to
believe that the regulations were in force, that was the end of the matter, and there was no
need to consult with anyone. The very object of Hon Murray Montgomery's moving the
disallowance motion was to point out to the Government that although the Tripartite Labour
Consultative Council had given its approval to the regulations that council was not the only
council that needed to be consulted. Other important industry groups, and in particularly
rural groups, clearly were not consulted and, I believe, not even considered when these
regulations were formulated.

Hon Tom Stephens: The member would be no doubt interested to know that on 22 May the
Minister spoke with the WA Farmers Federation.

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Parliamentary Secretary can scream out as many dates as he
likes related to meetings that have taken place. I am indicating that had Hon Murray
Montgomery not moved his disallowance motion -
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Hon Torn Stephens: They preceded the motion moved by Hon Murray Montgomery.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! Hon Tom Stephens will not enter into an across the
Chamber argument while I am in the chair, or use his microphone to the effect he just has; if
we cannot have an orderly interchange we will have no interchange at all.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I do not wish to argue with Hon Toni Stephens as he has his point of
view and I have mine. I am comforted by the fact that my point of view is supported by
many people in the rural community and also, I know, by many people in industry. No doubt
the Minister will in due course resort to an emotional campaign claiming that industry
supports the regulations. I argue that some parts of industry have supported them while
others, in particular those in the rural community, have not. This disallowance motion has
been moved to provide the Government with an opportunity to reconsider its position and
deal with the matter in a responsible manner. It is true that the major question involved in
this disallowance debate relates to a prescribed workplace. Hon Tom Stephens attempted in
part to indicate the Government's position on that matter. My argument is that the
regulations are too wide ranging.

Sitting suspended from 6.00 to 7.30 pm
Hon GEORGE CASH: I do not intend to repeat all the matters I discussed prior to the
suspension, because I am quite sure that members were listening extremely carefully and
attentively and they understood what I was saying. I am looking at the Parliamentary
Secretary, and I hope he is nodding in agreement with those comments.
One of the problems associated with these regulations concerns the rural areas of Western
Australia. If we read the correspondence between the Minister and at least one rural body we
will see an acknowlcdgment of the fact that the Government has failed to do adequate testing
in respect of rural industries in Western Australia before tabling these regulations. In
acknowledging that the Government has failed in that area, the Minister gave a commitment
that testing would be carried out in rural Western Australia, and the Building Management
Authority was commissioned to undertake certain tests. A copy of the results of those tests, a
document titled "Method for Determining Prescribed Workplaces on Farms; August 1991",
has now been distributed to members. At the back of that document members will see
various noise levels attributed to items of farm equipment, On the first page of the schedule
approximately 40 items of farm equipment are listed, and 20 exceed the 90 decibel level. On
the next page, 27 or so are listed, of which approximately nine exceed the 90 decibel level.
The purpose of raising this matter is to indicate to members that the Government was remiss
in not considering rural industries when it negotiated with certain other industries in Perth.
More than that, it did not have proper regard for farm implements and the noise which can be
generated by that equipment.
Another area which has come to light as a result of representations made by rural groups in
Western Australia is the transient nature of some farm workers. Many farm workers are
employed on a casual basis. Who is to pay the costs of having these people tested should the
regulation be enforced in its present form? I instance the case of a casual farm worker being
invited to take up limited employment in the Lake Grace or Hyden area, and I ask members
to consider who will be responsible for the cost of testing that person. Take the case of a
casual farm worker arriving at the farm to be told that there is a job for two or three days, but
he will have to travei to a regional centre in order to be rested. Can he expect the fanner to
keep the job available until he comes back? Other members have raised that point, or will
expand on it further in due course. It is certainly a matter which the Government failed to
take into account.
Hon Tom Stephens: It would not have been a figure -
Hon GEORGE CASH: I shall let the Parliamentary Secretary respond in due course.
Hon Torn Stephens: You might at the present moment.
The PRESIDENT: I am not going to let the Parliamentary Secretary do it from there.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Interjections by the Parliamentary Secretary will not do much to
convince me. I listened very carefully to the points he made and his argument was not
convincing. If he believes the argument he was putting forward, he certainly does not
recognise the problems these regulations will generate in rural Western Australia. A

4244 [COUNCIL]



[Tuesday, 10 September 1991] 24

disallowance of these regulations as such will not mean that they are defeated forever and
ever. The opportunity exists for the Government to reconsider its position in respect of the
regulations as they apply to rural Western Australia. In particular I refer to farms. The
Government can go back, amend the regulations, exempt -

Hon Tom Stephens: Mr Cash, we can't do that. The Act would have to be amended, not the
regulations.
Hon GEORGE CASH: In due course the Parliamentary Secretary can make another attempt
to make his case. He clearly acknowledges now that he has not made his case very well
because there is obviously a fair bit of confusion about what was said. My point is that there
is an opportunity for the disallowance of any regulations. Those regulations can be taken
back, amended, and later resubmitted to the Parliament.
Hon Tom Stephens: That would not achieve what you are after.
Hon GEORGE CASH: In respect of the undertaking given earlier by the Parliamentary
Secretary of State, side deals are not the way to deal with regulations in this House. If a
mistake is recognised or acknowledged by the Government in respect of regulations that may
be brought into this House, the opportunity exists for those regulations to be withdrawn,
redrafted and resubmitted to the House. Side deals or other undertakings are not acceptable
to the House, and certainly should not be considered to be proper parliamentary procedure
when dealing with regulations.
Hon Tom Stephens: That is unfair, Mr Cash.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Parliamentary Secretary can say it is as unfair as he likes, but
the facts are the facts. We happen to be running a business where, when regulations are
tabled in this House, until they are formally disallowed they have the force of law. They
should be regarded as the law. Any attempt by a Minister to say that a regulation will not
have an effect because that Minister has determined that the regulations will not be enforced
to prevent people from charging other people with breaches of the regulations is
unparliamentary and certainly not something that I will countenance in this place. A proper
process exists to amend regulations and the Parliamentary Secretary is aware of that process.
In the final analysis it boils down to the fact that the Government did not consult widely
enough about the regulations. I said earlier and I acknowledge that the Government
consulted with the Tripartite Labour Consultative Council. The Government also clams in
correspondence it has sent to members that it has the support of certain other industry groups,
including the Confederation of Western Australian Industry - although that is part of the
tripartite council - the Chamber of Mines and Energy, the Australian Association of Mines
and Metals, and various other organisations. However, just because a Government consults
with those bodies does not mean it has consulted with all the people that the regulations will
affect, or all the important and significant bodies representing those people whom the
regulations will affect.
The Minister who is responsible for the Act to which these regulations will apply has
developed a record of not consulting with industry, for having a particular position, for
becoming intransigent on that position and for not being prepared to bend her mind to any
alterations or amendments that might reasonably be accepted. That does not assist the
situation regarding these or other regulations that have been or will be dealt with by us and
handled by that Minister.
The Government in due course may decide to wage a public campaign of criticism and
vilification of the Opposition for its stance on these regulations. However, it should be
remembered that the Opposition - the Liberal Party and the National Party - in this House has
a responsibility to stand up and represent interests across the State. As elected members we
should not allow areas to be neglected or stomped on by a Government that is not in the
business of listening.
Any consultation that the Parliamentary Secretary believes has occurred is nothing more than
a visionary hallucination on either his part or on the part of the Government.
Hon Tom Stephens: I have minutes of the meeting that predate the tabling of this motion by
Hon Murray Montgomery.
Hon GEORGE CASH: If that is the best that the Parliamentary Secretary can do, no wonder
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I urge the House to support the motion to allow the regulations to be amended in a proper
manner, and to be resubmitted to the House.
HON DJ. WORDSWORTH (Agricultural) [7.44 pmj:. I have the benefit of the briefing
notes issued by the Minister regarding the identification of a workplace and the application
of the regulations. I pointed out earlier by interjection that I had not seen the document.
However,!I have borrowed a copy from Hon Barry House, who received his copy yesterday.
Doubtless my copy is in the pipeline and could well be in my electorate office. I admit that I
now have the benefit of about 100 pages of information, although I have spent only one hour
perusing the details.
Using the briefing notes, I will go through and pick out some of the relevant points. The first
matter refers to the identification of a prescribed workplace. It reads -

For the purposes of compensation the Regulations contains a definition of a
prescribed workplace which will require the testing of all workers who are likely to
suffer a 10% or rater hearing loss during their working lives as a result of carrying
out their work related duties.

That amazes me because no way in the agricultural scene will a person work under the same
conditions for 45 years. Conditions change so rapidly that it is difficult to say that because a
person works on a tractor today that will bear any relationship to his occupation for the next
45 years. It seems odd to say that a person is liable to suffer a 10 per cent hearing loss during
his lifetime when the machine he uses will be superseded in probably five years. Perhaps it
is presumed that he will work in the same way for 45 years, and an average is taken knowing
full well that in fact he will not be working in that way for 45 years. The definition is a
difficult one with which to come to grips. At page 2 the document reads -

Part (a) of the definition indicates that if a worker is likely to be exposed to a peak
noise level of l4OdB(lin) or more for however short a period of time on however few
occasions in the course of the worker's employment he should be tested.

I do not know what that noise level is but I thank the Minister for spending $10 000 on
having tests undertaken by the Building Management Authority on various farms. For the
first time I have some idea of the noise levels. The document refers to a beef farm at
Manjiniup, a dairy farm at Mundijong, a grain and sheep property at Gingin, and so on. It
seems that one must work out a total yearly dose of noise. A table outlines the various noise
levels for various machinery. I assume one must work out for each man what the effect is
likely to be for the year, and presumably from that year, how much damage is done in
45 years. By definition, if the noise level is maintained over 45 years a person could lose
10 percent of his hearing. At that stage, I am lost Considering the yearly rate and
particularly the tables it appears that it is unlikely that a reading of 140 decibels would occur,
because I take it that the highest reading is 118 decibels applying to the noise of a chain saw.
Most machinery has a noise level of less than 100 decibels. Tractor noise would not
approach the 100 decibel level.
Hon Tom Stephens: All the arguments by the member support the case that most farms
would not be prescribed workplaces for the purposes of necessitating a hearing test for a
worker.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH-: I am told that if there is any chance of a worker suffering a
hearing loss it is the employer's responsibility to test him. It is all very well to say there does
not seem to be much chance -

Hon Tom Stephens: It is more than "not seeming to be". The member possesses an
authoritative report that states there is no chance.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: The Parliamentary Secretary is talking himself into proving that
there is little need in the farming industry -

Hon Tom Stephens: Under the Act most farms would not be prescribed workplaces, They
would be exempt from paying for hearing tests for workers in the workplace.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: I do not know whether the noise of any activity on a farm
would be over 140 decibels. For example, when a chainsaw blows up, would the noise level
reach 140 decibels?
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Hon Garry Kelly: Over how long a period?
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: It says, "if a worker is likely to be exposed". That is a very
loose definition.
Hon Tom Stephens: It is not likely that your chainsaw will blow up.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: Anyone who has owned a chainsaw would know that
practically all of them end up blowing up sooner or lacer. If Hon Tom Stephens is quite sure
it is not likely to happen, why are we worried about writing it into the legislation?
Hon Tom Stephens: It is already in the legislation. The legislation requires blanket coverage
of the State. In this regulation we are fleshing out those provisions and making them more
certain.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: I have a .303 rifle on my farm, and when fired it would reach
145 decibels and must be registered; so that answers my question. It has only to be shown
that I fired the .303 rifle in the presence of my workers and I would be liable.
Hon Fred McKenzie:- The member has a long bow.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: Part (a) of the definition indicates that it applies if a worker "is
likely to be exposed" to a peak noise level of 140 decibels or more for however short a time
or for however few occasions. I would not like to go into court and argue that wit a legal
eagle.
Hon Tom Stephens: It could well be chat under common law provisions if the member was
not showing a duty of care he would be liable anyway. This is makcing it more certain so that
the member would understand precisely his obligations under the Act.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: Hon Tom Stephens has proved the point to me; I must sell the
.303 rifle..
IHon Tom Stephens: No, the member could issue his workers with whatever is necessary to
protect their ears.
H-on D.I. WORDSWORTH: Part (b) indicates a worker is employed in a prescribed
workplace if, on a representative working day, he or she is exposed to certain levels of sound
for a given number of hours. A representative working day is irrespective of whether it is a
five day or seven day working week; it means an eight hour day at a sound exposure of
90 decibels. I am rather interested that we still talk about the eight hour day. I thought we
had unfortunately gone well beyond it. Perhaps with luck we may get back to that. The
legislation refers to the worker's personal noise exposure, not the workplace. If workers are
fitted with muffs what is the relevant amount of noise exposure? In other words, if my
workers wore ear muffs and I fired the .303 rifle, what is the exposure to the worker? There
are different degrees of muffs.
Hon Tom Stephens: That has nothing to do with the regulation before us.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: It has, because in theory if we had good muffs the workers
would not be exposed.
Hon Tom Stephens: We are not talking about that issue.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: The member just brought it up. I am pleased how often my
employees use muffs. I have six sets and I am amazed at the care they take and the number
of times they wear the muffs. They have the right attitude, as I have as an employer in
making the muffs available. I would like some clarification on that matter, because we are
not talking about the workplace but the effect on the worker. How does one test that? It is
rather interesting.
Hon Fred McKenzie: If a worker is wearing muffs and those muffs bring the noise level
down it is not prescribed as a noisy workplace.
Hon D.3. WORDSWORTH: This is where the definition is so airy fairy. We could argue
that perhaps my muffs are not much good, and if we are referring to someone who may have
damaged his hearing over 45 years we could argue that earmuffs are getting better and it is
unlikely that earmuffs will not be even better in 20 years' time. This is where it gets
complicated.
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Hon Garry Kelly: Is the member saying that noise pollution is not a problem?
Hon DiJ. WORDSWORTH: No, it can be problem and that is why I supply the muffs and
thar is why my workers wear them.
Hon Garry Kelly: Do you see a need for these regulations?
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: It is so hard to specify and to come to grips with as the
regulations do not say the workplace is not allowed to make a particular amount of noise;
they refer to the effect of the noise on the worker. If the regulations said that where muffs
are supplied and worn that would reduce the noise in the workplace by a certain amount,
perhaps we would have something to work upon. I appreciate the survey as it is the first time
I have seen a report on noise levels on farms, and it was well wonthwhile spending $10 000
on the survey and report. The notes say that only piggeries and horticulture farms would
normally be prescribed workplaces, The described farms include beef, dairy, grain,
horticulture and piggeries. The yearly dose for the piggery is 736.97 decibels, and I notice
that it shows a workman mixing feed in a hammer mill which obviously has a fairly high
noise level. It also shows a man using a drill with a high setting, a grinder and a chainsaw,
so he is using a number of machines. I have not yet managed to work out the total yearly
dose or how one associates that with the 45 years, etc. A bit of knowledge is required on
that. In spite of that, it is stated that only a few hundred will be affected. It appears that
these noisy types of undertakings are not affiliated with the Western Australian Farmers
Federation. I am sure Hon Murray Montgomery will react to the statement that the WAFF is
not interested in people who own piggeries.
I have difficulty in understanding whether one must assume that a casual worker is doing the
same noisy occupation for all of his, say, 45 years in the workplace. If that person works as a
casual in a piggery for a week is it assumed that he has worked in the piggery for a year?
While it may not sound onerous to have to test casual workers, it would appear that over
12 months all casuals must be tested. If a casual worker is employed for a couple of days is
it presumed that he must be tested? All employers have 12 months to test all employees. In
other words, after finding a casual employee one must make him have a hearing test, even
though he is working for only a few days and has previously worked for someone else who
had him tested Then the next employer will subject him to another test at his next
workplace. Must a casual employee have a test the first time he works in a noisy workplace?
An employer may not know if that worker has been working in a noisy workplace
previously. Is a worker required to carry a card to say that he has been tested or that he has
worked in a noisy workplace?
Hon Tom Stephens: You are missing the point again. It is only in so far as the worker is
now in a prescribed workplace; that is, a noisy workplace.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: What if I owned a piggery and therefore fell into that category?
Hon Tom Stephens: An automatically fed piggery may not be a prescribed workplace.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: I would like to hewr the legal argument necessary to prove that
a casual employee was not in the workplace while the machinery was running. Surely a
casual worker must carry a certificate saying that he has been tested?
Hon Tom Stephens: That would be irrelevant because it would be the baseline of his hearing
at the point at which he entered a prescribed workplace.
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: So, does that make it different? An employer must test his
employee before he begins work.
Hon Tom Stephens: Yes, if he is in a prescribed workplace.
The PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon D.J. WORDSWORTH: Sir, I am sorry to have to carry out this conversation with
Hon Tom Stephens, but unfortunately we do not have a Committee stage in this debate and
the more the Parliamentary Secretary talks the more he is convincing me that I should vote
for the disallowance of the regulations.
The PRESIDENT: Order! It may be interesting and the member may be learning a lot from
the debate but I am having trouble following it Whether the member wants to continue this
conversation is irrelevant because he is not permitted to.
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Hion D.J. WORDSWORTH: 1 will desist from that, Mr President. Perhaps the answers to
the many questions I am asking the Parliamentary Secretary are contained in the information
thac has been forwarded to us by the inister for Productivity and Labour Relations. I thank
her for this information. I was interested to see the word "Confidential" stamped on every
page of the document, but I do not know why the document should be confidential. If I were
to take this document into a court of law the judge would probably say that I could not use it
because it is confidential. It is interesting that it should be stamped so. We do not have
sufficient information to be able to agree to the regulations which apply to the farming
community. I do not know if other people who represent other industries have done the same
work to protest against these regulations as have the farming bodies. Those companies
which own iron ore smelters are not as well represented in this House as is the fanning
community. Many members in this House are representatives of agricultural areas and have
experience in the rural industries and are, therefore, able to mention these many examples.
When I was Minister for Forests I attended a prize giving ceremony at the Wanneroo town
hall and I noticed a gauge was set up in the hall which showed red when a certain decibel
reading was reached. I do not know at what level it was set but it was showing red very
often. In fact, one could judge those people who were popular by the gauge showing red. It
did not take very much noise for that gauge to register. One really wonders about the
Parliamentary Secretary's assurances that non-occupational noise exposure has little or no
effect on people. If one attends places in which young people are entertained one finds the
noise level uncomfortable. Apart from the fact that one cannot hear what people are trying to
say, the noise levels are uncomfortable. I am not talking about the noise in one hour because
young people start listening to loud noise in the morning. One would think that young
people ame deaf because they listen to that noise all the time. As an older person I have
difficulty believing that has no effect on them whatsoever.
HON W.N. STRETCH (South West) [8.07 pml: My objection to these regulations is that
the legislation will impose extra costs on the rural industries.
Hon Tom Stephens: Do you object to the regulations or the legislation?
Hon W.N- STRETCH: If it can be inescapably and undeniably proved that hearing loss has
been caused by damage inflicted in the workplace which is owned by a particular employer
compensation should be paid out of the general fund of workers' compensation. When this
legislation is applied across the board it will not take into account the difficulties faced by
those in the rural industry. The majority of farm labour is family labour; in other words,
owner operated. Apart from that the vast majority of farm labour is part time and casual.
These people are sometimes employed for no more than a few days and sometimes for only
three or four weeks at shearing or picking time. There is a small core of full time farm
employed labour and that is an acceptable situation for applying the definition of a prescribed
workplace, but they exist in very isolated instances. The Opposition's objection to the
legislation is that it is legislation drafted predomrinantly at the request of the union movement
and does not take into account the non-unionised and non-concent[rated rural industries which
were not intended to be covered by the original legislation. Therefore, they are inadvertently
caught up on the periphery of this Act. That annoys the farmers. No-one has any objection
to the requirements for noise prevention in the shipbuilding industry or an industry building
metal tanks, for example. However, the majority of farms do not come within that category.
Hon Tom Stephens: We agree with you.
Hon W.N. STRETCH: The small number of farms caught up in this net will be such a small
percentage that it is a nonsense. I take the point made by the Parliamentary Secretary that the
steps the Government has taken are required by the parent legislation. That is very
unfortunate; it is an indication of a basic fault in the legislation, and members must accept
some blame for allowing the Bill to pass through this Parliament in this form. However,
these regulations are an attempt to crack a nut with a sledgehammer. The Government must
take these regulations away and amend them in such a way that farms will be exempt from
the definition of prescribed workplaces.
Hon Tom Stephens: You cannot use regulations to reinterpret the Act.
R-on W.N. STRETCH: Certain workplaces could be exempt.
Hon Tom Stephens: It cannot be done without breaching the Act.
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Hon W.N. STRETCH: I do not believe it is beyond the wit of the Government and its
advisers to make the necessary changes, although it may be beyond the wit of the proponents
in this Chamber. The Government should reconsider this matter and either change the
regulations or draft amendments to the parent Act. 'The Act is patently wrong. It should not
impose a major cost on a section of industry which is not involved and should never have
been involved in this matter.
Hon Tom Stephens: It will not impose any cost. The farming industry by and large will be
exempt because farms are not prescribed workplaces.
Bon W.N. STRETCH: That is nearly, but not quite, good enough. The farming industry
should be exempt. There are all sorts of ways of picking up problems other than through this
legislation.
Hon Tom Stephens: Surely you would not want to exempt those places where employees are
genuinely at risk?
Hon W.N. STRETCH: How many piggeries will be involved? How much does the
Parliamentary Secretary know about the pig industry? It is becoming very mechanised.
Hon Tom Stephens: The places that are mechanised will be exempt. They will not be
prescribed workplaces.
Hon W.N. STRETCH: The structure of the pig industry is such chat it is becoming very
capital intensive and less labour intensive; however, there will still be the noise levels even
though on a very limited basis. The rural industries are educating themselves about the
dangers of hearing loss. I refer, for example, to the younger generation: My son was
horrified when I started to use a chainsaw without wearing ear muffs. I have done so for
40 years and as far as I know I have no hearing loss. I certainly hear everything said in this
Chamber.
Hon Tom Stephens: Are you never convinced by any of it?
Hon W.N. STRETCH: No, I am not. However, it is an indication that the younger
generation are aware of the importance of wearing ear muffs when exposed to certain noise
levels encountered when driving a tractor or using a chainsaw, for example. The
Government is wrong if it believes the only way to make these changes is by belting people
over the head and threatening them with legislation and regulations which require employers
to take employees for air conduction tests at $25 a go, or a full audiological test at $150 a go,
if that is not satisfactory, or to a specialist for further testing, if that is required. As
Hon David Wordsworth pointed out, such requirements are not a great impost, except for the
loss of time, for an employer with a piggery at Mundijong or a beef farm at Gingin-
However, in the more remote areas, where the majority of the industry is based, a severe cost
will be imposed on en',ployers. This is a very unfortunate time at which to introduce such a
measure. The Govern nent must reconsider these regulations, because the rural industries
will not accept them. I he Government must get its act together, redraft these regulations or
amend the parent Act, or both.
I support the motion for disallowance.
HON FRED McKENZIE (East Metropolitan) [8.15 pm]: I have listened to many debates
in this Chamber among people with legal qualifications. Such members used to be the bane
of my life and I refer, for example, to Hon Howard Olney and Hon Peter Dowding.
Hon D.J. Wordsworth: You are not too bad yourself on trains.
Hon FRED McKENZIIE: Of course, I am qualified in that area and I have safe working
cenificates to prove it. The advantage I have over other members in that area is that they do
not have those qualifications. * I have witnessed in this Chamber the arguments between
lawyers, particularly on issues relating to workers' compensation. They would continue for
long periods and be full of technicalities, and all members would have different views.
Members could draw their own conclusions at the end of the day, but the experts could,
through their interpretations, provide a variety of reasons for amending certain legislation.
I have listened to the debate in this House on these regulations, and it is essentially between a
group of lay people who in my opinion are ill-informed simply because they are not experts
in the area.
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Hon P.G. Pendal: We were dealing with lYE legislation last week and there are no experts
on that subject in this Chamber either. If you were looking for experts, you would not find
them in Australia.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: I contributed to the debate on in vitro fertilisation, but there was no
doctor in the House who I think would have the qualifications needed on this subject.
Hearing is a very technical matter, and everybody is advancing different theories on the
nature of noisy workplaces and so on. I think we are jumping at shadows. I have not seen
the documentation to which Hon David Wordsworth referred, but I prefer to leave it to the
experts.
Hon DiJ. Wordsworth: I thought they had sent it to you. We represent the public and they
must understand this legislation. If we cannot understand it, how can they?
Hon FRED McKENZIE: Opposition members cannot understand it because they do not
want to. Comnmonsense must prevail.
Hon W.N. Stretch: Exactly, I could not agree more.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: It is quite clear to me that very few establishments in the farming
industry will be prescribed noisy Workplaces. That has been agreed to by Opposition
members.
Hon George Cash: The Minister talks about hundreds in the letter she wrote to me. I do not
think you can write off those people.
Hon FRED McKENZIE: We must be clear about the fact that it means hundreds of
employees, which is quite different from hundreds of establishments. We must have some
faith in the people who drew up the regulations. The Opposition is confusing this argument
with the responsibilities under the Act to provide these tests. The regulations are provided to
facilitate the implementation of that section of the Act which applies to hearing tests. We
must bear in mind that the obligation with respect to hearing tests is set out in the Act. The
regulations merely facilitate the operation of those tests and determine when they are
required. The Act must be complied with. The question is how do we do it, and the
regulations will facilitate that. There is not much point in my emphasising to members that it
is my view, based on commonsense and nothing else, that few farmn places will be -
Hon DiJ. Wordsworth: It says, "A prescribed workplace is where there is a heavy metal to
metal impact."
Hon FRED McKENZIE: I said earlier that I thought the member was trying to draw a pretty
long bow. I do not believe that if it were applied in a comumonsense way -

Hon D.J. Wordsworth: What do you call heavy?
Hon FRED McKENZIE: The member is suggesting it will be applied in a literal sense, and
if it were applied in a literal sense then every farm would qualify. We had general agreement
on this, certainly from some Opposition members, because I heard Hon Bill Stretch say that
he conceded that not many farms would be involved in the necessity to carry out these tests;
and I agree, because that is how I read it. However, it is in the Act, and one cannot exempt
farms under the regulations; it must be done by removing them from the Act. Would it be
fair to exempt farms? There would be no end to it if we were to exempt farms because other
areas would also want exemption.
We are dealing here with the difficulty that workers have had, even in heavy industries, in
establishing under the Workers' Compensation and Assistance Act the fact that their hearing
loss has been induced by the noisy workplace in which they have been employed. People
have been working on this provision in the Act for the last 10 years. Agreement was reached
in 1981, and subsequently the Government changed hands. Many tripartite discussions have
taken place, and we have now arrived at this point. Members should let a bit of
comnmonsense prevail. We should not deprive those people whose hearing has been
genuinely affected because of their working in noisy workplaces. I do not know how we can
deal with this, other than by saying that the tests that are to be applied will apply only to
those areas that have been prescribed as noisy workplaces. I wanted to make those
comments before members make a decision about these regulations. The provision for the
tests is in the Act. Members opposite can seek to amend the Act but they should not prevent
the facilitation of that section in the Act, and that is what they are trying to do.
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HON E.J. CHARLTON (Agricultural) [8.23 pm]: It seems to me that whenever the
Government identifies a problem - which in this case has been apparent to everyone for
many years in various sectors of the workplace - and tries to do something positive to cater
for the situation in which those people find themselves, it tries to incorporate every worker
across the State. The Government appears to do the same sort of thing in just about
everything that it does. It wants to include everybody in a range of rules and regulations.
The same situation applies in the Induscrial Relations Commission and in the Australian
Council of Trade Unions in respect of working conditions and salaries, wheat the
Government is trying to catch everybody in a huge net because it wants to catch one section -

Hon Garry Kelly: It is already there.
Hon E.J. CHARLTON: Yes, 1 know, and we have lived to rue the day that we allowed the
activities that are incorporated in the Act to be as widespread as they are.
Hon W.N Stretch: We could look at amending the Act.
Hon E.J. CHARLTON: Yes. Let us not just look at it let us introduce an amendment or
amendments and get the onus back to directing the activity to where it ought to be directed.
We took the action that we have taken as a consequence of the definition in the regulations of
these workplaces, and after all the activity that went on, where we were accused of being
irresponsible and of not caring, and where a working party was set up by a group of people
whom I would have and did question, which could have provided an accurate assessment, we
came up with the situation where it was proved that a farm is not a noisy workplace. That
has now been acknowledged and accepted, yet the Government still wants to proceed with it.
The Government has a consistent philosophy that where there is a problem within society,
instead of addressing the people directly affected by that problem it will encompass everyone
in Western Australia. We could say in this case that the consequent financial burden will be
small and will not be a significant cost, but when we add together all the financial costs we
come up with thousands of dollars, which creates yet another extension to the bureaucracy
across the State and does nothing for the economy of the State. Taxes and charges have been
increased, and this added cost has been loaded on to industry across Australia. We have
killed off industry to the point wheat it is now uneconomic and where we are importing
commodities into the State which once we used to grow, produce and manufacture.
The same thing is going on in respect of a host of regulations. The reason the National Party
has been moving to disallow regulations is that they have not achieved what they were
intended to achieve, and the whole situation is totally out of control.
HON MARGARET McALEER (Agricultural) [8.27 pm]: Most of the points have been
covered by other speakers, but I want to make one point during the course of this debate. A
question arises continually about the problems associated with casual workers. I notice from
the survey that was undertaken on behalf of the Minister that the various farms, particularly
in the wheatbelt and in the beef growing areas, which were selected for testing either did not
employ casual workers or employed them only very rarely. That may have been the situation
on the farms that were selected, but people on other farms who are striving to do their own
work and arc not in a position to employ full time labour are obliged to employ more casual
labourers than they were formerly because that is less costly. The question about how casual
workers will fare in this legislation is now particularly relevant.
The booklet which was provided by the Minister, entitled "Method for Determining
Prescribed Workplaces on Farms", states under the heading "Practical Techniques for
Managing Casual Workers" that there are ways of dealing with casual workers. It cites as
scenario I -

To ensure that casual workers are not exposed to noise levels above the action level:
a. ensure that casual workers do not operate equipment or process above

90OdB(A);
That is not a very practical method of management if a farmer happens to employ those
casual labourers to use that equipment. It is very likely that he will require those labourers to
use a chainsaw, because chainsaws are used every day on many farms.
Hon D.J. Wordsworth: They could not drive the tractor.
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Hon MARGARET McALEER: They certainly could not drive an open tractor. I do not see
this as a very helpful or practical suggestion on the part of the Minister. As an alternative to
that, scenario I suggests employers -

b. Ensure that all casual Workers sign book detailing the type of work carried out
while on casual employment.

I ask you! This is becoming really farcical. It is in the book but it has become quite
impractical and to call these things practical techniques for managing casual workers is
beyond belief.
Hon W.N. Stretch: Hear, hear!
Hon MARGARET McALEER: The practical techniques for managing casual Workers
continues, and scenario 2 reads -

Where casual workers are expose to a high level of noise:
a. Manage the time exposure to noisy activities such that daily noise dose does

not exceed the action level
It then gives the formula. Scenario 2 continues -

b. Ensure that an analysis of the daily noise exposure has been carried out by an
approved noise officer; and

C. Ensure that all casual workers sign book detailing the type of work carried out
while on casual employment.

The sort of work done on farms really does not lend itself, for instance, to ensuring that an
analysis of the daily noise exposure has been carried out by an approved noise officer. The
suggestions offered are not practical and I can only join with my colleagues in saying that the
Government should look again and genuinely try to produce something that is practical and
not of great expense to the industry.
On the other hand, I must say that I agree - and I think we all do - that deafness is a great
affliction for people and that it is proper that measures be taken so that they do not suffer
unduly from it. However, these things must be done in a practical way.
HON MURRAY MONTGOMERY (South West) [8.31 pm]: I thank those members who
supported the motion. I remind the House that it started on 9 May when notice was given of
my intention to move for disallowance of the regulation. Any discussions after that date
were obviously instituted because notice of the motion had been given; the motion itself was
not debated until June. However, I stress that notice of the motion was given because the
Parliamentary Secretary said that discussions had taken place on, I think, 22 May between
the Western Australian Farmers Federation and the Minister or Government officers, and
pressure had begun to be applied.
Hon Tom Stephens: I am also told there was earlier correspondence.
Hion MURRAY MONTGOMERY: I am sure correspondence started because of the
introduction of the regulations. It really means that consultation should have taken place
before June. As I said before, one cannot concertina 10 years of negotiations into a matter of
weeks. I was interested to hear the long list of participating members to those discussions
over 10 years, which was read out by the Parliamentary Secretary; however, at no stage was
either group representative of the farmning community involved directly with the Government
in those discussions. That demonstrates that it does not matter how wide the net is cast in
negotiations, it can always be cast a little wider. The unions were involved in the
negotiations, as were representatives of Government and, of course, those peak bodies that
are well known to industry groups within the city. However, the existence of rural
communities is sometimes forgotten, and that is where the Government has its direction
wrong. Perhaps it should have cast its net a little wider.
Throughout the debate my colleagues on this side of the House have spoken quite well on the
issue but no-one has mentioned that education has a role in this matter. In fact, education
should be the prime, driving force in ensuring that people recognise that hearing problems
exist in the workplace and are associated with the workplace. We do not need a
sledgehammer to break the workplace or to break somebody by way of a financial
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commitment, but that is the effect of this legislation and the regulations. The Parliamentary
Secretary has said that it is the Act which provides that a cost will be involved, but the Act
can be used only with the regulations. If there is no prescribed workplace the Act has
nowhere to go. I am sure the farming community could be removed from the meaning of
prescribed workplace in the regulations, and I believe the Government should examine and
confirm this.
I congratulate the Government on having carried out the survey. It indicates that problems
exist in some instances but it is a reasonably good survey, although it is only a guide. The
document does not give hard and fast decibel levels, and some machines will vary from the
levels shown, but all industries should look at it. However, it does not indicate what can or
cannot be a prescribed workplace.
It has been said that we are able to identify farms that may or may not fit within the
prescribed workplace guidelines, and as there are farms which do not fit into those areas or
guidelines of the regulations we should therefore eliminate all fanning communities from the
regulations. That could be done by way of regulation, according to advice that I have
received, and I am sure that at some stage the Minister would have had similar advice that a
prescribed workplace can be an area other than a farm or part of a farm. One could take that
further, but I am sure the regulations could be used in that way. I asked the Parliamentary
Secretary earlier whether he would table the document.
Hon Tomn Stephens: The answer is yes, and if the President will give me advice I will table it
immediately.
The PRESIDENT: Hon Tom Stephens cannot table it now.
Hon Tom Stephens: I will table it at the first opportunity the President gives me.
The PRESIDENT: The member can table it as soon as Hon Murray Montgomery sits down.
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: I was interested to learn that piggeries were the one area
identified as a noisy area within the document, and to note that the Farmers Federation was
not supposed to represent the horticulture and pig raising industry.
Hon Tom Stephens: Not typically.
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: I am also sure that many pig farmers would be interested
to know that they are not represented by the Farmers Federation even though they hold
membership. It is a little like the union movement, in which just 30 or 40 per cent of the
work force is actually represented.
Hon Tom Helm: Good heavens, 30 or 40 per cent! Come on, comrade, rethink your figures.
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: Frankly, that figure is more than it deserves.
Several members interjected.
The PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: Around 60 per cent of farmers are represented by the
two fanner organisations - it may even be a little higher.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: That is with two organisations. That brings the figure down to
30 per cent with one of the organisations.
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: I will not enter into an argument about the figures, but
one of the organisations is larger than the other.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: At least your figures are consistent.
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: Representations have been made by fanning
organisations to attempt to ensure that sanity prevails by requesting that the Government
redraft the regulations to makes rules that would allow commonsense to prevail. I am glad
that Hon Fred McKenzie said that commonsense should prevail because that is not the case
at the moment. These regulations bludgeon people, particularly in rural communities. I am
sure that some industries would not know about the regulations, even though the peak bodies
may be aware of them. Some industries may claim that they were not surveyed or informed
about the regulations until it was too late. Such industries will be disadvantaged by the
regulations.

4254 [COUNCIL]



[Tuesday, 10 September 199 1125

H-on Sam Piantadosi: What about the poor old worker? Is he relevant?
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: If the member wants to say something, he should speak
up. I cannot hear him; this place has affected my hearing.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: You are the one who needs the protection, in more ways than one.
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: Obviously some members have not been listening to the
arguments, because they have understood neither the debate nor the costs involved with the
regulation. Employees will suffer as a result of the regulation because a few will be out of a
job. I am sure the member will be happy to hear us say that -

Hon Sam Piantadosi: You would rather see people suffer. We know your track record,
Mr Montgomery.
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: I am pleased that someone knows my track record.
Recourse to other avenues will be available for people to gain workers' compensation, such
as compensation for the loss of hearing. That would not be precluded from happening if
these regulations were disallowed.
In summary, enough has been said during the afternoon and evening and does not need
repeating. Therefore, I move that the regulation be disallowed.
Hon TOM STEPHENS: I seek leave to table a document mentioned in my remarks this
afternoon.
Leave granted. [See paper No 666.]
Question put and a division taken with the following result -

Hon George Cash
Hon E.J. Chariton
Hon Peter Foss
Hon Barry House
Hon P.11. Lockyer

Hon J.M. Berinson
Hon J.M. Brown
Hon Cheryl Davenport
Hon Reg Davies
Hon Graham Edwards

Ayes (12)
Hon Murray Montgomery
Hon N.R. Moore
Hon P.G. Pendal
Hon Wfl. Stretch
Hon Derrick Tomnlinson

Noes (13)
Hon Kay Hallahan
Hon Tom Helm
Hon SiL. Jones
Hon Carry Kelly
Hon Sam Piantadosi

Hon DiJ. Wordsworth
Hon Margaret McAleer
(Teller)

Hon Tom Stephens
Hon Bob Thomas
Hon Fred McKenzie
(Teller)

Pairs

Hon Muriel Patterson
Hon Max Evans
Hon R.G. Pike
Hon I.N. Caldwell

Question thus negatived.

lHon T.G. Butler
Hon John Halden
Hon Mak Nevil]
Hon Doug Wenn

HUMAN REPRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGY BILL
Report

Report of Committee adopted.

POST-SECONDARY EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS (TITLE AND DEGREES)
BILL

Second Reading
Order of the Day read for the resumption of debate from I I June.
03567-2
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Discharged - Standing Committee on Legislation Referral
HON N.F. MOORE (Mining and Pastoral) [8.50 pm]: I move -

That -
(a) the Order of the Day for the second reading of the Bill be discharged; and
(b) the Bill be referred to the Standing Commrittee on Legislation.

The Bill seeks to prevent institutions from using the tidle "university" other than those
institutions which have been established as universities by legislation. The corollary to that
is that there can be no university unless Parliament agrees to set one up. By Parliament, of
course, I mean the Government must agree to its being set up. I wonder whether that is the
most appropriate way to establish a university. The Bill also seeks to control the use of the
word "degree" in order that it is not used by people in an unscrupulous manner. On the
surface, the Bill would appear to be supportable when one reads the second reading speech
and considers what the Government seeks to do with the legislation. Clearly, we do not want
a situation in Western Australia where unscrupulous organisations sell bogus educational
qualifications to unsuspecting students. One can read about some tertiary institutions in
other parts of the world, especially in the United States, which have very poor reputations
and which virtually sell degrees to students who do not do very much Work or learn very
much about their field of study. Situations happen in other parts of the world that we seek to
prevent happening here. I have an open mind about the Bill. I am not sure whether the
approach being adopted by the Government to overcome that problem is the most
appropriate course.
At present one can establish a university in Western Australia without legislation.
Nonetheless, all current universities, both public and private, have been set up by Statute.
Recently Notre Dame University was established by the passing of a Bill through Parliament.
It was nor a requirement of law to do that. However, it was done for reasons relating to
raising funds and to establishing credibility gained from being set up through an Act of
Parliament.
Neither is it necessary for universities to have their courses accredited- It is therefore
possible for our existing Sttute-based universities to conduct "Mickey Mouse" courses and
there is no way that can be prevented. Over the last few weeks I have asked the Minister a
number of questions about this matter and it has become my understanding that the
universities we set up in Western Australia can do the things the Minister is trying to avoid;
that is, running courses that will be best described as "Mickey Mouse". A Bill such as this
will not necessarily correct that problem. We need to go another step further and ensure that
the courses are accredited by a competent organisation- Perhaps the Bill attacks the problem
from the wrong direction. Maybe control of the curricula and the courses is more important
than control of the word "university".
As I said earlier, I am not wedded to either approach. We can go along the path the Minister
suggested by saying a university can be established only under legislation. Alternatively, we
can go down the path which says it does not matter what an institution calls itself pmovided it
offers courses accredited by a proper organisation. I am not sure which is the correct
approach. I thought about this matter long and hard before I decided to make a
recommendation to the House that the Bill be sent to the Legislation Committee for
consideration.
The Bill also allows post secondary education institutions, which will not be universities
after this Bill has being passed - assuming that happens - to award degrees provided the
degree courses offered have been accredited by a person approved by the Minister. That is
the approach I believe this Bill should take. Under this Bill it is possible for a post secondary
educational institution, which is not a university, to award a degree Provided the degree has
been accredited by an organ isation approved by the Minister. However, it does not give the
post secondary educational institutions the right to award higher degrees, even with some
discretion by the Minister. In fact, dhe Bill specifically excludes any discretion on the part of
the Minister regarding awarding degrees such as a Masters Degree.
The Australian Institute for University Studies is affiliated with the Curtin University of
Technology and conducts courses essentially for overseas students in Australia. That
institute has argued that the Minister should have the discretion to allow it to award higher
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degrees. Again, I have an open mind about chat. I am not sure whether it should be allowed
to award higher degrees. That is the sont of issue the Legislation Committee should look at.
I would also be interested in whether that arganisation could give itself that title under this
legislation. The word "university" is included in that title and the Bill precludes any
organisation which is not a university from alluding to the fact that it may be a university.
Therefore, because the Australian Institute for University Studies is not a university I suspect
that the Bill may require the institute to change its name. 1 would be interested to know the
answer to that question.
As members will be aware, once the Bill is given a second reading it has essentially been
agreed to in principle. The changes one can expect from a Committee investigating a Bill
after the second reading are more in relation to detail and technicalities rather than to
principle. I am not sure whether the principle of the Bill is correct as I have endeavoured to
explain in my comments tonight.
By way of a quick recapping of what I have said: Firstly, I am not sure that the Bill attacks
the problem of bogus institutions and bogus courses from the right direction. I am not sure
whether controlling the word "university" is the way to control the problem or whether
controlling the courses that have been offered is the way to solve the problem. Secondly, the
Minister's discretion in allowing non-universities to award degrees is something about which
I have an open mind and I would be interested to take evidence from people in the field about
their views on this matter.
The Standing Committee on Legislation has established a reputation for itself which gives
me confidence in moving that this Bill be referred to it, Having been involved in a
subcommittee made up of members of the Standing Committee on Government Agencies
and the Legislation Committee to look at another Bill, I find it is an encouraging way of
looking at legislation. In my experience too many Bills pass through the Parliament too
quickly and do not receive the sort of scrutiny they are entitled to receive. By taking
evidence from people who are directly and sometimes vitally involved with the issues
contained in legislation, the Legislation Committee is able to obtain points of view which
may be different from members of the House. Therefore, while this Bill is not one of
monumental significance, it is a very important Bill and has an important question of
principle attached to it.
Another of my concerns which might help to indicate the areas which might need to be
looked at more closely is that, if it is necessary, as this Bill suggests, for legislation to be
passed to establish a university and, by extension, in order to get legislation passed we have
to get the Government to agree to it, if a Government were opposed to private universities as
a matter of principle, it could say to anybody wishing to set up a private university that it
cannot do so because the Government would not pass the legislation in the Parliament. That
could prevent a private university from functioning in Western Australia simply because of
the ideological views of the Government, which may not consider the capacity or the ability
of the private institution to provide a university education for its students.
It should not take long for the Legislation Committee to consider this legislation. Only two
or three issues need to be looked at. I strongly recommend to the House, therefore, that it
agree to my amendment that the Bill be referred to the Legislation Committee so that it can,
in a fairly short time, report back to the House on the issues I have raised.
HON KAY HALLAHAN (East Metropolitan - Minister for Education) [9.05 pm]: The
amendment moved by Hon Norman Moore to the Post-Secondary Educational Institutions
(Tidle and Degrees) Bill should not be agreed to and I call on the House to defeat it.
Hon Norman Moore referred to the reputation of the Standing Committee on Legislation. I
listened carefully to him and waited for him to say whether it was a positive or negative
reputation. I would be happy to give him a view about that, although I believe members of
that committee do their work with genuine goodwill. Nevertheless, I think it is up to the
House to decide what goes to the commitee- In that regard, I believe the matters to be
considered by the House tonight are fairly straightforward and had members been interested
in this subject, they could have liaised with sectors of the community which could have
advised them regardless of which political side of the fence they are on. They could then
have achieved the same input as they seek to achieve through a time consuming and delaying
process of referring the matter to the Legislation Committee. I am sorry if I give the
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impression that I do not appreciate the good work that members of that committee do.
However, I think chat often the work that is put into char committee is ill-directed and ill-
considered.
I will now deal with the substance of the matters to which the member has referred in support
of his position. There are two reasons for wanting to limit the use of the words "university"
and "degree". The first is a very strong concern that is growing in Western Australia that
there is an absence of any control over private institutions which may choose to call
themselves a university and may then offer a degree which debases the value of degrees and
undermines the standing of our universities as they are currently constituted under State
legislation.
Hon N.F. Moore: Nobody argues against that.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon D.J Wordswonth): Order! I ask Hon Norman Moore to
come to order. I advise the Minister that we are debating the amendment and not the original
question. I have allowed her to stray a little, but she should return to the subject of the
amendment that the matter be referred to the Legislation Commtyittee.
Hon KAY HALILAHAN: I am sure that is sound advice. However, the previous speaker
outlined in detail his reasons for moving the amendment. I therefore feel that 1 should
outline clearly the objections which I believe will convince members that this matter can be
dealt with adequately during the Commi~ttee stage and therefore it is not necessary to refer it
to the Legislation Committee.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: The Minister will have to be very careful because
Hon Norman Moore was speaking to the second reading motion before he moved his
amendment.
Hon KAY HALLAHAN: I accept the Deputy President's point of view and refer him to the
comments made by I-on Normnan Moore who referred to the unstrupulous people who may
want to use the word "university" or "degree" and who may want to issue bogus degrees to
what he termed "unsuspecting students". That could happen- That is what we do not want to
happen and that is why we need some legislative protection to prevent it happening. We
know that people work hard to earn their degrees and we do not want those degrees devalued
by the proliferation of degrees which are offered by self-proclaimed universities and which
do not equate to the degrees from universities that we have established in this State by
legislation. Wider interests than just our community interests will be dealt with in a later Bill
which is to come before this House. We need to look after our reputation when it comes to
full fee paying overseas students. They are a very significant income earner for this State.
We provide education to emerging nations. However, we cannot do that if those nations lose
confidence in the degrees and qualifications that we offer, and members are aware of some
significant failures in that regard in this State.
The Western Australian Office of Higher Education is composed of the Vice Chancellors of
the University of Western Australia, Cowan University, Curtin University of Technology and
Murdoch University; and it is their considered opinion that this legislation should come
before the House. It is on the basis of their advice and concern that the Government moved
to bring this legislation to the Parliament to control the terms "university" and "degree".
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon D.J. Wordsworth): I hate to say so, but I find chat the
Minister's comments have nothing to do with the motion before the Chair. I ask the Minister
to confine her comments to the argument that the Bill should not go before the Legislation
Committee.
Hon KAY HALLAHAN: Thank you for ybur advice, Mr Deputy President; I will do so.
This Bill has been widely canvassed by the Commonwealth and State working party on
higher education and the Australian Education Council. itris a matter which has been widely
debated in the community. An expression of concern has come from other States. New
South Wales, Queensland, South Australia and Victoria have enacted similar protective
legislation for the titles "university" and "degree" and this State should follow suit.
The Deputy President's advice precludes me from talking about the fact that the Bill is not an
anti-private post secondary education institution piece of legislation. The legislation contains
a provision for degrees to be awarded subject to a process of accreditation which is approved
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by the Minister for Education. I find thar Hon Norman Moore has a preoccupation with
protecting the interests of private businesses over the rights of the individual and does not
necessarily consider the protection for individuals as being important. It is not anti-private
sector it provides protection for it and gives it the opportunity to put forward suitably
accredited courses for people to study. At times it is difficult to achieve consensus on
legislation before the House and in some instances there may be reasons to refer a Bill to the
Legislation Committee. This case is both very simple and clear, and the advice is
unambiguous. For that reason there is no point in our referring this legislation to that
committee.
I regret that this motion is before the House and I trust members will take the opportunity to
read the legislation, my second reading speech and the comments I have made tonight and
not support it. I ask members to vote against this motion because it is an exercise which will
take up the time of the members of the committee and their time could be better used on
other legislation or in their electorates.
HON DERRICK TOMLINSON (East Metropolitan) (9.14 pm]: I support the motion
moved by Hon Norman Moore. The question of what is a university and what is a degree is
a particularly complex one. It is superficially deceptively simple. If one looks at the Statutes
of all the universities in Australia one finds that nowhere is a university or a degree defined.
The simple definition that each of them seems to work on is that a university is what a
university does. One of the distinct characteristics of a university is to confer degrees. I take
for example the Statute of the University of Western Australia and refer members to section
29 of that Act which states that subject to the Act and the Statutes the senate may cause
instruction to be given to students, whether matriculated or not, and may grant degrees,
diplomas and certificates in any branch of knowledge in which degrees, diplomas and
certificates are granted in the United Kingdom and may also confer honorary degrees or
other distinctions on approved persons. Therefore, the basis of defining a degree is really a
comparison of what is offered in the United Kingdom; in other words, what was offered
when this Statute was enacted in 1911 by the Universities of Oxford, Cambridge and
London.
The Minister wants members to believe that this is a very simple question to resolve; we
simply make a law anid that becomes a degree and that becomes a university and nobody else
may offer a degree or use the name university. in 1965 the Martin report on the future of
tertiary education in Australia made a recommendation which was adopted by the Menzies
Government for a new breed of tertiary institutions which were going to be deemed to be
equal to, but different from universities. These were to be institutes of technology. When
these institutes of technology or technical schools as they were referred to in the report were
eventually legislated, firstly, by the Commonwealth Government and, subsequently, by the
State Government, they came to be called colleges of advanced education; they were not
universities. The name was conferred upon other institutions by separate Statutes. The name
college of advanced education was taken for these alternative, equal to or equal but different,
institutes. Because they were equal to universities considerable pressure then mounted for
those institutions to be able to confer degrees. When they were first established they had
conferred associateships and diplomas-
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I would like to draw the attention of the member to the
motion before the Chair.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Thank you, Mr Deputy President. I accept that, but I want
to impress upon the House that this is not a simple question and for that reason it would not
be resolved by a simple debate because the advice the Minister has been given by the Office
of Hligher Education is that this is the way to go.
When this matter of colleges of advanced education wanting to confer degrees was pursued
in the late 1960s, a decision was made to establish a committee of inquiry. The committee
eventually recommended that the colleges of advanced education be allowed to confer
degrees, but those degrees be for accredited programs and courses. It set up a complex
national organisation for accrediting such courses and such degrees. We have here a Bill
which in clause 5, for example, states -

A post-secondary educational institution, other than a university, shall not award or
confer a degree except in relation to a course of study accredited by the Minister or
by a person authorised to do so by the Minister.

4259



Who is the "Person authorised to do so by the Minister"? In 1969 when the decision was
made that there should be accredited degrees in colleges of advanced education a national
accrediting authority was established. That authority no longer exists. One of the questions
that the Legislation Committee surely would be asking is who is the "person authorised to do
so by the Minister"? In subclause (2) of the same clause we find the words -

unless the course has been accredited by the Minister or by a person authorised to do
so by the Minister.

That involves a complex question. It is a superficially simple question, but one which has
been teasing the minds of academics ever since Cardinal Newman's treatise published in
1852 "The Nature of a University". What is a university? What is a degree? Who shall
confer a degree? Who shall decide what a university is? It is generally recognised that the
community of scholars recognises a university and not a Statute - a piece of legislation that
says this or that is a university. I suggest that the complexity of these questions is such that
they should not be decided without a thorough investigation and the input of people well
versed in all of the problems that the superficial answers pose in this legislation. Therefore, I
support the motion moved by Hon Norman Moore that the Bill be referred to the Legislation
Committee.
Question put and a division taken with the following result -

Ayes (1)
Han George Cash Hon P.H. Lockyer Hon Derrick Tomlinson
Hon E.J. Chariton Hon Munray Montgomery Hon D.J. Wordsworth
Hon Reg Davies Hon N.F. Moore Hon Margaret McAleer
Hon Peter Foss Hon P.G. Pendal (Teller)
Hon Barry House Hon W.N. Stretch

Noes (12)
Hon 3.M. Berinson Hon Tom Helm Hon Bob Thomas
Hon 3.M. Brown Hon B.L. Jones Hon Fred McKenzie
Hon Cheryl Davenport Hon Carry Kelly (Teller)
Han Graham Edwards Hon Sam Piancadosi
Hon Kay Hallahan Hon Tom Stephens

Pairs

Hon Muriel Patterson Hon TOG. Butler
Hon Max Evans Hon John M-alden
Hon lEG. Pike Hon Mark Nevil
Hon IJN Caldwell Hon Doug Wenn

Question thus passed.
APPROPRIATION (CONSOLIDATED REVENUE FUND) BILL

Consideration of Tabled Paper
Debate resumed from 29 August.
HON GEORGE CASH (North Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) r9.26 pm]: This
is the second Budget introduced by the Lawrence Government. Members are aware chat it is
a Budget introduced at a time of record unemployment, record levels of bankruptcies in
businesses, increased levels of State debt and record levels of business losses by Government
enterprises. I have only to state off the top of my head three such enterprises, they being
responsible for the most recent losses suffered: The R & I Bank Ltd, the State Government
Insurance Commission and the Western Australian Development Corporation, with its
continued losses as the Government liquidates the assets of that corporation.
A close analysis of the Budget indicates that the Government has failed to address the need
for or deliver clear direction to Western Australia. This Budget is a document which fails to
provide economic grants and job creation opportunities for those currently unemployed.
Members would be aware that only last week in this House we discussed at length the
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probable level of unemployment in Western Australia. It was noted that presently
11.2 per cent of the population in Western Australia is out of work and more than 25 per cent
of Western Australia's youth is out of work.
The Treasurer stated in the Budget papers that this is a balanced Budget. That statement is
grossly untrue and a claim based on creative accounting. It is creative accounting at its best
for anyone to say that this Budget is balanced. A close examination of the Budget papers
indicates clearly that the Budget continues the trend of earlier Labor Budgets in that it is
laced with blatant deception in the Government's statement that it is increasing funds for the
various services that it provides. I refer in particular to law and order, health, education and
other service areas where it is clear from looking at the figures supplied and after checking
the consolidated revenue accounts against the capital works and loan accounts that any
statement that there has been an increase in funds in those areas is nothing more than a sham.
If a company which had to abide by the provisions of the Companies Code or other securities
legislation had a director who put forward to shareholders a director's report which contained
the same sort of deception and deceit as is contained in the speech made by the Premijer on
this Budget, that director would be hauled before the courts and probably gaoled for duping
the shareholders. That is the sort of deception that I claim is in the statements made by the
Treasurer in respect of the Budget she delivered in the other place, and indeed in the
documents tabled in this House the week before last. Nothing would give me greater
pleasure than to be able to rise in this Chamber and congratulate the Government for
bringing down a Budget designed to encourage the private sector, a Budget which challenged
the private sector into continued economic growth. Unfortunately, that is not the case. There
are no job creation opportunities of any particular merit in this Budget. It appears to me that
the unemployed have been forgotten. What we have is a Budget bereft of any initiatives and
one which fails to stimulate the economy. Rather than help the less fortunate in our
community, this Budget clearly imposes greater burdens upon their families. It is a Budget
in which the Treasurer admits that unemployment will get worse before it gets better; a
Budget in which the Treasurer shrugs her shoulders in respect of the current unemployment
problems that we have in Western Australia; a Budget in which the Treasurer appears to
indicate, in the words of a famous Prime Minister, "Life wasn't meant to be easy." Indeed
the Treasurer Of this State is about to prove, both to business and to the battlers, that that will
be the case in Western Australia over the next 12 months.
It is an appalling indictment of our society when it, our society, chooses to deny our senior
citizens a good standard of living; when it chooses to deny the homeless a roof over their
heads; when it chooses to ignore the unemployed and families in desperate need; and when it
chooses to deny hospital treatment to the sick. Why is that? In a society like ours in Western
Australia, where people pay high levels of taxation and encrust their Government to care for
those who are unable to care for themselves, it is not an indictment of society as such; it is an
indictment of the Government that people in need are left in desperate situations and in a
defenceless state. I challenge members of this House - and I see that the House is nearly full
to overflowing tonight as I make this reply to the Budget speech - to go down to the Hay
Street Mall and ask the ordinary taxpayers of Western Australia whether, if they had
$400 million, they would want it spent on a petrochemical plant or whether they would want
it spent on greater law arnd order facilities and more resources for the Police Force.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: They certainly would not want it spent on blue sky, Mr Cash.
Hon Tom Helm: They would look for jobs, Mr Cash.
Hon GEORGE CASH: If Hon Tom Helm had read the Budget documents he would
recognise, as I and other members on this side of the House have recognised, that this is not a
Budget which will stimulate the economy. It is not a Budget which will create job
opportunities. It is a Budget which unfortunately recognises that the high levels of
unemployment we face in this State at the moment will be with us for a considerable time. I
said earlier that I would be delighted to congratulate the Government if I believed that this
was a Budget which would stimulate the economy and offer some job opportunities to those
who are unemployed.
Hon Tom Helm interjected.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I would be more than happy to congratulate the Government if praise
was due to it.
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Hon Tom Helm: When was the last time you did that?
Hon GEORGE CASH: I do not know. It was probably a fair while ago, but that says
something about the way in which the Government has been managing the economy of
Western Australia. Even someone as tough as Hon Tom Helm from the north of the State
must be hurt as he moves around his huge mining and pastoral electorate in the north of this
State when he has to listen to the comments of ordinary taxpayers in this State and the daily
problems that they face in life as a result of the way in which this Government has
mismanaged the economy of our State for a considerable time.
I challenged Government members to go into the Hay Street Mall and ask whether the
Government should spend $400 million on a petrochemical industry. Another question we
might ask is whether we should spend $85 million to prop up the R & I Bank, or whether the
people in the community - that is the people in the Hay Street Mall - would not see that
$85 million better spent on feeding the hungry in this State rather than what has turned out to
be a very hungry bank. I know the argument is that the Government underwrites the
R & I Bank, and I recognise that requirement under the Act. I am not suggesting that we
should not back the R & I Bank, but if we ask a question about priorities, the community
would say that they would prefer that $85 million to be spent feeding the hungry rather than
the R & I Bank.
Hon Tom Helm: Or cutting the dole after nine months.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I am not sure what that interjection was meant to represent, but if
Hon Tom Helm was pointing out what a less than compassionate Government has done, he
was indicating that his Federal Labor Party counterparts have reduced dole payments to those
who are unemployed and that is causing distress and hardship to some sections of our
society. If we were to go into the city and ask the real people what they think about the
Budget and the current economic position, we would find that their priorities are very
compassionate. People would choose to help their fellow Western Australians through a bad
time. Presently we have a dispassionate Government prepared to help its business friends
through a bad time. That has been the record of this Government over a period of years. The
people will say that it is the taxpayers' dollars which the Covernment is spending. If they
had the opportunity to talk about priorities, they would talk about people and not about
backing rich business friends.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: What were your party's efforts prior to 1983 in that regard?
Hon GEORGE CASH: It is not unreasonable for Hon Sanm Piantadosi to pose that question
to me. Without wishing to duck the question, I must say that it is no longer 1983; it is now
1991. It is no good looking to the problems of the past; what we must do in this House and
in Western Australia generally is to star looking to the future.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: Let us look to the future.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I am pleased that at least there is some agreement between
Government members and me. This is not a compassionate Government, and that is clearly
indicated by the Budget papers. The Government wants us to believe that the Budget is fair
and reasonable; the best it could come up with in the circumstances. It is fair to say that we
are experiencing a recession introduced by the Federal Labor Government, assisted by this
State Labor Government. It is a recession that poses some tragic consequences for the
Western Australian community. I have already stated that unemployment is now running at
11.2 per cent in Western Australia. Obviously the Government is happy to accept that
situation as we move into this fiscal year. One does not need to look only at the statements
of the Premnier of this State; the national newspapers have recently carried reports indicating
that the Federal Treasurer, John Kerin, have confirmed that he believes that unemployment
has yet to peak in Australia. The Federal Minister for Employment and Training, John
Dawkins, has been criticised by some Federal colleagues for telling the truth, saying that
unemployment will certainly rise. I should also mention the contribution that Hon Kay
H-allahan has made in this State in the employment and training arena -

Hon N.F. Moore: That won't take long.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The point is that only last week in this House the Minister for
Employment and Training, Hon Kay Hallahan, confirmed that she saw no hope for the
unemployed in Western Australia during the next 12 months. That is, she saw continued
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high levels of unemployment and she could not make any suggestion to improve the
situation.
When considering this Budget, I should refer to the horrendous debt levels in Western
Australia. This is a Government that talks in millions of dollars lost and hundreds of
millions of dollars it does not seem to be able to find. Were I to question people in the Hay
Street Mall they would not understand how this should have happened. They realise that if
they do not make their repayments on their houses or cars those items will be repossessed;
yet if the Government does not meet its commitments - and I refer in particular to the huge
mnultimillion dollar payments that must be made by the Stare on its bad business deals -how
is the Government able to get away with it? The average person in the community cannot
understand the situation.
This is the largest Budget that the Western Australian State Government has brought down.
It has been brought down at a time when inflation in the last two quarters in Western
Australia has been running at a negative rate. Yet, even with that negative inflation rate, this
Budget will reduce Government services rather than increase them.
The Budget also provides for a loss of 3 000 jobs in the Public Service, and for a $50 million
loan to pay those people so that they can leave Government employment. As I have said
before, it is certainly not a Budget that stimulates employment opportunities. The
Government seems to think that it is wise to borrow money to sack people. In the past I have
referred to the need to ensure that Government service is not only efficient - that is, lean and
hungry - but also effective. It would be hypocritical of me to say that I do not support a
thinning out of the Government service ranks but it is a strange situation when in a time of
negative inflation in this State, at a time of reduction in Government service, the Government
will borrow money to dismiss persons employed in the Government sector. Any housewife
or any business proprietor in Western Australia could have done a better job with the Budget.
The Government claims that it has balanced the Budget, but to the community of Western
Australia it is a Budget that just does not add up. The other day a great song and dance was
made about the fact that through the Budget the Minister for Housing will create additional
jobs in the building and construction industry.
H-on Sam Piantadosi: And it will.
Hon GEORGE CASH: When the Minister for Housing was put to the test, Hon Sami
Piantadosi will recall, he revealed that rather than 9 000 new jobs being created - as had
previously been claimed by both the Minister and the Government - the funding allocated
would generate about 9 000 jobs, not new jobs -

Hon Sam Piantadosi: Because the industry is depressed at the moment.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Of course it is depressed- Not only that, the building industry on the
private sector side has almost pround to a halt.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: It was depressed in 1982-83 and it recovered -

Hon J.M. Berinson: Is the Leader of the Opposition talking about residential building as
opposed to non-residential?
Hon GEORGE CASH: Residential.
Hon J.M. Berinson: And does he say it has ground to a halt?
Hon GEORGE CASH: It has almost ground to a halt.
Hon J.M. Berinson: What are the figures?
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Attorney General will remember that two years ago there were
2 100 starts for Homeswest. Last year's figure was down to 600 starts.
Hon J.M. Berinson: What are the overall figures for residential?
Hon GEORGE CASH: I reckon that the Attorney General probably has a research team
which is bigger than mine -

Hon 3.M. Berinson: It is the member who is advancing the proposition that the building
industry has ground to a halt. I expressed surprise.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I am surprised that the Attorney General is surprised.
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Hon J.M. Berinson: We will get around to answering in derail.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Government does not have any understanding of the rate of
unemployment in Western Australia or the rate of construction in the building and
construction industry.
Hon I.M. Berinson: All I have asked is for you to substantiate your statement.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Two years ago there were about 2 100 starts on I-omeswesr
residential homes; last year there were about 600.
Hon I.M. Berinson: And this year?
Hon GEORGE CASH: This year ir is estimated that the figure will be 1 900 but a question
mark hangs over the funding of 700 of those homes.
Hon J.M. Berinson: In whose mind?
Hon GEORGE CASH: If the Attorney went into his electorate - that is, the same electorate
as I have - and talked to people in the building industry he would find out.
Hon J.M. Berinson: What are the figures for non-Homeswest homes?
I-on GEORGE CASH: The Attorney would find out how depressed is the building industry.
I am surprised that a person with his background is not able to comprehend the tough times
that people are experiencing in the community.
Hon J.M. Berinson: I am not saying that at all. I am expressing surprise at the member's use
of the phrase "ground to a halt".
Hon GEORGE CASH: All that does is confirm that this is not a compassionate Government,
because it is not in touch with the real world or the community at large.
Hon J.M. Brown: A lot of compassion from the Government has been shown in my
electorate.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I am pleased to hear that.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: You should differentiate. The cottage industry has at least maintained
a steady flow of work. it is the comnmercial side that has gone down the gurgler over the last
two years. I will be speaking with a group from the building industry on Thursday evening.
I extend the Leader of the Opposition an invitation to that meeting.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (lion Garry Kelly): Order! Such invitations should be made
outside the Chamber.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I do not need to meet with friends of Hon Sam Piantadosi in the
building industry to find out whether the building industry is -

Hon J.M. Berinson: - grinding to a halt.
Hon GEORGE CASH: - grinding to a halt, or whether it is working at full capacity. I speak
to those people almost every day of the week. They ring my office and tell me how tough is
the situation. They tell me also how Government regulations and other Government red tape
is strangling them.
Hon Sam Piantadosi:, I did not say "at full capacity"; I said at a steady flow.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The member should ask his constituents; he will find that the
industry is going backwards.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon Sam Piantadosi: Come with me on Thursday. T issue you an invitation.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I offer an invitation as well.
Hon GEORGE CASH: As to the reduction in Government expenditure, the Budget offers no
real incentives to business to take on additional employees. Were members to study the
figures they would see no relief from payroll tax, stamp duty generally, or on a multitude of
Government charges and licences that continually drag small businesses into the red - or
worse than that, into bankruptcy.
Members should consider the non-Government welfare agencies, Wesleycare and the
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Salvation Army in particular. They will note that the Budget does not offer job creation
opportunities, and that the Government has cut back funding for non-Government welfare
agencies by around $5 million. That might not sound much to a Government that talks in
multimillion dollars when it tots up its losses, but it is a huge amount of money for non-
Government welfare agencies. Funding is being cut back at a rime when such agencies are
under tremendous pressure to offer greater assistance to the community as a whole. Funding
to non-Government agencies is being cut back at a time when more and more people are
losing their jobs. Why should the Government chose to target non-Government welfare
agencies by reducing funding in that area? How can members of the Government sit by idly
and watch funding cuts to the Salvation Army?
Hon J.M. Berinson: Why are you still raising that when the position has been made perfectly
clear that the Salvation Army has received a considerable increase in funds? You are
pointing to the Miscellaneous Division vote only.
Hon GEORGE CASH: When I talk about reductions and reduced services the Attorney
General -

Hon J.M. Berinson: Do not misrepresent the situation.
Hon GEORGE CASH: In due course what I have said will be sent to the Salvation Army
and Wesleycare.
Hon J.M. Berinson: That has been responded to chapter and verse.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The agencies of Wesleycare and the Salvation Army do not believe
that this Government is compassionate because of the funding cuts that have been imposed
on them at a time when they are under increased stress as a result of the various demands on
them. The interesting thing is that for every dollar that will be cut from those agencies a
huge amount of dollars will be cut by way of voluntary support because the agencies are not
able to provide -

Hon J.M. Berinson: Surely Hon George Cash has seen the president's statement indicating
that funds to the Salvation Army have not been cut but have been increased.
Mon GEORGE CASH: Mr Berinson can carry on as much as he likes but all he has to do is
talkc to those agencies to get the facts.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Mr Cash ignores the facts in relation to the Salvation Army.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Why does Mr Berinson kid himself? It is almost the case that
Mr Berinson has not read the Budget.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Order! The Leader of the Opposition's
argument would be much better served if he directed his comments through the Chair.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The statements and interjections of the Attorney General indicate he
has either not read the Budget or, if he has, he has not understood it. Only last week the
Attorney General was advising the Royal Commission how he did not read some legal advice
that was made available to him, probably for exactly the same reason that he did not read this
Budget; namely, he does not want to know the facts.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Mr Cash is wrong on both scores.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Attorney General does not want to recognise the situation that
has occurred.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Do not let the facts disturb you, Mr Cash; they have not in the past and
there is no reason to change tonight.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Mr Berinson, can make his wisecracks about whether he has read
certain legal advice, or read and understood the Budget.
Hon J.M. Berinson: It is not a crack, it is a statement of fact. It would be nice if Mr Cash
came down to facts on occasions.
Hon GEORGE CASH: There are people in the community who are battling because of the
policies of this Government, and more than that they are battling because this Government
has cut back funding to non-Government welfare agencies. Mr Berm son knows that it is a
fact and it is not something that he will be able to run away with. If that were not good
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enough the Government has also cut back funding in the emergency finance area in the
amount of $1 million. For those members who are not sure what emergency finance is all
about, it is that $40 that someone needs desperately to keep the power on; itris $20 for a
person to buy food for his three children; it is those few dollars that save people while they
wait for a welfare cheque or some other support to arrive. It is hard to understand why this
Government would want to cut back in this area. So often we hear in this House how the
Australian Labor Parry is a caring political party, that this Labor Government is a caring and
compassionate Government. I invite members to read the Budget because this Government
spends more time saving its rich business mates than it does trying to protect the ordinary
battlers in this community.
Hon Fred McKenzie: Not any more. We have learnt the lesson. I am organising barbecues
again, and Hon George Cash can come if he likes.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I have a lot of regard and respect for Hon Fred McKenzie in this
House, and I would like to believe that this Labor Government has learnt its lesson. As
much as people like Hon Fred McKenzie and some of his colleagues on the Government side
are working to convince the Government that it needs to be more compassionate and to
recognise the battlers in this community, the Budget that was brought down only a fortnight
ago does not show that the Government has heard or heeded the message.
The other day I had an opportunity to respond to a question on the need for increased police
resources in Kalgoorlie. Members would be aware that Kalgoorlie is the electorate of the
Deputy Premier, yet even with the influence and power that the Deputy Premier no doubt
exerts over his Cabinet the police in the town of Kalgoorlie have had to abandon their
antitheft squad because sufficient manpower is not available. Those police have been
transferred to other duties. That has occurred in the electorate of the Deputy Premier.
Hon Bob Thomas: Who allocates police resources?
Hon GEORGE CASH: Hon Bob Thomas thinks he can nrip up the people of Kalgoorlie by
asking who allocates resources in this State. The manpower is allocated by the
Commissioner of Police but the commissioner cannot allocate resources if the Police Force is
not properly funded in the Budget. The comments of Hon Bob Thomas will be noted by the
people of Kalgoorlie.
Hon Bob Thomas: How come the number of people per policeman has gone down from
500 people per policeman to 400 people per policeman since we have been in Government?
Hon GEORGE CASH: Hon Bob Thomas should go to Kalgoorlie and knock on a few doors
in Hampden Street and tell the people that Kalgoorlie has adequate numbers of police
officers and that the Governiment is funding the Police Force in the proper way.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Would you deny that we have the highest ratio of police to population in
Australia?
Hon GEORGE CASH: Does the Attorney General deny that the Government promised
1 000 additional policemen in the first three years of tie current Government?
Hon J.M. Berinson: Compared with the 10 additional policemen in the years of your
Government.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Attorney General does himself a disservice by carrying on in
this way.
Hon J.M. Bermnson: Are you not prepared to take a simple proposition into account. We
acknowledged that we could not allocate an extra 1 000 policemen and that we needed to
extend the period; however, we have the highest proportion of policemen in the country.
Hon Peter Foss: They are actually going around inspecting Ministry of Education buses
because the Ministry of Education has got rid of all its bus inspectors and is using the police
instead.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I support the interjection by Hon Peter Foss.
Hon .M. Berinson: You need all the help you can get.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Perhaps the Attorney General should go to Kalgoorlie and knock on
a few doors in Hamnpden Street and ask the people whether they think the Government is
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adequately funding the Police Force and providing sufficient manpower for that community.
The Attorney General knows what the answer will be. The answer will be no, because the
Government is not doing anything about the problem.
Hon L.M. Berinson: And what do you suggest should be done? Should we override the
commissioner?
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Government is breaking promises and it should furnish the
commissioner with adequate resources so that he can appoint sufficient police officers
around the State. Hon Joe Berinson should remember the Government's promise to allocate
an additional 1 000 police officers during the first three years of this Government. He should
remember that the Government actually broke that promise within the first 12 months and
extended that time to four years.
Hon J.M. Berinson: I think the commissioner had something to do with that.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Is the Attorney General saying that the commissioner is the one who
asked the Government to break its promise?
Hon J.M. Berinson: Yes, as I remember it. The position was they could not cope with the
numbers.
Hon GEORGE CASH: That is news to me. I did not know that the Commissioner of Police
was the one who approached the Government and said that he wanted the 1 000 additional
police officers to be appointed over four years rather than three years. Irrespective of that,
the bad news for the, people of Kalgoorlie and the people of Western Australia is that not
only will there not be 1 000 police officers allocated over four years but also the Government
has now admitted that it has broken its second promise and will not be able to appoint an
additional 1 000 police officers in this parliamentary year.
Hon Peter Foss: Never spoil a good promise by carrying it out. You can use it again the next
year.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Hon Peter FOSS reminds me of the situation with the General Loan
and Capital Works Fund. The figures show that prom-ises have been made year after year,
the expenditure has been cardied over and the promises have never been fulfilled. Money
does not have to be spent if the promises are not fulfilled. The Government need only keep
making promises.
Hon Peter Foss interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Hon George Cash is on his feet and we
should hear his remarks in relative silence.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Without reflecting on your comments, Mr Deputy President, I agree
that it is probably best for Government members to stop interjecting because all they do is
prove the point which I am suggesting.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! That was not a Government interjection.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I am referring to the earlier interjections made by Government
members when they continually put their foot in their mouths by acknowledging that the
Government was continually breaking promises. Nothing would please me more than to be
able to praise'the Government for a Budget which created job opportunities in this State, but
regrettably this Budget does not. Only two weeks ago Hon Bob Thomas, the member for the
South West Region, related his own experience as a person who had been unemployed for a
short time. He also referred to his brother who is currently unemployed. I would be pleased
to commiend this Government if it could find a job for that man. However, regrettably the
Budget as it is framed wiil not reduce unemployment in this State. There was a time when
one could reasonably argue that the Australian Labor Party was prepared to stand by the
unfortunate in our community, to look after the sick and to protect those people who were
facing hard times. However, the Budget this year indicates that things have changed in the
Australian Labor Party; it is no longer a compassionate political party.
Hon Bob Thomas: Ho0w many jobs will Greiner knock out in his Budget?
Hon P.G. Pendal: New South Wales is the only State in Australia which is in front.
Hon GEORGE CASH: By the time I have Finished Hon Bob Thomas will have worked his
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way around the world. I began by saying that this Government is not a compassionate
Government and Hon Bob Thomas immediately led us into a comparison with another State.
As much as I would like to find employment for all people in Australia I continue in my
humble way and say that I would be happy if we could only reduce the numbers of
unemployed in Western Australia. We should not worry too much about the other States.
H-on Bob Thomas would do well to stand for Federal Parliament and sort out a few problems
on the Federal front. We are not members of the Federal Parliament and I acknowledge that
some of the crazy policies of the Federal Government have had an impact on the economy of
Western Australia.
Hon Bob Thomas: Are you opposed to the cutting off of the dole after nine months?
Hon GEORGE CASH: Why does Hon Bob Thomas ask something as silly as that? I am
attempting to make a rational speech and Hon Bob Thomas is wanting to know whether we
should be paying people unemployment benefits. Of course we should pay people
unemployment benefits. Does he not understand that?
Hon Bob Thomas: You support cutting off of the dole after nine months?
Hon GEORGE CASH: In due course Hon Bob Thomas will be able to get to his feet and
explain how he will reduce unemployment in this State. Let me make my position very
clear: I believe that this current Budget does nothing for the battlers in our community, and
day by day the number of battlers in this State increases. I said earlier that this was a
$5.68 billion Budget; regrettably, it Offers no incentives to business generally. I took the
opportunity, after considering the Budget, of looking at some of the imposts with which this
Government has burdened business and the community as a whole since it came to office in
1983.
Hon Bob Thomas: Do you want to go back three years before that? Your taxes and charges
went up by an average of I11 per cent a year.
Hon GEORGE CASH: As soon as one highlights the inadequacies of this Labor
Government, members opposite refer to the situation before a Labor Government came to
office in 1983 and comment on the problems that were generated by the Liberal or
conservative Governments. It is clear that Hon Bob Thomas is either making his
contribution to the Budget debate now, or his incessant interiecting indicates that I have hit a
raw nerve. I do not want to keep looking at the past to determine the mistakes that have been
made. I would like to look towards the future and be able to offer the young people of this
State a future. When talking to the 14, 15 and 16 year old students in the schools in my
electorate, I am made aware of their fear that when they finish school no job opportunities
will be available. They are not interested in any problems which occurred prior to 1983.
They are interested in the future. In nine years' time we shall reach the year 2000 and the
children who are currently nine years old - who were infants in 1983 - will be looking for
jobs. They do not want parliamentarians such as Hon Bob Thomas carrying on and dragging
up negative factors.
Hon P.G. Pendal: The Labor Party will give them compassion.
Hon GEORGE CASH: There is no compassion in this Budget; perhaps the Government is
saving its compassion for the next Budget. There is a need to create job opportunities. I am
sorry if that is foreign to Hon Bob Thomas, but it is a fact of life. I referred earlier to the
comparative rates of State taxation in the years 1983 and 1991. Stamp duty on mortgages
was 150 per $100 in 1983; by 1991 the whole structure had changed significantly and the
rate on the first $35 000 is now 250 per $100 and 400 per $100 on amounts over $35 000.
Stamp duty payable on motor vehicle transfers was $1.50 per $100 in 1983, and is $3 per
$100 in 1991; that represents a l00percent increase during the term of this Labor
Government. T'he State fuel levy in 1983 was 1.850 a litre; by 1991 the State Labor
Government had increased that levy to 5.670 a litre. What is Hon Bob Thomas's response to
that? Is he proud of that record of increases?
Hon Bob Thomas: When we came to power -
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon J.M. Brown): Order! It would be better if there were no
questions and answers across the Chamber.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Another substantial increase which has added to the State's revenue
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in the period between 1983 and 1991 applies to the tobacco tax, In 1983 the tax was
12.5 per cent of the wholesale cost, and by 1991 it had increased to 50 per cent of the
wholesale cost. Do members recall the promise made by the former Premier, Brian Burke, to
the liquor industry prior to the 1983 election? He asked people to vote for him and promised
that no increase would be made to the tax on the liquor industry. In 1983 that tax was
seven per cent on the wholesale cost and today it is 11I per cent. So much for the promises of
the Labor Government.
Hon Pit. Lockyer What about the racing industry?
Hon GEORGE CASH: As Hon Phil Lockyer reminds me, the racing industry has suffered.
Does Hon Bob Thomas know what the Labor Government has done to that industry? It has
almost destroyed the industry. It has put people out of work.
Hon Fred McKenzie: That is incorrect. There have been no increases in taxes on the racing
industry.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I was referring to the damage done to the industry by this
Government. Hon Fred McKenzie should talk to the people at the Western Australian
Trotting Association and the Western Australian Turf Club and ask what they think of the
current State Government. The people in those industries will not have a bar of the
Government.
Hon Fred McKenzie: That might be so, but it is not the Government's fault.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I will not argue about whether it is the Government's fault, but it
reinforces the argument that this Government has lost sight of the little people - the battlers -
and that it is not a compassionate Government. It is soft on crime. Approximately
25 000 people assembled outside this Parliament telling the Government that they were not
satisfied with the Government's actions in relation to law and order. Most people in the
community believe that the Government is soft on crime.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I have already referred to the questions and answers
and we have overcome that problem. However, it is discourteous for cross-chatting to take
place between Government members and Opposition members while the Leader of the
Opposition is on his feet, and I ask members to cease.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Do Labor Party members know how much the financial institutions
duty cost prior to 1983? It cost nothing because the tax did not exist. When the Labor
Government came to power in 1983 it introduced the financial institutions duty. In 1991 that
is imposed at the rate of 60 per $100, and it raises a huge amount of revenue for the
Government.
Hon Fred McKenzie: Remember, there was no Seniors' Card then.
Hon GEORGE CASH: That is correct, but the Seniors' Card in itself has not been sufficient
to alleviate the suffering that many in our community now face. I say to members in all
honesty that this is not a compassionate Budget. I never thought I would see the day that a
Labor Government would cut funding to non-Government welfare agencies. I cannot believe
it. Members need only talk to Wesleycare or the Salvation Army, or any of the other welfare
organisations, and listen to the stories they have to tell. I am an adult, and I think I have seen
a bit of hardship and suffering in my life, but it makes me wonder what it is all about when I
talk to those agencies and find out about the sorts of people who are fronting up to them
every day of the week and are being turned away because this Government has reduced their
funding.
Hon B1L. Jones: They probably would not have received any funding under your
Government.
Hon GEORGE CASH: That is not the sont of response that these people are looking for.
Earlier tonight Hon Beryl Jones was good enough to let us into the secret that she has two
homes in one of the most affluent suburbs in Western Australia, so quite clearly she does not
really need the $40 that some people need to pay their power bill so that their electricity will
not be cut off.
Hon B.L. Jones: I am saying that under your Government it would be a darn sight less.
Hon P.G. Pendal: She does feel compassion for them.
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Hon GEORGE CASH: Feeling compassionate and being compassionate are two different
things, as Mr Pendal would know. The people who are fronting up are looking for
compassion, not just words, which is all that this Government seems to be able to offer them
at this stage.
Another area that I want to touch on is the increasing debt that this State now faces. I am
pleased that my colleagues in the other place have moved for the appointment of a Select
Committee to investigate the significant increase in State debt during the period of this
Government. The current debt, according to some figures which were given to me the other
day, is now $9.5 billion. That is the equivalent of $5 500 for every man, woman and child in
this State. I find it almost incomprehensible that in a Budget of $5.68 billion, the highest
money amount that has ever been recorded for a Budget in this State, the Government has
actually reduced services, borrowed $50 million to sack 3 000 Government workers, and
significantly increased its debt during the past year. If we continue on this track, this State
will be as badly off as is the Federal Government when it comes to its borrowings. Unless
we take radical action to reduce our borrowing programs, this State will be in for a difficult
time in the future. I hope that, if that Select Committee is established, it will be able to
quantify the exact amount of debt in this State. I happen to believe the State debt is in excess
of the $9.5 billion that I mentioned, and it is important that the exact amount be quantifiled
and that the Government give consideration to an action plan designed to reduce that debt
over ensuing financial years. That will not be easy, but it is a challenge that will face not
only this Government in the limited time that is left to it as the Government of this State but
also the MacKinnon Government when it comes to office after the next State election.
We must ensure in this State that we frame Budgets in such a way that they will generate job
opportunities. Economic growth is the only thing that will reduce unemployment in this
State. All the regulations and red tape in the world that this Government is so good at
imposing on businesses and the community in general will do nothing to create jobs. I have
to admit that a few more inspectors will be required to enforce the regulations which are
imposed, but they will not create economic growth. They will do no more than strangle the
business community and, regrettably, increase the number of unemployed in this State.
[ ask the Government to have regard for the battlers in this community. There is no doubt
that during a financial year Governments have what may be termed accounts which show
overs and unders; that is, over expenditures in some areas and under expenditures in another.
Members will be aware that adjustments are made during the year from the various accounts
within the Government system. I say to the Government in respect of those non-Government
welfare agencies which it has slaughtered this year that the opportunity is there for the
Government to rectify the situation, because in rectifying the situation it will at least be
paying some regard to the battlers in Western Australia, those people who, as a result of
Government policy in this State, now find themselves unemployed and who, in the words of
both senior Federal and State Labor Government Ministers, have very little chance of getting
a job in the next 12 months.
While I support the Budget, I trust that the Government will take on board some of the
comments I have made.
HON E.J. CHARLTON (Agricultural) [10.25 pm]: As every member is aware, we will
have the opportunity, staring from 19 September, to deal with the Budget in detail during the
Estimates committees. Members will have the opportunity to examine with a fine toothed
comb the items contained in the Budget. I hope every member in this place will take
advantage of that opportunity, and I trust that when members do that, they will get the
answers in specific detail from the Ministers and the chief executive officers of the
departments. It is important that members make themselves totally au fait with the detail of
the Budget and how the round figures that have been applied in the Budget papers will be
expended across the State. It is one thing for us to be told that a Budget allocation will be
7.9 per cent up on last year's allocation or will be down on last year's allocation. The
important fact is where is the money actually going, where will it be spent, and what will be
the results and the consequences of that expenditure. In respect of the revenue raising side of
the Budget, we need to know where the money will come from to give the Government the
capital which it needs to dish out.
I endorse the comments made by just about every commentator who has looked at the
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Budget when they say that there is nothing special about this Budget. That is not meant to be
a criticism. The fact is that the Government has looked at its possible income and at its
expenditures and said, "There it is; we will just have more of the same." The Government
has not taken any new initiatives or introduced any fundamental changes to its current policy
and philosophy to inject into Western Australia a new and vigorous approach in even the
smallest detail to generate a new industry, business or opportunity. Whatever we have had
for the last five years, we have got a Budget or a plan that will continue along the same lines.
If we take that as the fundamental element of this Budget, then this Budget is a status quo
Budget. When a business is going bad, it will look at all the options which it has to try to
change direction, and at how to maximise the opportunities to change the income spectrum
so that it can do something positive to improve its operations. However, we have not seen
anything like that in this State Budget.
If I were to have any criticism at all of the Budget, it would be that it is a status quo Budget
which lacks any new initiative. Like Hon George Cash. I would have been very pleased to
see some new industry. We have all heard about Yakabindie and other mining developments
that are simply stalled because of red tape. We have also heard the Minister for State
Development make a very welcome announcement about the sites which have been allocated
for industry in areas across the State rather than concentrating it in one area. The National
Party endorses that concept, but it is only words. The Minister says he thinks new industrial
development should go in those areas, but we have heard nothing about whether the
Government will fast track the planning provisions which will split that area into the various
types of land required for various industries. The Government has not said that when a new
industry comes along it will ensure that services such as water, transport, power, energy and
so on, which are part of development, will be provided forthwith. That is the role of
Government. The problem experienced in the past was that the Government became
involved in the business side of things and got into trouble, and neglected the very areas it
should have taken care of. Some examples are the minesite at Cataby and the Muchea
refinery where, instead of putting in the road, rail and power services that would have
maximised that operation on site, the minerals have been canted along the Brand Highway,
with a detrimental effect to that road, and the railway bridge in York has been closed. A
public meeting is to be held in Qilairading on Friday because it seems that at least two roads
will suffer several million dollars worth of damage as a result of maintenance work not being
carried out on that bridge. The Government is responsible for all of these infrastructure-type
services and I have given examples of both an existing service and a new development where
the Government has failed to provide such services.
Returning to the specifics in the Budget, the Education budget requires some comment. Prior
to the last election the then Premier, supported by the current Premier, offered to lead
Western Australia to greater prosperity and promised parents of school children an education
allowance of $50 and $100 respectively for primary and secondary students. The
advertisements said how much better off they would be - they did not say the money would
be taken out of the Education budget and therefore no maintenance would be done on
schools in the ensuing four years. Part way through the game the Government changed the
rules and means tested the education allowance. Now, in this latest Budget, we find that the
money has gone altogether. What an absolute hoax that education allowance was! There is
no better illustration to the public of Western Australia of what a farce it was. We stood in
this place at that time and tried to point out to the Government what a hoax it was, but it was
a vote grabber. People throughout the State believed they would receive $50 or $100 for
each school child, which would help them along, but the extra charges the Government has
introduced have probably cost them $500 or $600. On top of that, when the money had gone
the Government took the education allowance away. That is the clearest case we will ever
see of funding being given under false pretences.
Now we hear from one of this Government's Federal counterparts, the Federal Minister for
Employment. Education and Training, Mr Dawkins, that an additional $300 million of
taxpayers' money will be spent to ensure that children leave primary and secondary schools
with a higher standard of literacy than is currently the case. The main focus will be on
English. Mr Dawkins proposes the great innovation of a new testing procedure which will
determine whether children need extra help before they leave primary or secondary school so
that they can take their rightful place in the community. How often have we said over the
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years that damage was being done to children's basic education because when they left the
education system they could not take their place in employment or in a tertiary institution
simply because they could not read or their English was not up to scratch? And what did we
hear from the Government? We were criticised and howled down. The Government said
that we did not understand, that this was a new method of teaching whereby children could
learn at their own pace, and that it was much better for them. Anyone who had children or
who cared knew that it was a complete failure and would not work, and now the Federal
Minister has had this grand idea which will revolutionise education; that is, that children will
be tested to determine whether their English is of an acceptable standard. That will cost an
extra $300 million. The way Mr Dawkins put it. one would think he had had the idea only
yesterday and that as a result of his idea everybody will be better off, or will not be thrown
on the scrap heap or into the waste disposal, or whatever terminology he used. I welcome
the fact that this rest will be done, but surely it could be part of the normal education
procedure. I do not know how it will cost the taxpayers of Australia an extra $300 million
and I would be interested to hear how other members view that. I would have thought that
the State Ministers would ensure that that test was part and parcel of what is required in the
education system. However, we all know that is not the case and we will probably get into a
philosophical debate on that point because we have had a revolution in the education system
over the last few years.
I will digress to take up a point which has been brought to my attention, and I challenge
members to check this, if they can. When it comes to training student teachers, how far does
a lecturer go in promoting - and that is probably the relevant terminology - the notion that
student teachers or teachers have a social justice responsibility, so that when they are dealing
with people they must take into account that the culture of an Aboriginal child is different
from that of a white child and therefore they must be treated differently? That was one of the
comments made to me. If what I am saying is not accurate, I hope that the situation can be
determined through some inquiry. I do not know how we find this out. Do we ask the
Minister or the respective universities or teaching colleges about the basic requirements for
lecturing to students who will become teachers in this State's education system? The list
goes on about the actions of some of these lecturers in relating what they consider to be the
role of teachers.
I wonder where one draws the line, because lecturers lecture and students respond on the
basis of those lectures. If a student does not respond in the exams or assignments to the
content of the lecturers, he or she will be marked accordingly. We have a system loaded
with hairy fairy extremists who have some barrow to push in some extreme way. These
people are promoting what they consider to be social justice, yet this has very little to do with
the mainstream of education on which they should be concentrating. The end result over
recent times is that we have produced people from our education system who are not in a
position to take advantage of the opportunities that tertiary education should provide.
We also have the latest you beaut scheme announced by the Premier regarding years 11 and
12. This will ensure that the education provided will be -
Hon Bob Thomas: A pathway.
Hon E.J. CHARLTON: Is that the terminology? It will provide a "pathway" to industry and
employment. I do not know why we must establish half a dozen schools around the State to
follow that pathway when it is absolutely obvious and logical that the whole education
system should be founded on workplace needs. Why we must establish trials is beyond me.
It is simply a matter of talking to employers.
I had the opportunity of doing so recently at the Dowerin field day, at which I spoke to
company representatives. They said that they found it almost impossible to employ people
who had come through the education system, partly as a result of the barriers they came up
against. A young person may want to do an apprenticeship, but does that young person have
the capacity to move into the business and pick up the threads? However, the burdens placed
on such an employer are so great that it is a long time before the employer, and the young
person, can take advantage of the opportunity.
This pathways trial will cost $2 million. I do not know why we should do that rather than
give a directive to the Minister for Education and say, "Look, get out there and talk to people
in industry about what courses should be offered in every school. " I hear school personnel in
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country areas say, 'We have been doing that for years in our area. We realise the
opportunities available in ibis area for our students and we are trying to lead the students to
these opportunities.' Why it should Lake $2 million to follow the same procedurt, is beyond
me. When will we see any benefit from that investment? This program is a political hoax
which is designed to give the impression to the people of Western Australia that all of a
sudden the Government has thought of a revolutionary idea which will change the direction
of education opportunities in this State. However, this is a logical development which is a
matter of commonsense.
Hon Bob Thomas: Do you conduct trials on your farm?
Hon E.J. CHARLTON: The member is not comparing apples with apples. When one wants
to make a change in direction, one conducts trials to see whether it will work. However, the
secondary schools curiculum program is not a change of direction - it is a logical and
commonsenise approach that should be the way to go forever and a day. When industry
expectations change, education should change with it. If a trial were conducted for two or
three years, industry would have changed upon its completion. In that case more trials would
need to be conducted and one would end up like the dog chasing its tail.

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Schools have been doing that for a hundred years.
Hon ElJ. CHARLTON: Yes. It is a matter of keeping up with the times and being in touch.
I now refer briefly to the vital area of transport. Over the last few years we have seen the
downgrading of Western Australia's transport industry. This issue can never be discussed in
isolation from the influences of the Federal Government. However, between the State and
Federal Governments over the last three or four years we have seen Westrail's operations cut
back to an absolute minimum. Every time we debate this subject, Hon Fred McKenzie tells
me how bad the situation is and how certain aspects of the industry should not be
deregulated. I acknowledge that he has done his best to make the Government aware of the
critical importance of rail -

Hon Fred McKenzie: I am still trying, and I indicate to you that the new policy direction is
dreadful. You should make sure you read it closely and ensure that your farmer friends put
in a submission. The Government has not acted on the document - it is absolutely dreadful.
Hon ElJ. CHARLLTON: I thank the member for his comments. I have a copy of the
document which went to all members' offices last week. The National Party intends to
respond with a submission. I give my word that I will encourage every person I come across,
be he a private individual or someone from an organisation, to respond to it as well. Perhaps
this is an opportune time to give another warning to the Premier: When she went to the last
Premiers' Conference I was in Melbourne and I heard her speak on national radio and
television. On arriving in Sydney prior to the conference she said that she would not enter
the national transport licensing scheme. However, the next day she entered into the scheme
in principle. The national licensing scheme involved two zones. The situation would be
created in which New South Wales and Victoria will comprise the eastern Australia zone and
Queensland and Western Australia will be the No 2 zone. The National Party is totally
opposed to that proposal. Western Australia will never maintain a fair position if it goes into
a deal with our Eastern States counterparts. That is based on past party politics. New South
Wales has a conservative Government which is in favour of the proposal. If I lived in New
South Wales I would be in favour too because it is about raising money from all over
Australia and putting it into Sydney and Melbourne. It is about spending money on the
Hume and Newell Highways. I have heard stories about the great benefits to Sydney and
Melbourne, and how 140 semitrailers a day travel along those highways. I am not all that
interested in how many semitrailers travel along those highways; I am interested in how
much road and rail freight costs in Western Australia. If that proposal means collecting
revenue from licences in Western Australia and then Canberra deciding how it will be
distributed, members can be sure that most of it will go to Sydney and Melbourne. That is
where the votes are, and it does not mailer whether it is a Labor Party or a conservative party
in Canberra, that is the system. I suggest to Labor members in this place that they chew the
ear of their Premier and leader not to enter into that agreement unless she has an absolute
cast iron guarantee - which she will not get - that the cost will never be increased. Mr Brown
will not give her that guarantee.
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Hon J.M. Brown: That is H-on Bob Brown.

Hon E.J. CHARLTON: I will have a little more to say about that as the weeks go by. I
heard the Premier being questioned vigorously on that commitment after she opened the
Dowerin Field Day. She said that she had not made a final commitment yet and that a lot of
water was still to go under the bridge. There sure is! Road transport in Australia currently
contributes $3.5 billion to the Federal Government. The Federal Government spends a total
of $4.5 billion on roads. Three quarters of the total spent on roads is already contributed by
road transport. This new you-beaut scheme will ensure massive increases in the cost of road
transport which must be passed on and which will make the industry less viable and will get
rid of more jobs and increase the cost of living in country areas. It is the reverse of what
should happen. The Federal Government is not satisfied with the 25 per cent excise currently
gathered from fuel sales going back into roads. It is an absolute rip-off that is taking place
across Australia but the Federal Minister for Transport, Hon Bob Brown, tells us what a
wonderful idea the national rail freight scheme is, and Premrier Lawrence agrees to it in
principle.
I want to raise a concern about the Water Authority. Hon Ernie Bridge is spot-on and he has
the support in principle of the National Party in promoting the water pipeline from the north
of the State. The Government has allocated $50 000 for a feasibility study, and I have one
observation to make. Australia has 800 000 unemployed; that is, registered unemployed
receiving unemployment benefits. Senator Walsh and other knockers from the Eastern States
make ludicrous statements about the pipeline being a waste of money. Australians spend
$700 billion a year paying people to do nothing, and here we have an opportunity to bring
water from the north of the State to South Australia and to Perth, not to mention all the
inland areas along the way. We could make the scheme labour intensive. That is not a
penalty on the unemployed; it would be giving them an opportunity to be actively employed
and to get some experience in a range of work activities. We have the technology required.
We built a pipeline from Mundaring to Kalgoorlie 100 years ago, but now people say that we
cannot build this pipeline, that we cannot afford it. We could afford to build a pipeline to
Kalgoorlie 100 years ago yet in 1991 we cannot afford to bring water from the Ord River! It
is ludicrous and it is an indictment on everyone who is knocking the idea or not totally
supportive of it. We should not be talking about it, we should get started on it. We should
have those people producing pipes on site and actively engaged in building the pipeline.
They would become good citizens and they would be doing something for the greatness of
this nation rather than sitting around getting into trouble or becoming totally frustrated with
their lives and demoralised because of the lack of opportunities. The National Parny fully
supports that proposal and we should be putting acid on the Federal Government to put up
the money and telling it to let us get on with it and get the project up and running.
Finally, I have a comment to make about the Standing Committee system and the allocation
by the Government to the operation of Parliament. The money that has been lost in this State
in the last eight years is an indictment on this Government - we have talked about it almost
every day since 1987-88. While we have these airy fairy Dreamntime deals that have never
borne fruit we have allowed Parliament House to remain neglected. We can look down the
Terrace and see cranes above building sites, but not one thing has been done in Parliament
House. We have people parked in the corridors of Parliament House. Everybody has been
frightened to spend any money on Parliament House in case they get some adverse publicity.
We have Standing Committees of this place that are giving greater access to the people of
this State to find out what is going on in the Parliament - which is their right and privilege -
and we should make every effort to ensure they get that opportunity. We cannot make the
Standing Committee system work properly because there is no money. There are not only no
facilities, but also no funds to allow these committees to operate. I understand why the
Government has not been in a position to spend money on Parliament House - that is
obvious - and that situation is an indictment on all the Premiers since Brian Burke. A
decision was made and every member of Parliament from whatever party said, "Let us get on
and upgrade Parliament House for the good of the State." It was not done and it is an
indictment on the Government that it was happy to waste money in so many ways yet it was
not prepared to spend money on Parliament House. If it had done that at least we would
have something to show for that expenditure whereas we will go into the next decade with
the same old facility. The Press room is a national disgrace. It is a crying shame that we
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have allowed so much money to slip through our fingers in this State. I support the motion
and look forward to the opportunity of further scrutinising the Government's activities.
Debate adjourned, on motion by Hon Tom Helm.

ADJOURNMENT OF THE HOUSE - ORDINARY
HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Leader of the House) [ 11.00 pm]: I move -

That the House do now adjourn.
Adjournment Debate - Wheatbelt Hardship

HON MARGARET McALEER (Agricultural) [11.00 pm]: Before the House adjourns I
want to remind members that a number of districts in the wheatbelt are now entering a very
critical time and situation. Today I received a letter from the Mt Marshall Shire Council
which clearly illustrates that. The letter is brief and states -

The purpose of this letter is to advise you of the severe hardship that most farmers in
this Shire now face.
We are all aware of the current bleak outlook for agriculture, particularly wheat and
sheep. Added to our present problems is the fact that due to the lack of rain over the
last few weeks many crops in this area have deteriorated to the stage that they will not
be worth harvesting. Lack of rain has also resulted in little growth of pastures and
farm darn water supplies are virtually non-existent.
The present seasonal outlook for the remainder of 1991 is frustrating and is adding to
the already serious financial pressures our farmers are under.
Unless there is widespread substantial rain in the next few days most crops in our area
will suffer severely with the prospect of little return from grain this season.
I would be happy to provide further information. Perhaps you can offer some advice
or assistance!

Hon J.N. Caldwell: I thought Hon Margaret McAleer and Hon John Caldwell did a rain
dance.
Hon MARGARET McALEER: It is quite true that there were helpful rains in a number of
districts over the last weekend. However, in most cases the rain provided an extension of
hope by enabling crops to survive for another week or two. On the whole, and especially in
places like Mt Marshall, the rain was not sufficient unless it is followed by further rains. The
rain was already too late in some areas and there will be no crops. I know that Mt Marshall
may seem remote to some members who have not visited there. However, many districts
from Wiluna to Esperaince are in a very desperate situation. There has been a lull in the last
few months since the crop was sown. I believe that that lull has been due partly to the
Government's guarantee of $150 a tonne for wheat which gave a feeling of security to many
farmers and to their creditors and bankers. However, whatever money the Government
eventually pays for wheat, the fact is that there will not be any crop for which to pay it.
Hon J.M. Brown: Like Queensland.
Hon MARGARET McALEER: Yes, I am glad to say that this State does not seem to be in
nearly as bad a state as Queensland. However, the situation here is becoming critical and it
is still too soon to say how the season will end. A below average crop in large sections of the
wheatbelt will certainly put large sections of the industry into a disastrous situation. The
banks have been restrained and have done their best in the preceding months but everything
they have done is predicated on farmers' getting an avenage crop. If there is not an average
crop throughout the wheatbelt, we will have to take much more serious measures than have
been taken already. So far, all the Government has done is to provide this guarantee for
wheat and that will be ineffective if there is no crop on which to pay it.

Adjournment Debate - Soccer - Government Funding
HON SAM PIANTADOSI (North Metropolitan) [11.05 pm]: I need to clarify a matter
referred to in a question asked by Hon Barry House of the Minister for Sport and Recreation
this afternoon. The member quoted part of a letter which was addressed to me by the
Minister. I draw members' attention to the matters referred to by Hon Barry House when he
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asked about a promise to provide assistance to the tune of $80 000 to soccer in this State
once a development plan had been drawn up and once soccer in this State came under one
umbrella organisation. I understand that the question asked by Hon Barry House was
provided to him by people from the Soccer Federation of WA, which is the old body from
which the professional clubs have withdrawn and from which other clubs will withdraw in
the next two months. In answering Hon Barry House's question, the Minister was correct in
saying that soccer, including junior soccer, amateur soccer, professional soccer and referees,
is all under the umbrella of the Soccer Administration of Western Australia. Thar
organisation is affiliated with the Australian Soccer Federation, which in turn is affiliated
with FIFA, the world organisation. The WA Soccer Federation is now the outside body and
is not recognised by either the national or international bodies.
John Foster, the secretary of the Soccer Federation of Western Australia and, I think, Joe
Lacerenza, the president, have been playing politics by trying to manipulate things for their
own advantage and trying to discredit not only the PSL, but also the Minister and the
Ministry of Sport and Recreation. I have shown a number of letters on this matter to
Hon Barry House and I am sure that he is much better informed on the position. In one letter
I clearly indicated to Mr Foster that he was quite clearly playing politics by wanting to use a
letter that the Minister had forwarded to me to disseminate to the clubs and which I had
forwarded to him because I thought his organisation was the one that should informi the
clubs. Rather than doing that, the federation was determined to find out what other funding
was available for sport from the Government and whether an amount of $750 000 which the
Government had promised to soccer was still available. That got away completely from the
statement that the Minister made in his letter to me. I solicited that letter from the Minister
because the federation was telling clubs that no money was forthcoming from the
Government and the only way to put that issue to rest was to get an indication from the
Minister as to what was the case. The letter which I had the secretary of my club send to
John Foster stated -

Further to your letter in reference to Government Grants to Soccer, I wish to advise
the following.
That the Hon S Piaritadosi has had no further discussions with the Minister and does
not envisage discussing the matter in the near future as, it states in the Ministers letter
that when a satisfactory development plan has been implemented and that soccer
administration is under one governing body, then will be the time to discuss the
matter further.
Should you have further queries it may be advisable that you contact the Minister
personally.

The Minister in his letter to me made it quite clear. He said -
Following your enquiries I have had discussions with the Ministry of Sport and
Recreation in relation to the problems confronting soccer and I am happy to confirm
the following conditional support:
Providing soccer is able to bring its administration under one governing body and
subject to a satisfactory development plan being worked out, I am prepared to offer a
dollar for dollar subsidy on salaries and assistance with the development plan up to
80,000 over the next financial year.
It would be necessary for these matters to be further discussed with myself and the
M inistry of Sport and Recreation.
I thank you for your concerted efforts on behalf of soccer and I trust that the
difficulties confronting its administration can be rectified and that people can get
back on with the job and developing the game.

The Minister made his position quite clear; that is, that when the soccer administration was
brought under one governing body and a satisfactory development plan was put in place
financial assistance would be provided. The I I professional clubs withdrew from the Soccer
Federation of WA Inc and joined the Soccer Administration of WA which is a body affiliated
with the Australian Soccer Federation which, in turn, is affiliated with the world authority,
FIFA. All that has happened. Hon Barry House may realise from the background I have
given that that is the case.
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I point out that the grant of $80 000 has been allocated by the Government to soccer in the
past but because of the way in which the game was administered the grant was withdrawn.
One of Hon Barry House's former colleagues was the president of the Soccer federation in
1989 and 1990; 1 refer to Hon John Williams. He will be in a position to advise
Hon Bonry House that the federation lost its Government grant because of the bad shape of
its administration. The grant was for a coaching position and for administration. The grant
of $80 000 is not a new grant; it is an existing grant. When the development plan was
implemented and submitted to the Government the Minister decided to reconsider the club's
submission and made provision for those grants to be reinstated.
In discussion with Hon Barry House I understand that he will ask a further question in
respect of the appointment of Ian Cox as Chief Executive Officer of the Soccer
Administration of WA. The same question has been asked by Mr John Foster who was
appointed chief executive officer of the federation. Mr Faster alleges that the appointment of
Mr Cox was done under somewhat shady circumstances. I place on the record for the benefit
of members and Western Australians that before Mr Foster considers the circumstances
under which another person was appointed to a position with the SAWA he should look at
the circumstances under which he was appointed to the SFWA. A number of applications
wvere received for the position he now occupies and not one of those applicants was given an
interview. The board did not make a decision in respect of MrT Foster's appointment.
Mr Foster was a member of that board and with his colleague, the president of the federation,
they made the decision, in a telephone conversation, to appoint Mr Foster to the position and
the board did not know that the appointment had been made. If Hon Barry House wants to
take that matter further I suggest we arange a public meeting with Mr Foster and Joe
Lacerenza to clear up the question of jobs for the boys.

Adjournment Debate - Rugby League - Sponsorship
HON BARRY HOUSE (South West) [11.15 pm]: I thank Hon Sam Piantadosi for
clarifying the matter. I asked the question earlier today to obtain information. I thought that
was what question time was all about. I am grateful for the two minute answer from the
Minister for Sport and Recreation and for the 10 minute answer from Hon Sam Piantadosi. 1
am now better informed.
I refer to rugby league. Last night I had the pleasure of attending the Rothmans Gold Medal
presentation at the Sheraton Hotel at which the Deputy Premier and some of my colleagues
were also present. It was a professionally organised function and was an outstanding finale
to the rugby league season. The Rothmans Gold Medal is awarded to the fairest and best
rugby league player for the season. The function provided me with the opportunity to
consider the full implications of a piece of legislation which has been foisted on the people of
Western Australia by this Labor Government. The legislation put a dampener on an
otherwise excellent evening. To explain the situation I will quote from the foreword in the
program which was written by John Devine, the General Manager of Rothmans of Pall MA
(Australia) Limited -

Rothmans has enjoyed an association with Rugby League for several decades, and
1991 marks the second year of the Rothmans Gold Medal for the best and fairest
player in Perth. Unfortunately it is also OUr last Rothmans Medal sponsorship in WA.
The Government's recently enacted Tobacco Control Act bans us from future
sponsorship of occasions such as this evening.
At this time when development of the WA Rugby League is progressing with the
game's ever-increasing popularity, it is regrettable that the WA Government's
intervention will prevent Rothmans continued support for the game. Through this
new legislation, the Government will take over the sponsorship role, a move we see
as hypocritical and non-Australian in its assault on the democratic freedom of sports
to select the commercial sponsor of their choice.

Some members may say that that commentary is irrelevant given that it is written by the
General Manager of Roth mans. However, I must take heed of the comments of the speakers
at that function and of other people in attendance. I will refer to the comments of the guest
speaker, Johnny Roper, who is an Australian rugby league legend, former Australian captain
and currently a member of the Australian selection panel. He paid tribute to Rothmans'
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enormous contribution to rugby league aver a long period and he spoke about the value of
rugby league in providing opportunities and challenges for and inspiration to young children,
which is something that is close to my heart. The Rothmans' sponsorship ensured that
players were provided with proper facilities, training gear and coaching and that the game
was promoted properly. He said that in his long association with the game he had not heard
of one player being asked to promote a tobacco product. The point is that all of this could
now be lost and it has certainly put the sport of rugby league in limbo in Western Australia.
It has come at a time when rugby league in Western Australia must consolidate and expand
its activities, possibly entering a national competition in 1993-94. Now all those plans for
rugby league are up in the air. It is asking the following questions: Will the Government
replace the sponsorship and, if so, in what form?
Certainly, if the Government is to do that it cannot offer the type of support that Rothmans
has offered rugby league over a long period. That type of support goes well beyond the
dollar value of the sponsorship. If the Government cannot or will not provide support to
match that previously given by Rothmans, what will happen? Most people would argue that
that is not the Government's role. The Government's role in supporting spant is to provide
assistance, firstly, with facilities and, secondly, with development programs. Its role is not to
control sport.
I thought it was worth raising tonight as an example of a sport which this Government's
legislation has placed in a very invidious position. It has placed that sport in jeopardy, and at
the moment it cannot offer a solution to its problems. The Deputy Premier must have felt
very uncomfortable as the honoured guest of a sporting group which he knows his Labor
Government legislation has placed in jeopardy.
Hon J.M. Berinson: A number of your colleagues, to their credit, supported that legislation.
Hon BARRY HOUSE: I conclude by wishing the sport of rugby league well, and I hope it
can overcome the severe blow it has been dealt by the Labor Government in Western
Australia.
HON GRAHAM EDWARDS (North Metropolitan - Minister for Sport and Recreation)
[11.22 pmn]: I should take this opportunity to respond to the second sport related error heard
from the Opposition in this House today. Firstly, a major gaff was made by Hon Barry
House in relation to soccer. He clearly demonstrated that he knows nothing about that sport,
its administration, or where it is going. It is also clear that he does not have the capacity to
attend one evening of presentations in the sport of rugby league and come away from it an
expert on the sport. Indeed, it seems he has come away from chat presentation evening
somewhat confused. On two or three occasions he referred to the fact that the sport is in
jeopardy in Western Australia because of legislation passed by this House. The Government
does not have the numbers in this Chamber. That legislation was passed with the support of
members from both sides of the House. Also, the Government does not control the Health
Promotion Foundation; an independent body controls it and makes funding decisions.
The member also said the sport is now in limbo. What nonsense; it has never looked as
healthy nor had a healthier future than it now does. Indeed, rugby league now has the
opportunity to gain a position in the national competition, but when people such as
Hon Barry House talk the sport down in this House they do the sport a great disservice at a
time when it is trying to sell itself to the national competition. The member should read the
newspaper which contains another point of view from a person who attended the presentation
last night because that confirms not the comments he made but rather the comments I made;
that is, the sport has a great future in this State. It will have a far healthier future, free from
the insidious sponsorship of a tobacco company. It now has a choice.
Hon Barry House: It does not have a choice.
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS: It has a choice from a range of sponsors. I have met with
people in the sport and they have not cried in their sleeves. They are promoting a positive
sport with the very optimistic view of finding replacement sponsors. Some sponsorship will
come from the Health Promotion Foundation. Rugby league in this State has as its No 1
supporter the Deputy Premier of this State. He is proud of that title and I have no doubt that
he will give strong support to rugby league, just as I and this Government will. Rugby
league has a great future in this State.
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Adjournment Debate - Robe River Iron Associates -Cape Lambert Services
Liquidation

HON TOM HELM (Mining and Pastoral) [11.26 pm]: This House should not adjourn
until I have brought to its attention an article which appeared in The West Australian this
morning concerning Robe River Ion Associates and the maritime unions in this State.
Anyone reading that report would recognise that it is the samne old story, which the
Opposition talks about. The Opposition must be embarrassed that Robe River has gone
down the track of industrial thuggery in this State, of choosing litigation rather than
negotiation, and of being beaten once again but continuing with appeal after appeal. It has
gone one better this time. Of all the underhand activities in which it could become involved,
this one takes the cake. After the High Court had rejected Robe River's appeal, and made an
order that its subsidiary company Cape Lanmbert Services must employ the workers in
accordance with the award, Robe River decided to liquidate Cape Lambert Services.
Hon P.G. Pendal: They play you blokes at your own game and it is not the first time.
Hon TOM HELM: Senator Cook described Robe River as the Builders Labourers Federation
of the corporate world. What happened to the BLF? A howl went up to deregister and fine
the union, and to flog the members, cut off their arms and so on. Now Hon Phillip Penda] is
saying that the company is playing the unions at their own game. The union's game has been
to comply, from the beginning it has gone through the legal steps required of it.
Hon E.J. Charlton: Just as the ACTIJ did when the last wage deal was handed down. It went
to the Government and got another deal.
Hon TOM HELM: The rules governing industrial relations in this country give people that
opportunity. They do not give the unions the opportunity to liquidate companies, which has
happened in this case. [ draw to the attention of this House that the statement by Senator
Cook about Robe River being the BLE of the corporate world was attributed in the article in
The West Australian to Wally Pritchard, the State Secretary of the Seamen's Union of
Australia. However, that has been corrected in a later edition of the newspaper. The attitude
of the Opposition in this State and Federally towards the activities of the BLF is quite
different from its attitude towards the corporate thugs in this State, although there may be
some similarities in the way those groups behave.
Several members interJected.
The PRESIDENT: Order! I am getting angry with members who keep interjecting; they are
not capable of standing and making speeches but they interject on others who want to speak.
Hon TOM HELM: Perhaps Hon Phillip Pendal will be less confused if I refer to a copy of a
newspaper article under the heading "Tug launch plagued by comedy of errors". The article
describes the launching of the Pannawonica at Cape Lambert by Cape Lambert Services
which was attended by Sir Charles Court and his wife - a strange thing in itself. One can
understand why I want to reveal to the House why he was a welcome guest at the opening
ceremony for that tug. Hon Phillip Pendal will understand and should be able to recognise
the thuggery that took place. When the tug got to Cape Lambert the crew wrapped a
mooring rope around the propeller seven times. This was a brand new tug manned by non-
union members. I do not know whether one is allowed to use the word "scabs", but that is
what the crew are described as in the north west. The matter went to the High Court which
made a ruling that union members should be employed again. What happened? Cape
Lanmbert Services went out of business.
Hon ElJ Charlton: Who tied the rope around the prop?
Hon TOM HELM: The crew. They did not know what they were doing. They were not
seamen- One should look at why recognition of these people would be apparent to the
Opposition. If one looks to the rundown on Cape Lambert Services done by the State's
corporate affairs department one finds a name we see every day and one which makes me
sick. Thie appointed auditor is Hendry Rae & Court, 5th Floor, 245 St George's Terrace.
Therefore, Sir Charles Court was at the launching of the tug and somebody else called Court
was the company liquidator on 6 July after the High Court handed down an order for people
to return to work. When they did so they found they had no firm to return to. Let us look at
the company that took the place of Cape Lambent Services. That company is called Westugs.
Its place of business is 30 Poinciana Place, Wickhami, which happens to be owned by Robe
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River Iron Associates. When did it commence operation? It was on 9 July, the same day as
Cape Lambert Services went into liquidation so it did not have to fulfil its obligation as
directed by the H1igh Court.
Hon E.J. Charlton: It sounds as though it learnt from this Government and what it did in its
deals with SCIC and the superannuation board.
Hon TOM HELM: If Hon Eric Charlton thinks the matter is funny he is wrong. This matter
is being addressed by all maritime unions, not just the Seamen's Union of Australia. This
time Robe River Iron Associates has gone too far. Tomorrow there will be a demon stration
outside the Parliament. Members of the Opposition should attend and listen to what is said.
Tomorrow will be the start of a picket line outside the headquarters of Robe River hron
Associates on St George's Terrace. I hope members opposite avail themselves of the
opportunity to join in to show the company that industrial relations in this State and country
have come out of the gutter to become the envy of the rest of the world. Members opposite
should go and talk to employees and not talk just to employers in the United Kingdom and
the United States if they want to know about people not getting the dole, employment or a
fair crack of the whip. Those people look to Australia's arbitration system for inspiration.
The activities of Robe River Iron Associates will take this nation into the gutter, which is a
place we do not want to be. We have a far better deal here than overseas and the company's
activities will not do this State or nation any good.
Question Put and passed.

House adjourned at 11 3S pm
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QUESTIONS ON NOTICE

DUCKS - WILD DUCK POPULATION TRENDS
Conservation and Land Management Department - Wildlife Research Division

Inquiry
167. H-on MURIEL PATTERSON to the Minister for Education representing the

Minister for the Environment:
(1) Has the wildlife research division of the Department of Conservation and

Land Management investigated population trends of wild ducks in Western
Australia during the 20th century?

(2) What population trends of individual species of wild ducks have been
indicated in these studies?

(3) What population trends of total wild ducks have been indicated in these
investigations?

(4) On the basis of these statistics on duck numbers, does the Department of
Conservation and Land Management consider that the wild duck populations
can sustain future shooting seasons, based on sound wildlife management
principles?

(5) Could the wildlife management research division provide Parliament with a
summary of the scientific data principles used in the past to justify declaring
duck shooting seasons?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for the Environment has provided the following response -
(1) There have been no comprehensive figures kept on duck population

trends in Western Australia during the twentieth century.
(2)-(4)

Not applicable.
(5) In the past, annual decisions have been made on die basis of

assessment of wetland conditions during the preceding winter and
spring. The Department of Conservation and Land Management
considers that this is an adequate method for assessing the
sustainability of duck numbers in any one year.

PHYSIOTHERAPISTS - SHORTAGE
626. Hon P.O. PENDAL to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

Health:
(1) Is it correct that there are insufficient numbers of physiotherapists available to

fill vacant positions in Western Australia?
(2) If so, is this shortage a general, ongoing situation or one that relates to certain

times of the year only?
(3) Is it correct that there is a national shortage of physiotherapists?
(4) If such shortages of physiotherapists; exists either at State or national level,

what are die reasons for this situation?
(5) If physiotherapists are in short supply, how does the Government envisage that

this problem will be resolved?
Hon KAY [-ALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -

(1) Yes, there are continuing shortages of physiotherapists in Western
Australia, particularly in the area of disabled and geriatric care, and in
some country regions.
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(2) This is a general, ongoing situation.
(3) Physiotherapists are on the Department of Immigration, Local

Government and Ethnic Affairs - DIILGEA - priority list of
occupations which indicates that there is a recognised national
shortage of these professionals.

(4) The major reasons for this situation include -

significant growth in demand for physiotherapy services due to
increasing communiy acceptance of this profession, new and
extended applications for these services, growing community
involvement in sporting activities, availability of Medicare and
private insurance rebates;
continuing high replacement requirements arising from high
wastage rates due to a high proportion of female staff leaving
work for family reasons, occupational shifts and perhaps
national shortages of these skills.

(5) The attempts at improving the situation include -

In 1989 and 1990 the intake in physiotherapy courses at Curtin
was increased to 90 places per annumn - approximately
20 places more than prior to 1989. These additionally trained
physiotherapists will enter the labour market in 1992.
Physiotherapists have previously been assigned shares under
the Occupational Share System. Migrants entering Australia
are categorised by settler eligibility. One of these categories is
skilled labour, which includes -
(i) the Occupational Shares System;
(ii) the Employer Nomination Scheme.
Occupations which are categorised under the Occupational
Shares System are selected annually by the Department of
Employment, Education and Training to meet short to medium
term labour force needs.
Physiotherapists are still on the priority list of occupations at
DI1LGEA.

PAWNBROKERS ACT - INQUIRY
Amendments

634. Hon GEORGE CASH to Hon John Halden representing the Minister for Consumer
Affairs:
(1) When was the most recent inquiry conducted into the Pawnbrokers Act?
(2) Is it intended to introduce amendments to the Pawnbrokers Act to ensure more

adequate identification of persons pledging property and for effective
cataloguing and descriptions of goods pledged, and where applicable, goods
purchased by pawnbrokers who are also licensed second hand dealers?

(3) If so, when will these amendments be introduced?
Hon JOHN HALDEN replied:

The Minister for Consumer Affairs has provided the following reply -

(1) The Law Reform Commission reviewed the Act and reported in June
1985. It made a number of recommendations which were considered
by Cabinet which approved the repeal of the existing Pawnbrokers Act
and the drafting of a new Pawnbrokers Act.

(2) The Law Reform Commission's report did not favour requiring clients
to produce identification. The proposals for the new Bill on this
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matter are still under consideration. In regard to the effective
cataloguing and descriptions of goods pledged, it is proposed to
require the pawnbroker to record the following information in the
Register of Pawnbroking Contracts -

an accurate description of goods; for example, serial number,
make and model, etc;
a unique labelling or tagging system for each article that would
follow the article through to disposal;
the name and place of residence of the client.

Where a pawnbroker is also a licensed second-hand dealer, he or she is
already required under the Second Hand Dealers Act to keep a book
recording each second-hand article brought in or taken in exchange.
the date of the transaction and the name and address of the person
from whom it was bought or received. The person selling or
exchanging any such article must sign the book entry relating to the
transaction.

(3) Ir is anticipated that the drafting of the new Pawnbrokers Bill will be
completed late in 1991 and will be introduced in the autumn session of
Parliament in 1992.

HOSPITALS - BENTLEY HOSPITAL
Admissions

635. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for
Health:

How many admissions for each of the financial years1 1987-88, 1988-89,
1989-90 and 1990-91 required patients to remain in Bentley Hospital for -
(a) less than 24 hours;
(b) up to 72 hours; and
(c) more than 72 hours?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -

Bentley Hospital records admission information as follows -

1987-88 1988-89 1989-90 1990-91
Less than 24 hours

(same day patients) Not applicable 891 1 218 1 449
Over 24 hours

(all other admissions) 5 404 4700 4 329 3 398
TOTAL ADMISSIONS 5404 5591 5 547 4847
NOTE:
Same day surgery is being promoted as an alternative to inpatient surgery

involving overnight stay or longer,~
there has been a general decline in medical admissions;
100 fewer patients were referred to the Geriatric Centre during 1990-9 1;
both major theatres were closed for four weeks during 1990-91 - equivalent to
200 admissions;

there has been a steady decline in births.
A break up of deliveries and total operations is as follows -

1987-88 1988-89 1989-90 1990-91
NB Deliveries 858 748 721 701

Operations 3 665 3 986 4 042 3 670*
*Major theatres closed for two months for renovations.

4283



4284 [COUNCIL]

MARINAS - EXMOUTH
Expressions of Interest

659. Hon P.H. LOCKYER to the Minister for Police representing the Minister for
Transport:
(1) How many parties have indicated interest in developing a marina at Exmouth?
(2) When will the Government make an announcement regarding the future of the

marina?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

The Minister for Transport has provided the following response -
(1) Expressions of interest for the development of Exmouth Harbour are

being called nationally and internationally.
(2) This will depend on the extent of work needed to analyse the

expressions of interest, but an announcement will be made as soon as
practicable.

CONSUMER AFFAIRS MINISTRY - CARNARVON
Officer Visits

682. Hon P.H. LOCKYER to Hon John Halden representing the Minister for Consumer
Affairs:
(1) How many officers of the Ministry of Consumer Affairs have visited

Carnarvon in 1991?
(2) Are any travel restrictions being applied to officers of the ministry in their

travel to the north?
(3) If so, what are the rules that apply to their travel?
Hon JOHN HALDEN replied:

The Minister for Consumer Affairs has provided the following reply -

(1) Six.
(2)-(3)

Travel arrangements have to be made on a cost effective basis with
consideration given to the number and significance of the issues
involved in a particular location.

ROAD TRAFFIC ACT - AMENDMENTS
Moped and Power Assisted Bicycle Differentiation

689. Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON to the Minister for Police:
With reference to the answer given to a question from Hon George Cash on
I May 1991 when the Minister advised that the Government intended to
amend the Road Traffic Act to differentiate between a power assisted pedal
cycle (a moped) and a power assisted bicycle, will the Minister now advise -
(a) whether the amendments have been drafted; and
(b) when they will be introduced into Parliament?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(a)-(b)

Cabinet has approved legislative changes to allow for power assisted pedal
cycles, and appropriate legislation will be drafted. The legislation will be
introduced to Parliament for debate at the earliest possible moment.

POLICE - IN-SERVICE TRAINING STATISTICS
694. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:

What percentage of the Police Force, exclusive of recruits, completed in-
service training in 1989-90 and 1991 to date?
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Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
As some members of the force can and do become involved in more than one
area of in-service training, it is not possible to give a precise percentage for
the whole force. Academy based in-service training was completed by
55.72 per cent in 1989-90 and 51.56 per cent in 1990-9 1.
A special project dealing with custodial care resulted in 55.32 per cent of the
force receiving such training in 1989-90. These figures do not include
weapons training or life support refresher training, nor do they include more
specialised training conducted by branches.

SCHOOLS - AUDITS
Annual to Biannual Audit Change

696. Hon BARRY HOUSE to the Minister for Education:
In view of the Government's professed commitment to accountability; why
have the school auditing requirements in Western Australia been changed
from ant annual audit to a biannual audit?

Hon KAY H-ALLAI-AN replied:
In 1990 the ministry operated 761 schools of various classifications. Each
receives and expends public funds. Until 1990 annual audits were required
for each school in order that the Auditor General could state that the
ministry's overall financial statements, of which they form part, were fair and
reasonable. Auditing all schools every year has limited the scope of audits to
financial compliance; chat is, assessing the extent to which there has been
compliance with the rules for handling public funds.
Whilst an important task, it was identified that principals needed additional
support through value for money audits which assess both compliance with
rules and effectiveness and efficiency. To expand the audit scope in this way
required the change to biennial auditing. It will be complemented by
improved internal checking and verification services which are being
developed to support principals with school accounts, particularly in
unaudited years. The Auditor General's office concurs with this arrangement.

STATUTORY CORPORATIONS (DIRECTORS' LIABILIT-Y) BILL - REVIEW
698. Hon PEThR FOSS to the Attorney General:

(1) What stage has the Government reached in its review of implementing on a
general basis the provisions of the Statutory Corporations (Directors'
Liability) Bill?

(2) Will the Minister fallow this matter up in view of the written undertaking to
carry out the review which undertaking remains outstanding?

Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:
(1)-(2)

Treasury has not yet finalised its submission to Government. It is giving
consideration to the principles which were advanced within the Statutory
Corporations (Directors Liability) Bill being applied across the whole of the
public sector rather than being limiting in their application to statutory
corporations.
This is requiring an examination of the interaction of various aspects of
existing legislation, including the Criminal Code and corporations law
provisions, together with consideration of the most appropriate mechanism for
initiating action to recover losses.
Government will progress this matter on receipt of the Treasury submission.
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PORT KENNEDY PROJECT - WESTERN AUSTRALIAN DEVELOPMENT
CORPORATION

Fleuris Pry Ltd
706. Hon P.C. PENDAL to the Attorney General representing the Minister assisting the

Treasurer:
(1) Has the Government sold the Western Australian Development Corporation's

share of the Port Kennedy Regional Recreation Development?
(2) If so, who is the purchaser and what was the price paid?
(3) Why was not this development offered for sale by public tender?
(4) Has the WADC's share of the Port Kennedy development been offered to any

other Government department?
(5) Did the Government seek a valuation of lot 605 before purchasing it?
(6) If so, what was it?
(7) Was the Government aware of the arrangements with the Roman Catholic

Church when it purchased lot 605?
(8) If so, why was the caveat not lodged until February 1990?
(9) Has the Government had lot 605 revalued before offering the WADC's share

for sale?
(10) If so, what is its current value?
(11) Will the Minister explain the role of Sandboumne Holdings and the Roman

Catholic Church in relation to Fleuris Pty Ltd and the Port Kennedy
development?

(12) Is the Minister aware at local concern about a possible foreign takeover of this
project?

(13) Does the Government propose to take any action to prevent this from
occurring?

(14) In relation to the answer given to Legislative Assembly question 63 of
20 March 1991, what are the pre-emption provisions of the Port Kennedy Joint
Venture Agreement?

(15) Has the Government now decided how much land it intends to grant to Port
Kennedy Management Ltd?

(16) If so, how much and what is the estimated value of the land?
(17) Is the Minister aware of an article in the Weekend Courier of 27 April 1991 in

which a director of Fleuris, Mr Gary Sheehan, is quoted as saying, "We have
the WADC tied up in a knot. We will definitely be buying the WADC
shares... Everybody knows there is no money in Australia so we had to go
overseas"?

(18) Can the Minister explain how the WADC is tied up by Fleuris and whether
overseas finance is being used to finance this project?

(19) To what extent do overseas interests now control Fleuris and the Port Kennedy
development?

Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:
The Minister assisting the Treasurer has provided the following reply -

(1) Yes.
(2) The purchaser is Fleuris Pty Ltd and the consideration is $500 000, to

be paid pursuant to the proposed development agreement between the
proponent and the State. This agreement also contains further benefit
in favour of the State, being a percentage of the development costs of
the project. Both payments are subject to ratification of the
development agreement by Parliament.
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(3) The WADC's interest in the joint venture was not offered for sale by
public tender since this was not permitted by the pre-emption
provision of the joint venture agreement.

(4) No. See reply to (2) above.
(5) No.
(6) Not applicable.
(7) Yes.
(8) This question should properly be directed to the Catholic Church.
(9) Yes.
(10) Jones Lang Wootton valued Lot 605 at $2.4 million. The Valuer

General valued it at $2.2 million.
(11) Fleuris and WADC were joint purchasers of Lot 605 from the Catholic

Church, and jointly assumed the obligation to provide 12 hectares of
serviced land to the Catholic Church as part of the consideration for
the purchase. Sandbourne Holdings helped Fleuris to finance the
purchase of Lot 605. We understand that half of Fleuris's half share in
the land was held in trust for Sandboumne Holdings. Lot 605 is not
connected to the Port Kennedy Recreation development site.

(12) Yes.
(13) Yes. The proposed development agreement between the proponent

and the State will restrict any change in ownership of Port Kennedy
Management to five per cent or less of the issued units unless
ministerial approval is given.

(14) Under the joint venture agreement, neither party was permitted to
assign its interest in the joint venture without the consent of the other.
In the event of an impasse, a party wishing. to dispose of its interest
under the joint venture to a third party was permitted to do so if it had
first offered such interest to the other joint venture party and that party
had not accepted such offer within 21 days of the offer being made.

(15) Yes. This is covered by the terms of the proposed development
agreement which is subject to ratification by Parliament.

(16) Subject to the ratification of the development agreement by
Parliament, the Government will progressively grant 25 hectares of
land to the company during the development of the project. The early
1990 estimated value of this land was $1 million.

(17) Yes.
(18) In that the pre-emption provisions of the joint venture agreement

required WADC to offer its interest to Fleuris before going out to the
market. Since the development agreement has not yet been ratified by
Parliament, the question of finance is premature.

(19) Overseas interests have no control over the Port Kennedy
development. Fleuris is a local company. See also reply to question
( 13) above.

EDUCATION MINISTRY - WOODLIJPINE PRIMARY SCHOOL AREA
Primary School Projections

710. Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON to the Minister for Education:
(1) Has the Ministry of Education projected annual population growth over the

next five years in the catchment area of Woodlupine Primary School?
(2) If so, what is the anticipated annual population growth?
(3) Is another school planned in the immediate vicinity to relieve the pressure of

numbers at Woodlupine Primary School?

036- (4) If yes to (3), when is it expected the new school will be built?
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Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1) Primary school projections are made far three years ahead. These have been

completed for both Woodlupine Early Childhood Education Centre arid
Woodlupine Primary School, which share the same site.

(2) 1992 - minus 10
1993 -nil
1994 - minus three.

(3)-(4)
A school site has been earmarked to the north of Berkshire Road. This will
cater essentially for proposed residential subdivisions in that area, but will
also provide some relief for the Woodlupine schools. No services are yet
available to the site, and no timing has been allocated for the construction of
this school.

ROADS - PORT HIEDLAND-PUNMU ROAD
Windmills Instrallation

712. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for
Aboriginal Affairs:

Following the deaths of a number of Aboriginal people on the road from Port
Hedland to Punmu, a decision was made io install windmills alongside this
road -

(1) Which Government (State Or Federal) made this commitment?
(2) Was the funding for the windmills given to any other organisation to

carry out the works?
(3) If so, what was the organisation?
(4) Have the windmills been installed?
(5) If not, why not?

(6) What was the total cost of providing the windmills?
Hon KAY HALLAH-AN replied:

The Minister for Aboriginal Affairs has provided the following reply -

(0)-6
No commitment was made to install windmills alongside the Punmu
access moad. The Water Authority of Western Australia was
contracted to test existing bores arid prepare a report including
costings to equip these bores. This report has now been completed and
is under consideration by the Aboriginal and Tonres Strait Islander
Commission.

ABORIGINAL SACRED SITES - OFFICIAL DEFINITION
713. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Minister far Education representing the Minister for

Aboriginal Affairs:
(1) Is there an official definition of what is an Aboriginal sacred site?
(2) If so, what is it?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for Aboriginal Affairs has provided the following reply -

(1) There is no definition of the word "sacred" in the Aboriginal Heritage
Act, although the Act applies under section 5 to any sacred, ritual or
ceremonial site of special importance and significance to persons of
Aboriginal descent. Despite the public tendency to refer to all sites as
sacred, the adjective is usually applicable only to sires with religious
associations.

(2) Not applicable.
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WESTERN DESERT LAM) COUNCIL - LEGAL STATUS
714. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

Aboriginal Affairs:
(1) Is there such an organisation as the Western Desert Land Council?
(2) If yes, what is its legal status?
(3) Who are the office bearers of the land council?
(4) Does the land council have a registered office?
(5) If yes, where is it located?
(6) Which Aboriginal communities are represented by the Western Desert Land

Council?
(7) Does the Western Desert Land Council receive any State Government

funding?
(8) If yes, how much and for what purposes?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for Aboriginal Affairs has provided the following reply -
(1) There is an organisation known as the Western Desert

Puntukurnuparna Aboriginal Corporation, which I believe the member
is referring to as the Western Desert Land Council.

(2) It is incorporated under the Commonwealth Aboriginal Councils and
Associations Act 1976.

(3)-(5)
This information is available from the Commonwealth Register of
Aboriginal Corporations.

(6) The corporation represents Aboriginal people resident in the Great and
Little Sandy Deserts, including communities at Punmu, ParngurT and
Jigalong.

(7)-(8)
The corporation does not receive any recurrent funding from the State
Government. It has received only specific purpose grants from State
Government departments from time to time.
SCHOOLS - PHOTOCOPY PAPER, BRAZIL

717. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Minister for Education:
(1) Is the Minister aware that photocopy paper made in Brazil is being used in

Government schools?
(2) Is the paper imported from Brazil cheaper than locally produced paper?
(3) If yes, by how much is it cheaper?
(4) Are the environmental practices of other countries (eg: the destruction of the

Brazilian rainforest) taken into account by the Ministry of Education when it
purchases goods from overseas?

Hion KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1) Government schools can purchase photocopy paper from either the State

Distribution Centre - Department of State Services, State Supply Division - or
other photocopy paper suppliers such as the local stationer. Paper stocked at
the State Distribution Centre is procured by State Print, and is Australian
made.

(2) Unknown.
(3) Not applicable.
(4) The Ministry of Education procures its goods from Australian suppliers.
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These suppliers must conform to normal Government purchasing policies on
issues such as the National Preference Agreement and the reduction of use of
chlorofluorocarbons - CFCs.

TEACHERS - REMOTE SCHOOLS
Bonuses

718. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Minister for Education:
(1) What bonuses Or additional allowances are paid to teachers who teach in

remote area schools?
(2) Are bonuses paid to teachers to encourage them to remain in remote area

schools?
(3) If yes, how much?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1) Locality allowance;

personal effects depreciation allowance;
air-conditioning subsidy;
annual free passes to the coast and to a main centre;
a band 2 allowance for teachers in schools with 85 per cent Aboriginal student

population - $1 116 per annum;
a band 2 remote country incentives allowance -$1 116 per annum;
provision of three days professional development at an appropriate centre,

during work time, with travel and accommodation provided;
a housing subsidy - up to 42 per cent.

(2) Yes.
(3) Cash bonus based on a percentage of the locality allowance for teachers who

remain in the locality for three to six years.
SCHOOLS - EAST NEWMAN SCHOOL PROPOSAL

719. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Minister for Education:
(1) Is it proposed to build a new school at East Newman?
(2) If so, why?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1) No, unless a new residential precinct is developed.
(2) Not applicable.

GENERAL PRACTITIONERS - NEWMAN
Shortage

721. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for
Health:
(1) Is the Minister aware that it is often necessary to wait for up to a week to gain

a doctor's appointment in Newman?
(2) If so, what steps are being taken to alleviate the problem?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -

(1) 1 am aware that residents of Newman are currently having to wait for
several days to get an appointment to see a OP. I am informed that
residents would not usually have to wait for a week.

(2) fle Health Department of Western Australia has consistently held the
view that Newman requires three full-time general practitioners to
provide an adequate medical service to the residents of Newman. An
agreement was reached some months ago between the Health
Department of WA, the Shire of East Pilbara and BH-P to make
arrangements for the recruitment of a third doctor for Newman. In this
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context the Health Department undertook to provide surgery space in
the Newman Medical Centre; BHP would provide housing, and the
shire would advertise and recruit. I understand that the Shire of East
Pilbara has advertised once, unsuccessfully, some months ago, but has
not readvertised since. However, I also understand that at their most
recent meeting on 30 August 1991, council decided to readvertise.
In the meantime the Health Department of WA has agreed to allow
one of its community medical officers in Newman to exercise her right
to limited private practice by conducting private clinics in the
Newman Medical Centre on Saturday mornings until a third doctor is
appointed by the shine.

AIR SERVICES - PORT H-EDLAND, MARBLE BAR, &ULLAGINE. TELFER
Marble Bar, Nulla gine Road Transport System Improvements

722. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Minister for Police representing the Minister for
Transport:
(1) What is the current situation regarding the Port Hedland, Marble Bar,

Nullagine, Telfer air service?
(2) Is it proposed to improve the road transport system in the Marble

Bar/ullagine area?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

The Minister for Transport has provided the following response -
(1) The Department of Transport has obtained a commitment from

Skywest to continue operating the air service between Port Hedland,
Marble Bar and Telfer until the future transpont requirements are
determined. Nullagine ceased to be serviced from 8 May 1991
following consultation with the local community. The department has
examined the transport options and identified available road and air
operators, and met with representatives of the Marble Bar comminunity
on Thursday, 5 September to establish community preference for the
type of passenger transport service.

(2) It is not clear whether the question relates to the transport system itself
or the condition of roads in the area. If the honourable member were
to clarify the matter I would be happy to look into the situation for
him.

LATITIMER, EDWARD WILLIAM - GRAYLANDS HOSPITAL ADMISSION
723. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

Health:
(1) Can the Minister advise when Edward William Lattimer was admitted to

Graylands Hospital?
(2) Who committed Mr Lattimer to this institution?
(3) On what grounds was he admitted to Graylands Hospital?
(4) Was he committed to the maximum security unit of the institution?
(5) Was his family notified of his admittance to Graylands Hospital?
(6) If not, why not?
(7) When did Mr Lattimer see a medical practitioner after his admission?
(8) How long is it intended to keep Mr Lattimer at Graylands Hospital?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -

With due respect to the honourable member's question, for reasons of patient
confidentiality I am not able to respond to his question.
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RIVERBANK - SECURITY UPGRADE ALLO)CATION
724. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

Community Services:
(1) Was an amount of approximately $130 000 allocated to Riverbank Detention

Centre during the past two years to be used for upgrading the security at
Riverbank?

(2) Is it correct that only approximately $7 000 of this allocation was spent with
the balance being carried over or listed as an unexpected allocation?

(3) Since the assault on two group workers at Riverbank Detention Centre in May
of this year, has Riverbank applied to the department for a grant of $250 000
to upgrade security at the Riverbank Detention Centre?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for Community Services has provided the following reply -

(1) Approximately $350 000 has been allocated over the past two years
for upgrade and construction works at Riverbank.

(2) All funding appropriated has either been acquitted or committed.
(3) A package of security related works amounting to $275 000 has been

proposed across the four secure detention centres.

RAILWAYS - NORTHERN SUBURBS TRANSIT SYSTEM
Roe Street Tunnel - Joondalup Earthworks

728. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police representing the Minister for
Transport:

With reference to the construction of the northern suburbs rail system -

(1) When is construction of the Roe Street tunnel due to be completed?
(2) Is construction of the tunnel on schedule?
(3) What will be the total cast of constructing the tunnel?
(4) When are the earthworks at Joondalup due to be completed?
(5) Is progress on the earthworks on schedule?
(6) What will be the total cost of these earthworks?
(7) How long will traffic diversions in Joondalup Drive be in operation

because of the earthworks?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

The Minister for Transport has provided the following response -

(1) January 1992.
(2) Slightly behind schedule, with lost time expected to be recovered in

the current contract.
(3) $6.95 million.
(4) Bulk earthworks between Ocean Reef Road and Bums Beach Road

will be completed by October 1991. Fonnation topping is due for
completion by April 1992.

(5) Yes.
(6) $2.5 million.
(7) The Joondalup Drive deviations are in place for bridge construction.

This work is scheduled to be completed near Shenton Avenue in April
1992 and near Hodges Drive in May 1992.
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RAILWAYS - NORTHERN SUBURBS TRANSIT SYSTEM
Road Bridge, Joondalup Drive-Sheneon Avenue

729. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police representing the Minister for
Transport:

With reference to the Minister's answer to question on notice 1141 of 1990 -
(I) Has the cost of providing a road bridge for the northern suburbs rail

system at the intersection of Joondalup Drive and Shencon Avenue now
been calculated?

(2) If so, what is the cost?
(3) Has a construction staging plan now been developed?
(4) If so, what traffic diversions will this require?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
The Minister for Transport has provided the following response -

(I) Yes.
(2) There will be separate bridges for Joondalup Drive and Shenton

Avenue, and the total estimated cost is $2.4 million.
(3) Yes.
(4) The traffic deviations are in place. Traffic is deviated into the

Joondalup Business Park from Joondalup Drive at the business park
entrance. Temporary roads have been installed across lots 76 and 80
for access from Winton Avenue to Shenton Avenue.

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - LANDFILL SITES REVIEW
730. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

Health:
With reference to an article about the Mirrabooka landfill site, 'EPA calls for
tip to be closed", which appeared in the Eastern Suburbs Reporter" on
12 March 1991 -

(1) Will the Minister indicate if his department has completed its review of
landfill tip sites in the metropolitan area?

(2) If such review has been completed, what recommendations are
contained in that review?

(3) If not completed, will the Minister indicate when the report of his
department on metropolitan landfill sites will be available?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -

(1) The landfill management review is nearing completion with a final
meeting of the working party scheduled later this month.

(2) Not applicable.
(3) Individual reports will be provided to each landfill operator. Criteria

for the standards of management and operation of landfills in the
future will be published at the same time or soon after the individual
reports are prepared.

WASTE DISPOSAL - LANDFILL GAS
Tip Site Tests

731, Hon GEORGE CASH to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Fuel
and Energy:
(1) In view of the finding of landfill gas (LEG) at the Badgerup tip site in
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Wangara, will the Minister indicate if LFG has been found at any of the other
six metropolitan tip sites included in the tests for gas?

(2) If so, at which tip sires has it been found?
Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:

The Minister for Fuel and Energy has provided the following reply -

(1) The landfill gas resource assessment team has installed test bores at
Brockway tip, Mt Claremont and Hertha Road tip, Innaloc. The
investigations will determine gas quantities at each site. SEC WA
cannot be certain which rips contain commercial quantities of gas until
all rest bores have been installed and pump rested. The resource
assessment report should be completed by about May 1992.

(2) Not applicable.
SCHOOLS - DISABLED STUDENTS

Therapy Services Responsiblity
732. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

Health:
(1) Is the Minister's department responsible for providing therapy services for

disabled students in education support schools such as Carson Street School?
(2) If not, which authority is responsible for providing these services?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -

(I) Yes.
(2) Nor applicable.

HILLSTON - CLOSURE
733. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

Community Services:
(1) In what year did Hillston, the custody centre for juveniles, close?
(2) What were the reasons for its closure?
(3) Did it operate as a farm, with res idents/in mates carrying out farm tasks on a

daily basis?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1) September 1983.
(2) To allow for change to community based programs as recommended by the

Edwards report commissioned in 1982 by the then State Government.
(3) Limited farming activities were carried out.

HOSPITALS - BUNBURY REGIONAL HOSPITAL
Demolition

735. Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY to the Minister for Education representing the
Minister for Health:
(1) Has the Government decided to demolish the existing Bunbury Regional

Hospital once the recently announced new facility is operational?
(2) If yes. why, as the building is only 26 years old?
(3) Has the Government sought expressions of interest from alternative users of

the existing hospital building?
(4) If not, why not?
(5) What is the estimated cost of the new Bunbury Regional Hospital?
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(6) Has the Government estimated the cost of refurbishing the current hospital
building for alternative uses?

(7) If yes, what were the estimated refurbishment costs and for what uses?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -

(1) Yes.
(2) Although the building is 26 years old there is serious fabric

deterioration including concrete cancer and a deterioration in
mechanical services.

(3) No.
(4) The structural deficiencies would Still exist for alternative users.
(5) $48.3 million, however other considerations are being examined.
(6) No.
(7) Not applicable.

PUBLIC AND EDUCATION ENDOWMENT TRUST - ANNUAL REPORT
TABLING

737. Hon MAX EVANS to the Minister for Education:
(1) Can the Minister advise why the annual repont of the Public and Education

Endowment Trust for 1989-90 signed by the Auditor General on 10 December
1990 was tabled only on 27 August 1991?

(2) Can the Minister advise whether she attends meetings of the trustees every five
to six weeks, as mentioned in the report?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1) The delay was the result of an administrative oversight.
(2) Yes. Since being appointed as the responsible Minister I have attended all but

one meeting of the trustees.
PUBLIC AND EDUCATION ENDOWMENT TRUST - TRUSTEE APPOINTMENTS

738. Hon MAX EVANS to the Minister for Education:
(1) As the term of appointment of the trustees of the Public and Education

Endowment Trust expired on 24 August 1991, would the Minister advise if
new appointments have been made?

(2) If so, who are those persons?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1)-(2)

The appointment of the trustees for the next term is under consideration, and
an announcement will be made in the near future.

THIRD PARTY INSURANCE - REVENUE AND CLAIM FIGURES
741. Hon P.C. PENDAL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for

Microeconomic. Reform:
(1) Is it correct that motor vehicle insurance claims for comprehensive third party

insurance have outstripped revenue?
(2) Will the Minister give revenue and claim figures for each of the past 10 years?
Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:

The Minister for Microeconomic Reform has provided the following reply -
(1) Yet.
(2) See schedule. [See paper No 665.]
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MOTOR VEHICLES - GOVERNMENT
Commwziry Services Department

743. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for
Community Services:
(1) How many cars are currently provided for use by staff in the Minister's office?
(2) What are the makes and models of these cars?
(3) How many of these cars have -

(a) Government licence places; or
(b) private licence places?

(4) How many of these cars are provided for -
(a) official use only; or
(b) official and personal use?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for Community Services has provided the following reply -

(1) Three.
(2) Holden Nova

Nissan Pulsar
Mitsubishi Magna.

(3) (a) Two
(b) One.

(4) (a) Two
(b) One.

MOTOR VEHICLES - GOVERNMENT
Transport Department

744. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police representing the Minister for
Transport:
(1) How many cars are currently provided for use by staff in the Minister's office?
(2) What are the makes and models of these cars?
(3) How many of these cars have -

(a) Government licence plates;, or
(b) private licence places?

(4) How many of these cars are provided for -
(a) official use only; or
(b) official and personal use?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
The Minister for Transport has provided the following response.-
(1) Seven.
(2) Three Commodore sedans

Two Toyota Corolla sedans
One Ford Falcon sedan
One Ford Fairmnont sedan.

(3) (a) Three
(b) Four.

(4) (a) Three
(b,) Four.
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POLICE - KALGOORLIE POLICE STATION
Manpower Increase

745. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:
(1) When is it intended to increase the number of police officers stationed at

Kalgoorlie?
(2) How many additional police officers will be relocated to Kalgoorlie?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

Allocation of police manpower and resources is a matter for the
Commissioner of Police who in this case advises that he intends to provide
three additional officers from the November 1991 graduation. They will
commence as soon as housing becomes available.

POLICE - WANNEROO POLICE STATION
Manpower - Joondalup Police Station Transfer

746. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:
(1) Will the Minister advise how many police officers are to be transferred from

Wanneroo Police Station to the new Joondalup Police Station when it is
completed?

(2) How many police officers will remain at Wan neroo Police Station?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(l)-(2)

A working party has been established to determine the staffing requirements
for Joondalup Police Station. Consequently these details are not available at
present.

EMPLOYEES - DEFINITION
Amzendment Legislation

747. Hon GEORGE CASH to Hon John Halden representing the Minister for
Productivity and Labour Relations:
(1) Is it intended to introduce legislation to amend the definition of employee?
(2) If so, when will this legislation be introduced?
Hon JOHN HALDEN replied:

The Minister for Productivity and Labour Relations has provided the
following reply -

(1) Yes. The definition will be amended to ensue that police officers are
within the jurisdiction of the Western Australian Industrial Relations
Commission.

(2) At the earliest opportunity.
H-OME DETENTION - INTRODUCTION DATE

748. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Corrective Services:
(1) When was home detention formally introduced in Western Australia?
(2) When was the first person released on home detention?
(3) How many persons to date have been released on home detention?
(4) What is the criteria for a person to be released on home based detention in all

cases?
Hon J.M. RERINSON replied:
(1) 3 April 199 1.
(2) (a) ex prison - 30 April 199 1.

(b) ex court - 22 May 199 1.
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(3) (a)
(b)

(4) (a)

ex prison - 49.
ex court - 37.
Ex prison

To be serving less than 12 months.
To have served one month or one third of the sentence,
whichever is the greater.
Prisoner is not eligible to be released on parole or considered
for parole.
Prisoner is not facing further criminal charges, unless bail has
been pranted.
Prisoner is not serving a sentence only for the non-payment of
fines which can be convented into a work and development
order.
Prisoner is rated minimum security, or likely to be raced
minimum security.
Prisoner is not likely to be deponted or extradited.
Prisoner is not serving sentence for arson, trafficking, sexual or
other physical violence.
Prisoner whose residence is outside the metropolitan area or
Mandurah. This will be extended Statewide in the future.

(b) Ex count
A court may decide to grant home detention as a condition of bail
when -

A community corrections officer's repont has been obtained
and has determined suitability.
The defendant is suitable to be subject to a home detention
condition.
The proposed residence is a suitable place.
Unless a home detention condition is imposed, the defendant
will not be released on bail.

CREDIT UNIONS - CREDIT ACT BREACHES
Exemption Orders

749. Hon GEORGE CASH to H-on John Halden representing the Minister for Consumer
Affairs:
(1) What exemption orders have been issued in either 1989, 1990 or 1991 in

respect of breaches of the Credit Act or non-compliance with the Credit Act by
credit unions?

(2) Did the Minister for Consumer Affairs or officers of the Ministry of Consumer
Affairs acknowledge to any credit unions in Western Australia that if credit
unions in Western Australia were prosecuted for breaches of the Credit Act,
thai loss of credit charges to the credit unions would run into tens of millions
of dollars?

Hon JOHN HALDEN replied:
The Minister for Consumer Affairs has provided the following reply -
(1) Credit (Credit Union - Variation of Annual Percentage Rate) Order -

3.2.89 No 20A of 1989.

Credit (Credit Union - Establishment Fees) Order - 3.2.89 No 20D of
1989.
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Credit (Credit Union - Establishment Fees) Order - 1.9.89 No 20E of
1989.

Credit (Credit Union - Establishment Fees) Order - 6.4.90 No 20E of
1990.

Credit (Credit Union - Establishment Fees) Order - 26.10.90 No 20F
of 1990.

Credit Order (Credit Unions) - 5.7.90 No 64.

Credit (Credit Unions Calculation of Annual Percentage Rate and
Accrued Credit Charge) Order - 28.12.90 No 67 of 1990.

Credit Unions (Notification of Variation of Interest Rates) - 5.3.91
Credit Order No 68.

(2) No. Prosecutions under the Credit Act, if successful, result only in the
imposition of the monetary fines specified in the Act.

PLANNING -METROPOLITAN REGION TOWN PLANNING SCHEME
Minor and Major Amendmnents

750. Hon REG DAVIES to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for
Planning:

To facilitate understanding by the Parliament and members of the public of the
metropolitan regional town planning scheme, will the Minister advise -
(a) the definition of a minor amendment to the scheme;
(b) the definition of a major amendment to the scheme; and
(c) the criteria used when determnining whether an amendment is either

minor or major?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for Planning has provided the following reply -
This question calls for an interpretation of the Statute, and therefore seeks a
legal opinion and is thought to be out of order, However, the development of
a policy statement is under active consideration by the State Planning
Commission which outlines the matters taken into account when deciding
"substantiality" for the purpose of the Act.

SCHOOLS - MANNING PRIMARY SCHOOL
Building Works

75 1. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Minister for Education:
(1) Is it correct that the Minister gave an undertaking to representatives from the

Manning Primary School Parents and Citizens' Association in April this year
that strong consideration would be given to their needed building works being
included in the 1992 education Capital Works Budget?

(2) Subsequent to this undertaking by her, did the Building Management
Authority carry out on-site survey work related to the preparation for the
drawing up of the building plans?

(3) Have the draft plans for the school's building requirements been completed?
(4) If so, when will the school be alerted to the completion of the plans?
(5) If the answer to (3) is no, why have these plans not been completed?
(6) Have these facilities for the school been included in the 1992 education

Capital Works Budget?
(7) If not, does the exclusion relate to the Government's cost-cutting, following

from its general lack of funds?
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Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1) No.
(2) Although no undertaking was given, a site survey has been carried out in

order to facilitate the preparation of a concept plan for the future development
of the school.

(3) A schematic concept plan for future works has been prepared and presented to
the school.

(4)-(5)
The school community was consulted on the concept plan in August and a
revised concept plan is expected to be completed this month.

(6) These facilities ar not included in the 1991-92 Budget.
(7) No.

AGRICULTURE PROTECTION BOARD - EMPLOYMENT STATISTICS

752. Hlon D.J. WORDSWORTH to the Minister for Police representing the Minister for
Agriculture:
(1) What was the number of head office staff of the Agriculture Protection Board

in each of the last ten years?
(2) What was the number of staff in each of the country regions during the last

10 years?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

The Minister for Agriculture has provided the following response.-
(1) The number of head office staff were -

Year ending June 1982 89
1983 84
1984 81
1985 87
1986 86
1987 86
1988 106*
1989 104**
1990 98
1991 94

(2) Staff numbers in individual country regions year by year are not
readily available. Total staff based in the country were -

Year ending June 1982 183
1983 187
1984 197
1985 192
1986 192
1987 188
1988 185*
1989 201**
1990 199
1991 197

* From 1988 numbers include Argentine ant and weed research
staff transferred from the Department of Agriculture.

** From 1989 numbers include staff paid from funds other than
the Consolidated Revenue Fund.
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BICYCLES - ACCIDENTS
Fatalities and Hospitalisation Costs

754. Hon MAX EVANS to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for
Health:
(1) Can the Minister confirm the statistics of the Public Health Association that in

1988 the estimated cost of cyclist fatalities and hospitalisation due to head
injury in Western Australia was $3.1 million?

(2) If so, bow was the calculation made and what is the breakdown of the costs of
$3.1 million?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -

(1) Yes.
(2) 1 am advised that the calculation comprises the sum of the costs

associated with hospitalisation and the costs associated with fatalities.
The hospitalisation costs are calculated by multiplying the avenage
cost per bed day by the total bed days used by cyclists with cranial
injuries. In 1988 the average cost per bed day was $461 and the total
bed days used by cyclists with cranial injuries was 906.5 days. The
estimated cost of hospitalisation of cyclists with aranial injuries was
$416 897.50.
The cost of cyclist fatalities from cranial injuries was calculated by
multiplying the average number of cyclist fatalities from cranial
injuries by the average cost per road fatality as defined by the Bureau
of Transport and Communications Economics. In 1988 the average
cost per road fatality was $479 000 and the average number of deaths
per year in WA of cyclists from cranial injuries is 5.9. The estimated
cost of cyclist fatalities from cranial injuries in 1988 is $2 682 400.

PUBLIC HEALTH ASSOCIATION - MEMBERSHIP QUALiFICATIONS
Government Funding

755. Hon MAX EVANS to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for
Health:

Can the Minister advise the qualifications for membership of the Public Health
Association (WA Branch) and what finance the State Government has
contributed for each of the last three years?

Hon KAY H-ALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -
As the Public Health Association is completely independent of Government
the member should approach the association directly about qualifications for
membership. The State Government has never contributed financially to the
Public Health Association (WA Branch).

WESTRAIL - PERTH-BUNBURY-ALBANY
Monopoly Grant

757. Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY to the Minister for Police representing the
Minister for Tourism:
(1) Is the Minister awart that in January 1991 the State Government granted a

monopoly to Westrail to provide a bus service from Perth to Albany via.
Bunbury?

(2) is the Minister aware that this is causing difficulties for private bus operators
who offer "round Australia" package tickets?

(3) Will the Minister seek the rescission of the monopoly grant, to rnaxirmse the
opportunity for the south west tourist industry in attracting interstate and
overseas tourists?
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(4) If so, when?
(5) If not, why not?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

The Minister for Tourism has provided the following response
(1) Yes.
(2) No. If the honourable member provides details of the difficulties

referred to for private bus operators I will have the Department of
Transport look at them.

I have previously answered a similar question on notice from the
honourable member and indicated that Westrail had been given the
sole operating rights for a 12 month period to January 1992. At that
time the Department of Transport is to review Westrail's operational
and financial performance over the route from Perth to Albany via
Bunbury, and will consider any need to license other operators,
LEGAL AID OFFICE - SOUTH HEDLAND

Closure
758. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Justice:

(1) Is it correct that the legal aid office in South Hedland is to be closed?
(2) If so, why?
(3) If yes to (1), how and where are the people in South Hedland expected to

obtain legal aid in future?
Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:

The Minister for Justice has provided the following reply -

(1) The Legal Aid Commission has conducted a review of its services
across the State with a view to determining areas of greatest need. No
decisions have been made as a result of that review. However the
problem of obtaining qualified staff to work at Hedland office
continues, and other options need to be looked at to improve the
service to the people of the Pilbara.

Not applicable.

QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE

POLICE - TACTICAL RESPONSE GROUP
Collard, Mrs Rhonda; Nannup, Mr Frank

483. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:
I thank the Minister for his earlier statement to the House on the incident
which involved Mrs Rhonda Collard and Mr Frank Nannup in Lord Street,
East Perth on Friday morning. However, I ask the Minister whether the action
taken by the police officers, who included members of the tactical response
group, was appropriate in the circumstances.

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
I suppose I should just refer the member to my statement, but I should also
say that these matters will be part of the formal investigation following the
complaint of the people involved, and certainly I do not want to pre-empt the
findings or recommendations from that investigation. Perhaps the best way to
deal with the question is to refer the Leader of the Opposition to the interim
report, which was received today by the Commissioner of Police, following
which he issued a formal apology to the people involved.

4302 [COUNCIL]



[Tuesday, 10 September 199 1130

As to whether the action was appropriate, 1 certainly do not have any
difficulty with the fact that an investigation was made into an allegation of
people being seen with a weapon. I do not think anyone in the community has
any difficulty with that. What appears to be a matter of concern is the manner
in which the investigation was carried out and the actual lack of concern
immediately after. I congratulate the police for being prepared to extend the
apology. It was issued in good faith and I hope it will be accepted in good
faith.
GREENBURG, MS ROBIN - WESTERN WOMEN STAFF

TAFE Colleges, Year 12 Student Lectures
484. Hon PETER FOSS to the Minister for Education:

Some notice of this question has been given.
(1) Did Robin Greenburg or any Western Women staff give lectures on

financial matters to -

(a) year 12 or other years girl students in Ministry of Education
schools, or

(b) in TAFE?
(2) If so, what measures were taken to check the content of the lectures

either before or after they were given?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

I thank the member for giving some notice of his question, and advise as
follows -

(1) (a) Principals are not required to advise the central office of the
Ministry of Education of visiting speakers invited to address
groups of students on aspects of the school curriculum.
Consequently, it is not possible to say definitely that Robin
flreenburg or any Western Women staff were invited to give
lectures on financial matters to year 12 female students, or
female students in other years, in Government schools.

(b) Robin Greenburg was a guest speaker at an "Introduction to
Financial Planning" non-accredited community adult education
class on 27 July 1987 and 3 August 1987 for a total of four
hours at the Scarborough Technical Education Centre.
Without being given specific names it is not possible to
comment on whether any other employee of Western Women
has ever given lectures in TAFE.

(2) Teachers are required to exercise particular care when inviting visiting
speakers to address groups of students, taking into account the level of
maturity and understanding of students.
All TAFE lecturers operate within a curriculum framework established
beforehand by the Department of TAFE. TAFE guidelines prohibit
any lecturer promoting his or her personal services or the services of
any organisation they represent.

ROONEY LIBRARY - CLOSURE REVERSAL
485. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Minister for Education:

Will the Government reverse its decision to close down the WIJ. Rooney
Library instead of selling it to Edith Cowan University?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
As I understand the situation, the Ministry of Education intends to "transfer"
the Rooney Library collection either through an amalgamation with
Alexander Library or with Edith Cowan University's library. I am advised
that the Ministry is negotiating with both the State Library Board and Edith
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Cowan University with the intention of maintaining public and teacher access
to that educational collection. Members might be aware that the Rooney
Library has strong historical links with Edith Cowan University, not only
because that university is Western Australia's main teacher training
institution, but also through the campus of Claremont Teachers' College. The
university has a significant historical educational collection at that campus.

Hon P.G. Pendal: This is interesting, but I did not ask anything about that.
Hon KAY HALLAHAN: Members may also be interested to know that W.J. Rooney

was the principal of that college from 1903 to 1927.
ROON7EY LIBRARY - COLLECTION PRICE TAG

486. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Minister for Education:
Further to the previous question, what is the price tag of the collection and
who will do the valuation?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
As I just explained to the House - and I thought it was fairly clear, but perhaps
it was not -

Hon P.C. Pendal: I could see you reading from briefing notes, but you were not
answering the question.

Hon KAY HALLAHAN: I indicated that the Ministry of Education is negotiating
with the State Library Board and Edith Cowan University with regard to the
transfer of the Rooney Library collection. I am not aware of any price tag
having been put on that collection. I am not aware if that is at present part of
the negotiations or whether that is offset by maintained teacher and public
access, but if the member would like to put his question on notice I would
have an appropriate response for him.

ROONEY LIBRARY - PUBLIC TENDER
487. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Minister for Education:

Did the Minister or the Cabinet consider putting the Rooney Library
collection out to public tender?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
I have indicated to the House the proposal; that is, that there be a transfer of
the collection to either Edith Cowan University or Alexander Library. Those
negotiations, if they are not under way at present, will soon be undertaken.

EDUCATION MINISTRY - CAMP SCHOOLS
Closures

488. B-on MURRAY MONTGOMERY to the Minister for Education:
In light of the Budget, what are the Ministry of Education's priorities for
camp schools? Will any camp schools be closed during the term of this
Budget, or is any consideration being given to closing any camp schools under
the administration of the ministry?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
There was a proposal last year to close the camp schools. As I understand it -
I did not hold the portfolio at the time - it was decided chat rather than close
those schools, efforts should be made to see whether they could be more
viable operations. A number of economies have been achieved; as a result, at
this stage the camp schools will remain open. However, they must still run
more efficiently than has been the case in the past, arid people within the
camp schools have accepted that notion and have done a good job in response
to it. The matter will be further monitored and I believe the camp schools will
be able to demonstrate economies and remain open. The schools are not
under threat, but they are required to further examine their programs to see
whether they can be more economic in the way they operate.
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SPORT AND RECREATION - SOCCER FEDERATION OF WA
Government Funding

489. Hon BARRY HOUSE to the Minister for Sport and Recrtation:
(I) Has the Ministry of Spont and Recreation made available to (he Soccer

Federation of Western Australia any lines of funding?
(2) If so, what lines of funding have been made available?
(3) What guidelines or conditions have been implemented by the ministry to

enable the Soccer Federation to qualify?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

The Government will certainly provide some financial support to the soccer
administration, which will be initially directed by way of a development plait
I am pleased to indicate that we are now in a position to complete the
development plan, towards which we have been working for some time. I
congratulate the new administration for coming to grips with that task in a
short period of time in an attempt to secure the future of soccer. Of cours,
funding is related to a development plan and in some instances some special
considerations may be necessary for a brief period. However, this must be
strictly related to the capacity of the people involved and the attitude
displayed towards developing the sport. With the advent of the administration
we have seen a change which I hope will secure the future of the game. I do
not have the detail with me but my recollection is that the soccer
administration is seeking about $80 000, 1 assume that that will be approved.

SOCCER - ADMINISTRATION
Government Funding

490. Hon BARRY HOUSE to the Minister for Sport and Recreation:
Supplementary to my previous question, I refer the Minister to a public
statement he made to the effect that soccer will not receive any Government
funding unless it is unified and speaks with one voice through a single
representative body. In a letter dated 13 May 1991 to Hon Sam Piantadosi the
Minister offered a dollar for dollar subsidy and salary assistance of up to
$80 000 for the administration of the game. I ask the Minister -

(1) Is he aware that the administration of soccer in Western Australia is
still divided?

(2) If so, has he provided a line of funding to the soccer administration
contrary to his previously stated position?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1)-(2)

The responsible administration of soccer now speaks with one voice.
However, if I were prepared to listen to people such as the honourable
member who seems to be aligning himself with the previous administration -

Hon Barry House: I am seeking information.
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS: The member stands in this House with a letter in his

hand and purports to be seeking information which he already has! If the
member wants to be dinkumn about these things, he should adopt a dinkum
attitude. If the member does not do that he will fall flat on his face just as the
previous administration has done; and that was to the detriment of the sport.

Several members interjected.
The PRESIDENT: Order! I ask the Minister to come to order, otherwise I will not

let him answer the question.
Hon Barry House: He has not answered the question.
The PRESIDENT: Order! The rules for questions without notice state that members
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should be precise with their questions, and Ministers should be precise with
their answers. Whether members like the question or the answer is beside the
point. It is certainly not a time when members can have a cross Chamber
slanging match. H-onourable members should bear that in mind so that
question time is a little more profitable for all.

ROONEY LIBRARY - SALE
491. Hon P.C. PENDAL to the Minister for Education:

Did the Minister know prior to the announcement of the Budget of the
decision to sell the W.J. Rooney Library?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
The transfer of the W.J. Rooney Library, as I have indicated, is being
negotiated and this is being undertaken by the ministry.

Hon P.C. Pendal: So you did not know?
Hion Kay Hallahan: That is not the case.
The PRESIDENT: Order! When the Minister sits down she has finished answering

the question.
EDUCATION MINISTRY - WESTERN AUSTRALIAN COUNCIL OF STATE

SCHOOL ORGANISATIONS
Full Time Posts Removal

492. Hon CHERYL DAVENPORT to the Minister for Education:
Will the Minister advise on reports that the Ministry of Education will remove
full time Western Austraian Council of State School Organisations' officers
from the ministry's FTEs list?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
I thank the member for some notice of this question regarding a matter which
has been the subject of quite misleading reports in the media. The Ministry of
Education suggested to Mr Hugh Rogers, the executive officer of WACSSO,
that perhaps it would be advantageous to WASSCO if Government support
was in the form of an annual grant to cover both salary and non-salary costs,
as opposed to the present arrangement of a grant for non-salary costs and the
ministry paying for three full time WACSSO officers. That proposal is in line
with the arrangement which WACSSO-type organisations have with
ministries in other States.
This proposal was put to WACSSO on the basis of asking, 'Is this something
you would Like to consider? There may be benefits to your organisation in
going down that path." WACSSO agreed to consider that proposal for a
period of two weeks and to then advise the ministry of the preferred
arrangement. The reports which have appeared in the media attributed to
Mr Hugh Rogers are quite beyond my comprehension and are very
disappointing indeed. The ministry has been waiting, certainly until today, on
a response from Mr Rogers and his organisation. I cannot understand why he
felt the need to comment publicly in the way he has, which does not represent
the situation fairly or accurately. The arrangements are certainly not designed
in any way to disadvantage WACSSO. The proposal might provide some
flexibility through providing a grant to cover salary and non-salary costs, as is
the case in other States. Further negotiations will take place on that matter
between the WA Council of State School Organisations and the chief
executive officer of the Ministry of Education.

ROONEY LIBRARY - SALE
493. Hon P.O. PENDAL to the Minister for Education:

(1) Has the Minister reprimanded any Ministry of Education officer for not telling
her prior to the Budget that she was giving her approval for the sale of the
W.J. Rooney Library?
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(2) Does the Minister acknowledge that the sale of the Rooney Library, which is
regarded as one of the finest of its kind in Australia, will severely
disadvantage central and district offices as well as teachers?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

1 reiterate that negotiations are taking place about the transfer of the Rooney
Library to either the Alexander Library or the Edith Cowan University. No
discussion has taken place about the sale of the Rooney Library. The member
is being insistent and seemingly intransigent about the matter. I have received
several letters and I presume he has received duplicates of those.

Hon P.O. Pendal: I have received original letters.
Hon KAY HALLAHAN: If they are personally addressed to him, I am sure the text

is similar. Politicising the matter is not very useful in this case. There is no
question about the collection not being available to teachers and to the public.
I will respond to the people who have written to me about their concern for
the Rooney Library. I assume people have become aware of the negotiations
and consequently become anxious. I am unsure of what other reason could
have triggered the correspondence we have received. People need not be
concerned about the availability of the collection. It will be negotiated in the
transfer.

ROONEY LIBRARY - COLLECTION MAINTENANCE
494. Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON to the Minister for Education:

(1) Is the Minister aware that the Rooney Library contains current academic and
professional journals?

(2) When the transfer is made to either the Edith Cowan University or the
Alexander Library, will a special allocation be given to the recipient
institution to maintain that current collection?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

All the necessary arrangements for the maintenance of that collection will be
made in the negotiations for the transfer of that collection. If members have
particular concerns about the Rooney Library I would be happy to discuss
them. I understand the transfer will be made in a manner which will ensure
the maintenance and availability of that collection to not only teachers but
also other people who want access to the material. I suspect there is a certain
amount of sentimentality attached to the library, but I stress there is no threat
to the collection or its availability.

TOW TRUCK INDUSTRY - INQUIRY
495. Hon FRED McKENZIE to the Minister for Police:

Recently an inquiry was made into the tow trucking industry. I understand a
report has been made to the Minister for Police. Will he advise of the
outcome?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
I thank the member for some notice of the question. As a result of a coronial
inquiry into the deaths of two tow truck drivers and the subsequent
recommendations by the Coroner to engage in a wide in-depth inquiry into all
aspects of the industry, my office instructed that an interdepartmental
committee be established and report to the Minister for Police on completion.
Representatives from the Minister for Transport, the Police Force, and the
police traffic branch, who were the key members of the committee, met
several times with representatives of the industry in general, analysed public
submissions received on the matter and concluded by finding the following
recommendations which are part of the proposed legislation: The creation of
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a special category of driver's licence for those tow truck drivers permitted to
mtend accident scenes; the issue of special number plates to those drivers; and
a requirement that a certificate of competency be obtained from an approved
training centre before application could be made for a special licence. The
effectiveness of the changes would be monitored by an advisory council. It
would include representatives from the police traffic branch, the Department
of Transpon, the Insurance Council of Western Australia and the towing
industry.
I believe these changes are a positive attempt to improve the tow truck
industry. Above all, they will provide a safer and better surface for road
users, particularly those unfortunate enough to be involved in a traffic
accident. In conclusion, I thank Mr Bill Fanderlinden, the chairman of the
committee, and his committee members for their very thorough work. I also
thank the industry itself for its support and patience while the report was
being concluded and the recommendations considered.

SCHOOLS - YEARS I11 AND ]2 PROGRAM
Funding

496. Hon BARRY HOUSE to the Minister for Education:
(1) With reference to the ministerial statement regarding schooling in years I11

and 12 made earlier today, can the Minister assure the Parliament that
adequate funding and resources will be supplied to fully implement the
proposals?

(2) If so, how much is required for and what is the timetable for the
implementation of the proposals?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

Yes, sufficient resources will be made available. As I said in the statement,
the goal is for 95 per cent of 17 year olds to achieve year 12 education by the
year 2001.

CRIME - ALBANY DISTRICT STATISTICS
497. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:

For the period 30 June 1990 to 1 July 1991, what is the total number of
offences reported in the Albany district in the following categories -

(a) breaking and entering;
(b) robbery;
(c) serious assault;
(d) stealing;, and
(e) drugs?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(a) 966;
(b) four,
(c) 49;
(d) 1 502;
(e) 290.

CRIME - KALGOORLIE POLICE DISTRICT
498. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:

For the period 30 June 1990 to 1 July 1991 what is the total number of
offences reported in the Kalgoorlie district in the following categories -
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(a) sexual assault;
(b) breaking and entering;
(c) robbery;
(d) serious assault;
(e) stealing; and
(f) drugs?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(a) 49;
(b) 1 827;
(c) 13;
(d) 172;
(e) 2 681;
(f) 904.

BARKER, COLIN AND KERIST - MINISTER FOR EDUCATION
Claim Settlement

499. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education:
(1) Is the Minister aware of the claims by Colin David Barker and Kerist Jasmine

Barker against the Minister for Education?
(2) Was the claim for $90 000 agreed to by both parties?
(3) When was this claim agreed to?
(4) Will the Minister advise when this claim will be settled?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1)-(2)

Yes.
(3) 29 July 1991.
(4) The claim has been settled. It is intended that payment will be made within

the next week.

4309


